
Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force Meeting 
Wednesday, May 30, 2012 

Miami-Dade County Miami Art Museum  
101 West Flagler Street 

9:00 a.m. 
 

• Chairman’s Items 
 

• County Attorney’s Reports 
o Recommended Technical Amendments to Charter 
 

• CRTF Issues of Study  
o Salaries / Outside Employment  

o Requested draft language – Commission Salary Increase 
Proposal 

o Requested draft language – Prohibition on Conflicting Outside 
Employment Proposal  

o Incorporation / Annexation 
o Governance of Jackson Memorial Hospital  

o Follow Up by County Attorney 
 Sovereign Immunity 
 ½ Penny Surtax 
 Sunshine Law 

o Requested Information  
 2010 Grand Jury Report   
 2011 Hospital Governance Task Force Report 

o Information provided by SEIU 1991 
 Response to 2010 Grand Jury Report 

o Petition Process 
o Mayoral Vacancy  

o Mayor  
o Chairman of the Board  
o Clerk of the Courts  

o Office of the Inspector General  
o Commission on Ethics and Public Trust 
o Mayoral Veto / Collective Bargaining Impasse Disputes 

o GSAF letter 
o PBA letter 

o Office of Intergovernmental Affairs  
 

• Other Business  
o Feedback received via the website and email  



 
 

County Attorney’s 
Reports 

 



 

TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS - CAO 
 

ARTICLE - 1 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
*  *  * 

 
SECTION 1.05. FORFEITURE OF OFFICE >>OF COUNTY ELECTED AND 
APPOINTED OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES<<. 
 
 

*  *  * 
 
SECTION 1.07. VACANCIES >>IN THE OFFICE OF MAYOR OR COUNTY 
COMMISSIONER<<. 
 
 

*  *  * 
 

ARTICLE - 3 
ELECTIONS 

___________________________________________________ 
 
SECTION 3.01. ELECTION AND COMMENCEMENT OF TERMS OF COUNTY 
 COMMISSIONERS >>AND MAYOR<<. 
 

*  *  * 
 
 

ARTICLE - 5 
ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION  

AND PROCEDURE 
___________________________________________________ 

 
*  *  * 

 
SECTION 5.08. BOARDS. 
 

*  *  * 
 
 C.  Dade County shall retain all its powers, including but not limited to that of 
eminent domain, in relation to the creation of a county-wide water and sewer system[[, for the 
purpose of cooperating with the Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Authority]]. 
 

ARTICLE - 6 
MUNICIPALITIES 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: CRTFIntroduced on: May 17, 2012Action: Approved on May 17, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package 



 

___________________________________________________ 
 

*  *  * 
 
SECTION 6.03. MUNICIPAL CHARTERS. 
 
 A.  Except as provided in Section [[5.04]] >>6.04<<, any municipality in the county 
may adopt, amend, or revoke a charter for its own government or abolish its existence in the 
following manner. Its governing body shall, within 120 days after adopting a resolution or after 
the certification of a petition of ten percent of the qualified electors of the municipality, draft or 
have drafted by a method determined by municipal ordinance a proposed charter amendment, 
revocation, or abolition which shall be submitted to the electors of the municipalities. Unless an 
election occurs not less than 60 nor more than 120 days after the draft is submitted, the proposal 
shall be submitted at a special election within that time. The governing body shall make copies 
of the proposal available to the electors not less than 30 days before the election. Alternative 
proposals may be submitted. Each proposal approved by a majority of the electors voting on such 
proposal shall become effective at the time fixed in the proposal. 

 
*  *  * 

 
SECTION 6.05. CREATION OF NEW MUNICIPALITIES. 
 
 The Board of County Commissioners and only the Board may authorize the creation of 
new municipalities in the unincorporated areas of the county after hearing the recommendations 
of the Planning Advisory Board, after a public hearing, and after an affirmative vote of a 
majority of the electors voting and residing within the proposed boundaries. The Board of 
County Commissioners shall appoint a charter commission, consisting of five electors residing 
within the proposed boundaries, who shall propose a charter to be submitted to the electors in the 
manner provided in Section [[5.03]] >>6.03<<. The new municipality shall have all the powers 
and rights granted to or not withheld from municipalities by this Charter and the Constitution and 
general laws of the State of Florida. Notwithstanding any provision of this Charter to the 
contrary, with regard to any municipality created after September 1, 2000, the pre-agreed 
conditions between the County and the prospective municipality which are included in the 
municipal charter can only be changed if approved by an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of 
the members of the Board of County Commissioners then in office, prior to a vote of qualified 
municipal electors.  
 

*  *  * 
 

ARTICLE - 8 
INITIATIVE, REFERENDUM,  

AND RECALL 
___________________________________________________ 

 
*  *  * 

 



 

SECTION 8.02. RECALL.  
 
 Any member of the Board of County Commissioners, the Mayor, >>or<< the Property 
Appraiser[[, the Sheriff or Constable]] maybe removed from office by the electors of the county, 
district, or municipality by which he was chosen. The procedure on a recall petition shall be 
identical with that for an initiatory or referendary petition, except that: 
 

*  *  * 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Issues of Study  
 



Commission Salary Increase Proposal 

Concept:   

Amend Section 1.06 to provide that, effective with the commencement of the terms of County 
Commissioners in 2016, the County Commission salary will be increased from $6,000 dollars to 
the median income of Miami-Dade County, computed annually. 

Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 

 

ARTICLE-11 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
* * * 

 
Section 1.06. SALARY . 
 
 >>Prior to November 22, 2016, e<<[[E]]ach County 
Commissioner shall receive a salary of $6,000>>, and beginning 
November 22, 2016, each County Commissioner shall receive a 
salary equal to the median income within the County, computed 
annually, per year payable monthly.  >>Each County 
Commissioner<< [[and]] shall be entitled to be reimbursed for 
such reasonable and necessary expenses as may be approved by the 
Board.   

 

                                                            
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: CRTFIntroduced on: May 30, 2012.  No action taken.Action: Approved on June 6, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package 



Prohibition on Conflicting Outside Employment Proposal 

Concept:   

Add Subsection (d) to Section 1.05 to provide that County Commissioners may not take or hold 
office if they are employed by any entity that does business with the County or any entity or 
agency controlled by the County. 

Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 

 

ARTICLE-11 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
* * * 

 
Section 1.05. FORFEITURE OF OFFICE. 
 
 A.  Any member of the Board of County 
Commissioners who ceases to be a qualified voter of the county or 
removes himself from the county or the district from which he was 
elected, or who fails to attend meetings without good cause for a 
period of six months, shall immediately forfeit his office. Any 
Commissioner who ceases to reside in the district which he 
represents shall also immediately forfeit his office. >>Any County 
Commissioner who is employed by, consults for, or has an 
ownership interest in any firm doing business with the County or 
any department, office, agency or instrumentality of the County, 
shall also immediately forfeit his office.<< 

 B.  Any elected or appointed county official who holds 
any other elective office, whether federal, state or municipal, shall 
forfeit his county position, provided that the provisions of this 
subsection shall not apply to any officials presently holding such 
other office during the remainder of the present terms.  

                                                            
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: CRTFIntroduced on: May 30, 2012.  No action taken.Action: On June 6, 2012, CRTF requested changes.  Approved as amended on June 20, 2012.  Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package 



 C.  Any appointed official or employee of Dade County 
who qualifies as a candidate for election to any federal, state or 
municipal office shall immediately take a leave of absence from 
his or her county position until the date of the election and shall, if 
elected, immediately forfeit his or her county position. If the 
candidate is not elected, he or she shall immediately be reinstated 
to his or her former position. 

 
 
  

 



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE

FINAL REPORT
OF THE

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY GRAND JURY

FALL TERM A.D. 2009

*******
State Attorney

KATHERINE FERNANDEZ RUNDLE

Chief Assistant State Attorney
DON L. HORN

Assistant State Attorney
SUSAN LEAH DECHOVITZ

Assistant State Attorney
PAUL H. SILVERMAN

OSVALDO RIVERON JACYNTA R. HOUSE
FOREPERSON CLERK

FILED

August 5, 2010





Circuit Judge Presiding
GISELA CARDONNE ELY

Officers and Members of the Grand Jury

OSVALDO RIVERON
Foreperson

CYNTHIA BLANCK
Vice Foreperson

GUSTAVO GONZALEZ
Treasurer

JACYNTA R. HOUSE
Clerk

BLAS AQUINO BEATRIZ MENA

JUAN BOGARDUS CARLOS OLIVA

MARTA CALLAVA RAUL PARDO

PHILOMENE CARRENARD JESSICA REMOND

ILEANA CASTILLO DULYX TOMSINE

RICARDO GARCIA DEL PRADO GLORIA M. VILLANUEVA

ABNER GONZALEZ NICOLE S. WEINER

STEVEN GONZALEZ REGENIA WRIGHT

ROSA LEYVA

* * * * * * *

Clerk of the Circuit Court
HARVEY RUVIN

* * * * * * *
Administrative Assistant

ROSE ANNE DARE

* * * * * * *
Bailiff

NELIDO GIL, JR.



INDEX
Page

DESIGNED TO FAIL: A REDESIGN TO SUCCEED ................................... 1-33

I. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................. 1

II. THE CURRENT GOVERNANCE SYSTEM ................................................... 3

A. A Change In Relationship ........................................................................... 4

B. Prior Recognition of the Need to Change the System of Governance....... 6

C. The PHT’s Labor Saving Costs Rejected by the BCC............................... 7

D. The PHT’s Proposal for a Change in Governance and a New
Revenue Stream .................................................................................. 9

III. THE CURRENT SYSTEM OF GOVERNANCE MUST CHANGE ............... 11

IV. THE UNHEEDED WARNINGS ...................................................................... 13

A. The Perfect Storm ................................................................................... 13

B. The Warning of the Approaching Financial Storm ................................. 14

C. An Earlier Warning of the Approaching Financial Storm ....................... 16

V. THE FINANCIAL AWAKENING .................................................................. 16

A. JHS’s Funding ........................................................................................... 17
B. JHS’s Financial Records ........................................................................... 20
C. The New Patient Accounting System ...................................................... 23
D. JHS’s Miscalculation of Contractual Adjustments ..... ............................. 23
E. The Warnings Were In the CFO’s Monthly Financial Statements ........... 25
F. More Stringent Eligibility Requirements Needed for PHT Members ....... 26
G. An Immediately Available Golden Opportunity ………………………… 28

VI. THE AUDIT REPORTS .................................................................................... 28

VII. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................. 31

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS ........................................................................................ 34

INDICTMENTS ....................................................................................................... 35-36



1

DESIGNED TO FAIL:
A REDESIGN TO SUCCEED

I. INTRODUCTION

What a colossal mess! Jackson Memorial Hospital (JMH) is our sainted jewel of an

institution that we all rely on (even if we do not go there). For some, Jackson is the hospital that

is there for those who have nowhere else to go. For others, it is the one we rely on when there is

a medical problem that is beyond the ken of the average practitioner. The one we rely on if, God

forbid, we are in an accident or are the victim of some horrific violence. We rely on Jackson.

We need Jackson. Yet, those who had the responsibility of running this institution, as well as

those who had the duty of oversight, have been irresponsible, complacent and reckless, and

blindly relied on financial misstatements.

This Grand Jury investigation was undertaken in the midst of exploding information

about the dire financial state of Jackson Health System (JHS), our public, safety net hospital.1

The initial purpose of our investigation was to determine the root causes of the near-financial

collapse of the institution charged with the critical responsibility of providing high-quality health

care to all. When we began, we had the idea that we were going to find a smoking gun. We

thought we could then expose the problems and offer solutions. We thought that by

investigating, hearing from many of the parties involved and learning from experts, that we could

help our hospital. However, we discovered that the existing problems and many potential

solutions have been known for years. Moreover, during those same years, JHS management, the

Board of County Commissioners (BCC) and the Public Health Trust (PHT) have discussed the

problems and solutions to no avail.

We found that many of the same issues have been the subject of various consultants’

reports costing millions of taxpayer dollars. Again and again consultants reached similar

conclusions and voiced similar warnings. It is said that a sign of insanity is to repeat the same

behavior over and over, expecting a different result. So perhaps our investigation into what is

going on at JHS has revealed the simple insanity of not listening and responding when the

warning bells went off.

1 “Safety net hospital,” refers to a hospital or health system that provides a significant level of care to low-income,
uninsured and vulnerable populations with limited access to health care.



2

It is critical to say at the outset that while we heard many complaints about what is

wrong with the management of Jackson, we have not heard anything negative about the actual

healthcare provided at Jackson. To the contrary, at Jackson anyone can receive world class, top

notch, state of the art healthcare from excellent doctors, nurses and other healthcare practitioners.

However, we are saddened at how reprehensible it would be to lose such a great asset due to a

simple inability to properly manage and oversee the institution.

During our investigation we heard testimony about vast and widespread problems in

many facets of the operation of the Jackson Health System (JHS). They include, among other

things, problems in the areas of billing, reimbursements and implementation of computer

systems. While we recognize the importance of understanding the problems at the hospital, we

felt that the main focus of this report should deal with the future plans for moving toward a

significantly improved operation. The problems listed are presented to give an understanding of

the scope of the “mess.” Understanding the magnitude of the problem is critical to

understanding the recommendations that we make herein. The underlying thought is, with

problems so vast and widespread, simply attacking each problem individually is a worthless

effort. Sweeping change in all areas is what is required.

We recognize that much of this report contains harsh criticism. Our criticism is not in

any way mean-spirited or personal. We sincerely hope it will be taken as intended – as a

message for improvement and eventual survivability of our public hospital.

We feel it is important to admit that we are, frankly, angry and frustrated. We are also a

bit stymied at how the actions of all the different entities involved combined to allow this fiscal

crisis to happen. This is the root of the problem. This healthcare governance system is one that

ostensibly has layers of oversight which include the management for Jackson Health System, the

Public Health Trust (PHT) and the Board of County Commissioners (BCC) and county

administrators. The concept of oversight for this model is that somewhere along the way,

problems are caught and dealt with. For years, that was not done here. How can we protect

ourselves so that our safety net hospital does not find itself yet again on the brink of collapse?

This is the question we seek to answer.

Our findings in a nutshell are as follows:



3

 Jackson Health System Management, despite some valiant efforts, failed to
properly manage JHS;

 The Public Health Trust, the body with the responsibility for the operation,
governance and maintenance of Trust facilities, despite some valiant efforts,
failed to properly oversee JHS;

 The Board of County Commissioners and County Administrators failed to
properly oversee the Public Health Trust.

 While representatives of each of the above entities failed to do their job, the
ultimate culprit here is the governance system itself; and

 The governance system must be changed.

II. THE CURRENT GOVERNANCE SYSTEM

Jackson Memorial Hospital (JMH) and the Jackson Health System (JHS) are run by the

Public Health Trust (PHT), which operates subject to the oversight of the Board of County

Commissioners (BCC). The PHT is defined as a government body comprised of 17 voting

members charged with responsibility for the operation, governance and maintenance of the Trust

facilities that comprise JHS. It is apparent that the BCC has almost complete and absolute

control over the membership of the PHT. In fact, of the 17 voting members of the PHT, 16 are

either appointed by the BCC or are sitting county commissioners.2 There are clear conflicts

between these two entities. On its website, the PHT refers to itself as an independent

government body. However, Miami-Dade County Ordinance Chapter 25A, the actual ordinance

creating and setting out the rules for the PHT, does not recognize it as such. No matter the entity

description, the objective truth is that the BCC retains certain significant controls over the PHT.

In accordance with Chapter 25A of the Miami-Dade Municipal Code, the BCC, among

other powers:

 Has approval rights over the budget presented by the PHT;

 Has approval rights over contracts with labor unions or other organizations representing
employees;

2 The only remaining voting member is a University of Miami trustee. See Miami-Dade Municipal Code, Chapter
25A-3 (a).



4

 Selects and appoints the voting trustees to the PHT from a list of nominees submitted by
the Nominating Council;3

 Has the power to remove a trustee for cause;

 Has approval rights over the bylaws, rules and regulations for the PHT Board’s
governance and for the operation, governance and maintenance of designated facilities;

 Has approval rights over any changes made in the contractual relationship between the
Trust and the University of Miami,4 and

 Has approval rights over any purchase, sale or mortgage on any real property (as the
County owns title to the real property.)

The above listing reveals that the BCC has significant power over the PHT. From our

view, inherent within these powers and controls, is the ability (and responsibility) to step in and

act if the BCC perceives that the PHT is not handling matters effectively or responsively.

Stepping in when necessary is also part of the BCC’s oversight responsibility. The question then

becomes, has the BCC done that and if so, was it done adequately? In several instances we have

determined that the BCC did not act prudently. As detailed later in this report, on several

occasions they failed to act at all. On other occasions they inserted themselves and their will

over that of the PHT, to the detriment of the financial stability of Jackson Memorial Hospital.

The problems and tensions that exist between these two Boards are not new.

A. A Change In Relationship
In February 2002, the then mayor, in connection with a Miami-Dade County sponsored

healthcare initiative, recruited Rand Health, a nationally recognized nonprofit institution

specializing in research and analysis to improve policy and decision making reference healthcare

organizations and financing. Rand Health wrote three detailed reports regarding the delivery of

healthcare by JMH. The second of these reports was published in 2003.5 It contained some

3 The Nominating Council, as described in Miami-Dade Municipal Code, Chapter 25A-3(d), shall be comprised of
the following five (5) voting members: the Chairperson of the Commission committee of jurisdiction for the Public
Health Trust, or a Commissioner of that committee designated by the committee Chairperson; the Chairperson of the
Public Health Trust; the Chairperson of the Board of County Commissioners or a Commissioner designated by the
Chairperson; the Mayor or a Commissioner designated by the Mayor; and the Chairperson of the Miami-Dade
Legislative Delegation or another member of the delegation appointed by Chairperson of the Miami-Dade
Legislative Delegation.
4 The University of Miami Leonard M. Miller School of Medicine utilizes Jackson Memorial Hospital as its primary
teaching hospital.
5 Governance for Whom and for What / Principles to Guide Health Policy in Miami-Dade County, Rand Health,
2003, Catherine A. Jackson, Kathryn Pitkin Derose, Amanda Beatty.



5

historical information about the creation of the PHT and how relationships between the PHT and

the BCC changed over the years.

The following quotation from that report provides some enlightening history:

When the PHT was first created by the Miami-Dade Board of County
Commissioners (BCC) in 1973, there was a transparent reporting mechanism that
provided the county with important oversight into how public funds were spent.
Hospital management submitted detailed billing statements to county management
for all indigent-care patients treated at JMH. While the county often did not
reimburse the hospital fully for the care provided, there was clear accounting for
indigent care provided and the public dollars used to pay for that care.

Funding for the PHT changed in 1991, when the county (voters) passed a special
half-penny surtax to provide funds to support JMH. These funds were earmarked
“for the operation, maintenance and administration of Jackson Memorial Hospital
to improve health care services.” The infusion of funds financially stabilized the
institution, but it broke the clear accountability and reporting mechanism, since the
surtax revenues were treated like a block grant.6 The surtax funds also provided
an opportunity for the BCC to move other health-related programs into the PHT
budget, giving the PHT significant oversight of health care for the entire county.7

While the actual governance of JHS was not changed at the time of the passage of the

half-penny surtax, the reality was a change to the relationship between the BCC and the PHT.

The PHT no longer accounted for itself in the way that it had before. The BCC no longer

required the same detailed reporting. The result was the BCC at that time reduced its role of

oversight. Some might argue it abdicated its accountability. Perhaps that was the inception of

the finger-pointing problems that we see today.

The 2003 report further provided:

Under its current governance structure, the PHT reports to the BCC. But
reviews of BCC and PHT minutes suggest long-standing communication and
reporting problems between the two bodies. Indeed, members of the BCC have
commented that they did not feel the PHT was sufficiently accountable to
them.8

6 A block grant is a large sum of money granted by the county government to an entity with only general provisions
as to the way it is to be spent.
7 Governance for Whom and for What / Principles to Guide Health Policy in Miami-Dade County,” Rand Health,
2003, Catherine A. Jackson, Kathryn Pitkin Derose, Amanda Beatty, p. ix.
8 Ibid, p. 44.



6

B. Prior Recognition of the Need to Change the System of Governance

Five years after the 2003 release of the second Rand Report, JHS commissioned The

National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems (NAPH) to conduct a study of

governance and legal structure options for JHS. The point of this study was to figure out what

options were available to JHS to both meet its mandate of providing high-quality health care, at

the same time working its way out of the financial hole in which it repeatedly found itself. The

cost of this study was approximately $100,000.

The 2008 NAPH report pointed out many of the problems then facing JHS, and
specifically addressed the governance issues:

As a hospital system governed by the Miami-Dade County Public Health Trust
(“PHT”), an agency of the County, the challenges facing JHS are similar to those
of many other safety net hospitals. JHS operates as the County’s primary safety
net system and has come under increasing financial pressure in recent years, due
in large part to the County’s increasing indigent population, new service mandates
imposed by the County, and stagnant public support. PHT, which governs and
administers JHS, is also subject to significant County oversight. This oversight
limits PHT’s autonomy in developing operating and capital budgets and making
decisions that affect JHS’s organized workforce (including negotiating collective
bargaining agreements with labor unions). It also constrains PHT’s flexibility in
structuring its affiliation with the University of Miami (“UM”).

Many of JHS’s peer hospital systems have restructured to enable their governing
bodies to confront and resolve similar challenges. Elements of these
restructurings are available for reforming PHT’s corporate and governance
structure. Depending upon PHT’s objectives (as well as any political obstacles or
other influences likely to affect reform efforts), restructuring may occur
contractually or through changes to governing law. As such, this report offers
recommendations available through three general approaches:

(1) Reforms PHT could achieve through negotiating agreements with the
County’s Board of County Commissioners (the “Commission”);

(2) Reforms PHT could achieve through changes to County law; and

(3) Reforms PHT could achieve only through changes to State law.

Of course, any such undertaking will require a large degree of support from the
community, local government, and potentially state government, so building
consensus for reform will be a critical step on the path to restructuring.9

9 Report for Jackson Health System, “Recommendations Regarding Structure and Governance, Prepared by the
National Association of Public Hospitals & Health Systems, January 13, 2008, p. 1.



7

The Executive Summary of the NAPH study has a section entitled Key Findings and

Recommendations Regarding Structure and Governance.10 Many of the NAPH findings

included in that Executive Summary mirror some of the same issues being discussed in this

present crisis. Some of the report’s Key Findings include the following:

 The Miami-Dade County Board of County Commissioners (the Commission) exercises
its authority over PHT in a manner that drastically limits PHT’s ability to plan
strategically for the short, medium or long term.

 PHT lacks adequate and stable financial support for the Jackson Health System’s (JHS)
core purposes, including indigent care, and other County-imposed mandates.

 PHT lacks control over its personnel system because all personnel policies and labor
contracts must be approved by the Commission.

These findings clearly set out the perception and perhaps the reality of the PHT’s lack of

autonomy and therefore its lack of ability to control its destiny. We highlight a few of the Key

Findings and Recommendations above solely to demonstrate that these same issues were

presented to our elected officials as early as 2003, and again in 2008. The NAPH findings

include recommendations for change, including a change in the governance system to grant the

PHT the ability to control its financial destiny. Had these very same concepts and suggestions

been considered then and appropriate action taken, perhaps we could have avoided the desperate

straits in which we currently find ourselves. Unfortunately, we still have the same dysfunctional

system in place despite the earlier warnings and suggested alternatives.

To highlight the problem with the present system of governance, we identify three

notable examples of JHS management and the PHT making valiant efforts to forestall what

became the inevitable financial fate of JHS. The examples include the attempt to get the half-

penny surtax raised to a full penny, the attempt to change the system of governance and an

attempt to lower JMH’s labor costs. All of these efforts were stymied by actions or inaction of

the BCC and county administrators.

C. The PHT’s Labor Saving Costs Rejected by the BCC

When it comes to the finances of hospitals, we were told over and over that the secret to

a successful hospital is twofold: having a great Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and keeping down

10 “Overview of ‘Report for Jackson Health System: Key Findings and Recommendations Regarding Structure and
Governance’ ”



8

the cost of labor. Labor unions are a powerful force in the world of the BCC. How can the PHT

control its financial destiny when it cannot control its labor costs?

Much has been said, publicly as well as during testimony at the Grand Jury, about labor

costs having an enormous impact on the financial viability of JHS. The hue and cry to reduce

the cost of labor has been announced often and with fervor. We learned that successful hospital

systems running at a profit have labor costs of approximately 40-41%. We have also heard that

public safety net hospitals can survive and run with labor costs as high as 50%. Our review of

JMH’s financial statements for the last 6 years revealed that JHS’s labor costs are between 54-

56% of its total operating expenses.11 This is unacceptable as a sustainable business model.

While we find that total labor costs must be brought in line with similarly situated

hospital systems, we acknowledge that organized labor officially asked the Grand Jury to look at

the PHT and JHS. Additionally, we commend organized labor for their willingness to work with

JHS and the PHT in trying to reach reasonable compromises that will be beneficial to all parties.

In 2004, the PHT learned of a predicted $84 million deficit. In response, the PHT hired

Deloitte, a management and consulting firm. Dubbed “Project Recreate,” Deloitte’s job was to

figure out how to get JHS out of an $84 million deficit and into the world of profit. Further, they

were to figure out what was wrong, develop ways to improve and save money and create ways

for JHS to actually make more money. Over a period of approximately 2-3 years, Deloitte

saturated JHS with a team of people and we were told produced approximately 200 binders

containing materials with suggested changes that, if implemented, could have saved JHS

somewhere in the neighborhood of $200 million. The price tag for the work performed by

Deloitte was approximately $80 million.

We heard that in the time period that the Deloitte-recommended $200 million savings

plan was being implemented, management recognized that JHS’s labor costs were too high and

needed to be reduced. JHS management therefore recommended to the PHT a small increase in

wages, instead of the larger one requested by the union. The PHT approved the smaller amount.

As previously stated, the BCC has approval rights over the PHT’s budget and the labor union

contracts. When the PHT presented its proposed budget to the County for approval, the BCC

11 See Note “b” of Exhibit 1, attached hereto.



9

overruled the PHT’s decision and increased the wages to the larger amount. We were

specifically told that this action of the BCC was in deference to the power of the unions.

The BCC was told at that time that despite all the anticipated savings based on the

Deloitte recommendations, these savings would not be enough if the BCC implemented the

larger wage increase. The BCC was told that with the smaller wage increase, JHS could

possibly operate in the black. If the PHT’s proposal were approved, there would be no threat to

the County’s safety net hospital going under. Yet, in the face of a guaranteed negative financial

impact to the hospital, politics won. The survival of the politicians trumped the survivability of

our safety net hospital. A gigantic warning was not only ignored, but recklessly dismissed in

favor of political safety. The BCC took a course of action that was destined to make a bad

situation worse. This has had the unfortunate consequence of tempering the PHT when

negotiating with labor and the concomitant result of increasing the amount of the deficit.

Accordingly,

We recommend that the BCC immediately fully delegate to the PHT the County’s authority to
approve the PHT personnel policies, and eliminate Commission authority to participate in the
PHT’s labor negotiations and eliminate the County’s approval right over later contracts.

D. The PHT’s Proposal for a Change in Governance and a New Revenue Stream

We note that in September of 2009, the PHT voted to adopt one of the recommendations

from the 2008 NAPH report. Specifically, they formally voted to ask the BCC to put on the

2010 ballot a referendum asking voters to approve a different governance system for JHS that

would give it greater autonomy. The PHT discussed the proposal with the Mayor’s office and

County officials. They rejected the PHT’s proposal.

At about the same time, the PHT also requested that the BCC adopt one of its other

recommendations which would ensure a new dedicated revenue stream. The PHT’s proposal

was for the county to ask voters to approve an additional half-penny surtax. If passed by the

voters, the additional half-penny surtax could generate annual revenues in excess of $150 million

for JHS. The County denied this proposal also. We were curious as to why both of these

suggestions were shot down by the County, so we decided to ask.

We were told of behind-the-scenes conversations in which the changing of the

governance option was requested, discussed and rejected. We also heard about other behind-the-



10

scene conversations with County officials in which the additional half-penny surtax was

requested, discussed and rejected. In both instances, the advice by County officials was there

was no political traction for either idea. We understand this to mean that there was no way either

proposal would get passed due to the anathema for additional taxes. The PHT was also told by

County officials to get its own financial house in order before it asked for anything like these

proposals. Under normal circumstances, those would be both reasonable and cogent directives.

However, how was the PHT supposed to achieve the goal of getting its financial house in order

when the BCC not only rejects the PHT’s cost-cutting measures, but makes decisions that

actually result in higher costs to operate the hospital?

At the time these proposals were presented to the County, the recommendations from

Deloitte were in the process of being instituted. The $200 million of savings were ostensibly on

their way. The PHT was losing money and actively working on getting its house in order.

Despite this, the BCC would not allow the PHT to control its labor costs and the PHT could not

get access to an additional revenue stream (the additional half-penny surtax). The PHT told the

BCC that it was not able to survive financially with the higher labor costs. The PHT was denied

the savings and then denied the additional revenue. This was an impossible situation.

What did the PHT do after being told not to ask for an additional revenue stream until it

got its house in order? Instead of doing everything within its power to make sure the $200

million saving plan was in fact implemented, they let the goal of “getting their house in order”

just slip away.

After spending 2-3 years on the consulting job, Deloitte finally completed its work on

“Project Recreate.” Following completion Deloitte stayed on for an implementation phase, a

major focus of which was training. Yet, as soon as Deloitte left, we were told that things at JMH

reverted back to “business as usual.” Employees and middle management fell back to their old

ways. Many witnesses referred to this as the longstanding “culture at Jackson.” However, we

ask ourselves where was the resolve, the discipline to enforce new behavior, new methods and

new ways of assuring financial sustainability? Management failed and then so did the PHT. It

all fell apart, and “Project Recreate” became an utter failure.

The PHT failed to control its management team to ensure the recommendations from

Deloitte were implemented. Thus, the PHT not only failed to achieve the $200 million in



11

savings, it also managed to squander the $80 million spent to learn how to save the $200 million.

Deloitte left and the $200 million and the $80 million went up in a puff of smoke.

We recommend that the Deloitte reports be carefully reviewed and taken into consideration
when engaged in the improvement of operations for JHS.

This utterly frustrating situation brilliantly makes the case for why we need one truly

autonomous governing body for our hospital system. Give one body the power to get the job

done. Then if they fail, responsibility is clear and consequences will fall into place. In this

situation, with this two-headed monster of a system, how do we properly assess blame so that we

recognize the solution? Everyone here was at fault. Motivations were not aligned. Disaster was

inevitable.

The two potential solutions discussed in 2008-2009, the additional half-penny surtax and

an alternate governance system, were shot down by the County. Even so, we ask whether the

PHT was aggressive enough in pursuit of this. Where was the effort by the PHT, first to get the

public behind this idea and then to utilize that momentum to go to the BCC, and get this done?

Why did they not hold town meetings to get the public directly involved in the conversation?

Where was the will of the PHT to get these proposals approved?

This brings us to the future. How will JHS survive? We believe that the path to survival

requires a change in the governance model for JHS. Without that level of change, we are asking

for this financial disaster to repeat itself, over and over again. As we said, repeating the insanity.

III. THE CURRENT SYSTEM OF GOVERNANCE MUST CHANGE

The current governance system for Jackson has been described as an unwieldy two-

headed monster. It has also been described as “schizophrenic.” The BCC refers to the PHT as

autonomous, while in reality, it is not.12 The truth is that because it is not truly autonomous, and

because the BCC retains certain critical controls, the PHT does not act as aggressively as it

could.

This “schizophrenic” system has allowed each entity, the BCC and the PHT, to point

fingers at each other. Each blames the other for this crisis. The PHT says we the Trustees have

12 The BCC maintains some significant powers over the operation of the PHT. Some of them are listed under
Section II of this report, pp. 3-4.



12

done our best, but ultimately, we are not in control of the financial aspect of this hospital. If we

are not in control of the entire financial picture, how can we be blamed for the financial crisis?

The PHT also points out that the Trustees have asked for alternative and greater sources of

funding. All of these have been rejected by the BCC. They ask, “How can we be responsible for

this crisis when our requests have fallen on deaf ears?” On the other hand, the PHT is not

entirely blameless. The Trustees failed in their duty of oversight over JHS management. As

revealed later in this report, the PHT failed to recognize that a financial disaster was on the way

even though the picture was being painted every month in JHS’ monthly financial statements.

Thus, the financial crisis is ultimately the fault of the PHT and the BCC and its county

administrators.

One might argue, based on the above, that it would be appropriate to return JHS to the

County as a county department. We believe that would be, to say the least, inadvisable.

Before the enactment of the current county ordinance creating the Public Health Trust,

there was a separate county department that was responsible for running JHS. In the early

seventies, there was a serious controversy about the county having the responsibility of running

JHS as just another county department. The specific problem at that time was the continuing

certification of JHS as a hospital. We were repeatedly told that the business of running a hospital

requires very specific expertise. In 1973, in response to that crisis, the county enacted the

ordinance that created the PHT. The county then recognized the folly of attempting to run the

operation of something as large and specialized as the county’s safety net hospital.13

While it certainly is possible to return to that model, we believe that to do so would be

folly indeed. One of the messages that we have heard over and over amidst all the testimony is

the hugely complicated and specialized nature of running a safety net hospital. County business

is vast and complicated enough as it is. If JHS were returned as a full-fledged county

department, it would be an overwhelming burden on top of all of the other existing departments.

To put this in context, the County has approximately 28,000 employees. Returning JHS to the

status of a county department would add 12,000 employees. Further, JHS’s budget is equal to

more than 25% of the direct operating budget of Miami-Dade County. To put JHS back in the

13 Some may argue that JHS is no different than the Seaport or the Airport. We learned that those entities are
designated by the County as “Enterprise Funds” and are self-supporting. Although JHS is designated as an
Enterprise Fund, it has the responsibility of charity care and by its very nature and is not self-supporting.



13

mix of county departments would not only be irresponsible as far as running JHS, it would also

take away time and attention that must be devoted to other aspects of county responsibility.

Therefore, we do not suggest that JHS return to its former status as another county department.

During our investigation, the County enacted a “management watch” and then sent four

county executives to oversee JHS. While we applaud the County for finally taking some

definitive leadership, we hope this is merely an emergency stopgap measure that will be undone

at the moment a new governance system is employed. It is apparent from the foregoing that

whatever governance system is chosen for JHS, it must be one where the lines of authority are

clear. There must be clear accountability and responsibility. Let one body have it all: the glory

and the blame, when things go right and when things go wrong. The BCC has substantially

curtailed the PHT’s autonomy by maintaining its veto power over the PHT’s budget and having

the ability to substitute its judgment for that of the PHT Board and management.

We recommend that the BCC give greater budgetary autonomy to the PHT so that the PHT can
gain enhanced control over developing and implementing the PHT’s short, medium, and long-
term financial strategy.

As the PHT is not a county department, we recommend that the BCC exempt the PHT from the
review process generally applicable to County departments, and that it no longer require
advance approval of the PHT budgets except with regard to the use of County support, financial
and otherwise.

IV. THE UNHEEDED WARNINGS

Partly as a result of the problems discussed above, JMH’s financial condition continued

to deteriorate. In connection therewith, on February 2, 2010, an ostensibly shocking

announcement was made. JMH reported a deficit of $203.8 million. An earlier announcement

had referred to a deficit of only $46.8 million. However, by the time the dust settled, and the

final numbers were out, the PHT acknowledged that the deficit was in fact $244 million. We

were shocked. However, our investigation revealed that others, had they paid attention,

should not have been surprised in the slightest that JHS was in very grave financial trouble.

A. “The Perfect Storm”

We heard many witnesses explain that JHS’s current predicament was based on the

“perfect storm.” The “perfect storm” was described as a combination of the bad economy, the

consequent reduction in local tax revenues, an increase in charity services and an increase in



14

undocumented persons requiring care at JMH. Later, officials at JMH would discover that they

made some erroneous valuations and estimates. When the financial statement was adjusted for

these errors, the amount of the deficit skyrocketed.14 We were told each of these factors came

together at the same time thereby creating the perfect storm. The financial crisis was portrayed

as unexpected and unpredictable. We resoundingly disagree with that conclusion.

B. The Warning of the Approaching Financial Storm

While there are other examples of warnings that a fiscal crisis would inevitably befall

JHS, the clearest warning of all was delivered to a joint meeting of the PHT and the BCC on

June 24, 2008. At that time, the PHT and the BCC heard a presentation from JHS management,

during which they were told in no uncertain terms that the financial future for JHS was dire

indeed.

The PHT and the BCC were told that public hospitals throughout the nation were in

crisis due to an increase in the uninsured population, the attendant increase in charity care and

the decline in reimbursements by Medicare and Medicaid. Moreover, they were told that the

combined existence of these conditions created a financially unsustainable model for a public,

safety net hospital. Finally, the PHT and BCC were told that beginning in 2008 continuing

through 2011 (when the projected time line would end), charity care costs provided by JHS

would exceed the tax revenues received by JHS. The presentation included the following

predicted timeline:

a. FY 2009-2010 – Uncertainty about achieving a balanced budget.

b. FY 2010-2011 - Costs would exceed revenues.

c. FY 2011-2012 - Cash on hand would be depleted and JHS would be unable to
make its payroll.

After receiving this information, both the PHT and the BCC were on notice that drastic reforms

had to be implemented.

Management from JHS concluded its presentation with the question, “How Can the

County Help?” A specific suggestion was implementation of an additional half penny surtax.

Had an additional half-penny surtax been placed on the ballot and passed, it would have meant

an additional $160-190 million per year for JHS. The BCC took no action in response to JHS’s

14 See Sections V. & VI. herein for a detailed explanation.



15

request. No attempt was made to place it on the ballot and let the voters decide. Furthermore, as

stated earlier in this report, county officials denied a later request from PHT to increase the

surtax.

We are particularly dismayed with the reactions and replies of some of the witnesses

who were confronted about their actions following the June 24, 2008 presentation. One reaction

from the BCC was to put the problem back on JHS management with the attitude, “this is your

job, and you fix it.” We do not believe this is an appropriate response from one whose duty and

role is one of oversight. It is also not appropriate to just outright ignore requests made that could

help fix the problem, particularly when management came forward and said we cannot do this

and we need your help. In so many other ways, JHS may not have been effectively managing its

operation, but here, the management was actually doing its job and trying to come up with a

solution. The requests made to fix the problems were things that management did not have the

power to do. How else were they to get this assistance except to come forward and ask the

County?

In trying to explain why the County did not act on the PHT’s request, another response to

JHS Management’s June 24th request was, “well, no one made a specific proposal.” Yet again,

this sort of after the fact response, when the predicted crisis has in fact occurred, is clearly one of

“It’s just not my fault.” It is utter nonsense to claim this as a reason for inaction. The truth is

that the problem was presented, a specific solution was sought and presented and county officials

failed to act. We believe the persons offering these comments were desperately trying to deflect

blame when they were caught having been warned and having done nothing. It was abundantly

clear in June of 2008 that disaster was afoot. The warning bell had rung. History refutes any

claim of ignorance.

The June 24th presentation also clearly made the point that this governance system model

does not work. It did not work because the BCC, the entity with the responsibility of oversight

and power to act did not do so. Had the PHT the power to act on these matters (and others)

independently of the BCC, then perhaps the current crisis could have been avoided. Oversight is

supposed to catch problems and fix them before they erupt into crisis. Obviously, that did not

happen here. Going back even further we see another example of a clear warning of an

approaching financial crisis.



16

C. An Earlier Warning of the Approaching Financial Storm

As previously noted, in 2003, Rand Health issued a report that in part, addressed

governance issues and suggested recommendations for improvements to policies and decision-

making regarding JHS. More importantly, that second report also included direct warnings

concerning the financial sustainability of JHS:

Throughout our examination of indigent health care in Miami-Dade County, an
overriding concern has been the future fiscal viability of the PHT and the
Jackson Health System.15

Clearly, years ago the Rand report underscored the dire nature of JHS’s fiscal condition.

Accordingly, the 2003 Rand Report and the June 24, 2008 JHS Management presentation

to the BCC and the PHT each contained serious warnings about JHS’ impending financial

catastrophe. Statements such as “JHS will be unable to make its payroll” and we have an

overriding concern about JHS’ “future fiscal viability” should have been received in the same

manner a prudent patient would respond to a doctor’s report of a probable finding of first stage

cancer. Such a patient, based on information from the doctor, understands that, untreated, the

condition will get increasingly worse and will result in “death”. A prudent patient would listen

to the advice and suggestions of the doctor and seek treatment to cure or slow the effects of the

cancer. Here the BCC and the PHT received diagnoses from several “doctors” advising that JHS

(the “patient”) had a life-threatening “fiscal” illness. The “doctors” recommended several

treatment modalities for the patient. The BCC` and the PHT, as “guardians” of the patient did

not respond prudently or appropriately. Not surprisingly, the patient’s condition continued to

deteriorate and the patient is now in the Intensive Care Unit on life-support.

V. THE FINANCIAL AWAKENING

To follow the analogy above, the condition of the patient (JHS) continued to worsen. As

will be shown below, JHS own financial records were replete with additional warnings about the

ailing patient. JHS’ fiscal illness became critical at the end of FY 08-09. Notwithstanding all

the warnings and diagnoses, the February 2, 2010 announcement that JHS’ deficit had grown

15 Ibid, p. 49.



17

from $46.8 million to $203.8 million was said to have surprised the PHT. We can only imagine

their greater surprise when, weeks later the PHT discovered that the actual deficit was $244

million. What surprised us and everyone else was how the hospital administration, or those

charged with its financial oversight did not foresee an increased deficit of more than five-

hundred percent (500%)!

To put that in perspective, we must make an initial observation. We compared JHS’

Audited Financial Statements for the time period FY03-04 through FY07-08. Within that

timeframe, JHS reported an average loss of slightly more than $5 million per year.16 To be clear,

there were some years where reportedly JHS actually made a profit.17 However, the combined

“loss” total for those five fiscal years was reportedly approximately $25.4 million.18 The loss

for the next fiscal year that followed, FY08-09, suddenly became $244 million.19 In other words,

the loss for one fiscal year (FY08-09) was almost ten times higher than the total losses for the

preceding five fiscal years. The amount and size of that variance is incomprehensible and defies

logic.

During our investigation, we heard about health care and hospital finance from Auditors,

Accountants (CPAs), Chief Financial Officers (CFO), Finance Directors, Controllers,

Management of Jackson Health System as well as other Hospitals and Systems, just to name a

few. We learned more about Hospital Accounting, Revenue Cycles, Collectibles,

Reimbursements, Contractual Allowances, Gross Patient Revenue verses Net Patient Revenue,

etc., than most people ever want to learn or hear about. We heard so much that our heads began

to spin. We became, and are, frustrated. We learned a great deal, and at the same time, almost

nothing. Grasping the facts was like trying to hold water in your hand and having it slip through

your fingers.

A. JHS’s Funding

At this point we think it important to describe, in general, the source of JHS’s funding

and how the money is spent. The funding for JHS comes primarily from the following sources:

1) Payments for patient services which include payments directly from patients or third-party

16 See Note “d” of Exhibit 1, attached hereto.
17 Ibid.
18 Ibid., Note “c”.
19 Ibid, Note “a”.



18

payers (i.e. health insurance programs, etc.); 2) Government programs like Medicare and

Medicaid, and other government programs designed to subsidize low income or financially

disadvantaged persons; and 3) Miami-Dade County.

The funding from the County includes a half-penny sales surtax that is assessed on the

first $5,000.00 of any single sales transaction within Miami-Dade County20; Maintenance of

Effort (MOE) funds, which are earmarked for JHS from property taxes collected by the County;

and Special Assistance Payments given, on occasion, at the discretion of the BCC.21 Even with

all of these funding sources, the PHT lacks adequate and stable financial support for Jackson

Health System’s core purposes, including indigent care, and the other County-imposed mandates.

JHS’s major operating expenses include salaries and related costs; contractual and

purchased services (i.e. consultants, outside auditors, legal expenses and food services, etc.);

supplies; other operating expenses and the “unfunded mandates.” The unfunded mandates are

programs and services the costs of which were transferred by the BCC from its budget to the

PHT several years after the passage of the half-penny sales tax. Prior to that, the County was

responsible to pay for these services. The unfunded mandates include, among other things, the

costs associated with providing medical services to jail inmates; Community Health of South

Dade, Inc.; Air Rescue helicopters; the County’s Health Department; the Office of Countywide

Healthcare Planning; and several primary health care centers located in North Dade and Liberty

City. Both the management of JHS and PHT have consistently and vociferously complained that

these costs should never have been made the responsibility of JHS. They further point out that

the costs for providing these services have contributed greatly to JHS’s constant financial

struggle. Based on our review of certain financial data, they may be right. The total cost to the

PHT for these unfunded mandates is in excess of $100 million annually. Since the BCC had the

final control to transfer these duties and responsibilities to the PHT, it can reverse this action.

We recommend that the County include in its budget a specific line item that covers the total
annual costs of the unfunded mandates.

20 The limitation of the amount subject to the tax is referred to as the “$5,000 Cap.”

21 Between fiscal years 2004-2009, the BCC gave a total of $130.4 million in Special Assistance Payments to JHS
(2005= $55.2 million; 2006= $30.2 million; 2008= $45 million). Within that six-year period, the only years where
JHS did not show a deficit were the years the County gave JHS a Special Assistance Payment.



19

Alternatively, we recommend that if the County opts not to pay for the unfunded mandates out of
the County budget, that the County pay JHS for providing the services.

We recommend that the Commission not impose new mandates or services obligations that are
not adequately funded by the County.

The amount of charity services provided by JHS has also increased over the years. Even

with the statutory Maintenance of Effort (MOE) contributions and the amounts generated by the

half-penny surtax, JHS continues to operate at a loss in this area.22 The monies given by the

county for these services no longer cover the PHT’s indigent care costs.23 In fact, on average,

the costs for providing charity services exceed the county’s payment to JHS by approximately

$150 million annually.

Another option for directing additional funds to JHS to offset such losses relates to what

is commonly referred to as the “$5,000 cap”. As previously noted, the existing half-penny sales

tax is only assessed on the first $5,000 of any single sales transaction. Eliminating the cap might

not be expedient and may have unintended consequences for Miami-Dade County merchants

who sell high-end merchandise. Buyers could simply drive to Broward County and make the

same purchases, thereby depriving the county of these funds. However, a more palatable option

could be to just raise the cap. Raising the cap is a simple and expedient way to generate

additional funding for our safety net hospital. For instance, setting a new cap of $10,000 would

have the effect of adding at least an extra $25.00 in revenue for every new car, boat or other

luxury item sold in Miami-Dade County.24 It seems to us that raising the cap is a fairly easy and

painless way to generate additional revenue for JHS.

Therefore, we recommend that the BCC re-evaluate and adjust on an annual basis the MOE
contribution to JHS.

We recommend that the BCC accept the recommendation from the PHT to place on the ballot the
option for voters to decide within the next two years whether they want to impose the new half-
penny surtax.

22 For the past two years, the MOE contribution has been approximately $178 million and the surtax averaged
approximately $180 million.

23 See Exhibit 4, attached hereto.
24 If someone purchases a car today for $15,000 that person pays a surtax in the amount of $25.00, a tax on only
$5000 of the purchase price. Raising the cap to $10,000 would result in a total surtax charge of $50.00 for the same
purchase.



20

We recommend that the BCC remove or raise the cap on the surtax from $5,000 to at least
$10,000.

B. JHS’s Financial Records

We examined the prior 6 years of JHS’s audited financial statements to understand more

completely what caused the financial meltdown at JHS. We thought that when dealing with

numbers, because there are generally accepted “accounting standards,” a comparison and

understanding of the numbers would be relatively simple. We were wrong. What we found was

anything but straight forward.

Different people had different approaches to the same financial issue, giving different

numbers and explanations when asked the same question. We found that often in reports or

spreadsheets, results were prepared and then later adjusted. We question whether this was due to

a change in approach, the discovery of new information, or simply to ascertain a different result.

Sometimes we felt as if we were hearing the old joke about the accountant being asked, “What is

the sum of 2 plus 2?”, and the accountant answering, “What do you want it to be?” But this is

far too serious to be comical.

We heard testimony about finances that caused us to become cynical. Furthermore, we

were stunned by the lack of competence certain witnesses demonstrated during the course of

their testimony about the finances of JHS. Although given the opportunity to review their

financial records and materials and prepare for testimony beforehand, there were times when

there was complete silence in response to our questions. At other times they admitted that they

were simply unable to reply. Sadly, some of these witnesses are the very employees charged

with the financial well-being of JHS. The fact that they demonstrated such a lack of knowledge,

expertise and a grasp of the subject matter at hand convinces us yet again that, even more, the

present system of oversight is woefully inadequate. It appears to us that persons at JHS are

working in positions for which they are not qualified. Had the PHT asked these witnesses the

same kinds of probing questions, as they should have as part of their duty of oversight, then the

PHT should have discovered the same failings long before this Grand Jury did. As the

composition of the Public Health Trust includes commissioners, the BCC is also at fault for not

discovering the problem with JHS’ finances. These failings highlight the absolute necessity for

specific hospital finance expertise on the PHT Board. The bottom line is we have no confidence



21

in the numbers presented in the internal financial reports provided by JHS and ostensibly

reviewed by the PHT, which also includes elected and county officials.

We will refer to one specific example to demonstrate why we have no confidence in

JHS’s internal financial statements. For convenience, and to assist in our explanation of some of

the financial information the PHT received every month, we have attached hereto, as “Exhibit

2”, a copy of a page from the February 2009 monthly financial packet. “Exhibit 2” is entitled

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Fund Net Assets. Each monthly

financial packet included individual sheets with these specific financial data compilations

presented on a monthly, year-to-date or trailing six month (“trended”) basis.

Each document so titled first lists “Revenue,”25 which is broken out by inpatient and

outpatient revenue and when combined gives us “Gross patient service revenue.”26 The next

heading on the document, and the one we want to focus on, is “Deduction from revenue.”27

Under this section, JHS lists specific categories and amounts that will be deducted from

the gross billings for medical services (technically called “Gross patient service revenue”).

Once each of these separate amounts are deducted and totaled, that combined total amount is

deducted from the gross patient service revenue and we now have the dollar amount for the Net

patient service revenue.28 In other words, although in February 2009 the hospital billed a total

of $252,830 worth of medical services, by the time it calculated out the discounted amounts that

would be paid by third parties, such as Medicare and Medicaid (Contractual adjustments),

accounted for and removed the amount of free medical services provided (Provisions for charity

care) and deducted an amount for the accounts they did not expect to obtain payments from

patients (Provisions for doubtful accounts) JHS should then have the net amount of revenue that

it expected to receive (Net patient service revenue).29 However, as reflected under Note “c” of

“Exhibit 2,” there is another category under the “Deduction from revenue” section. It is titled,

Net Patient Revenue Adjustment (NPR Adjustment).

25 See Note “a” of Exhibit 2, attached hereto.
26 Ibid, Note “b”.
27 Ibid, Note “c”.
28 Ibid, Note “e”.
29 Ibid, Note “e”.



22

We discovered that the Net Patient Revenue Adjustment for fiscal year 2009 had the

cumulative effect of increasing projected revenue by $155 million while at the same time

concealing $155 million of deficit. The bottom line result was a skewing of the revenue figures,

and a masking of one of the indicators that could have warned of the upcoming “financial train-

wreck.” We note that while this adjustment was included in JHS’ monthly financials it was

eliminated by the independent auditor when the annual audited financial statement was prepared.

Anyone looking at or relying on the numbers contained in JHS’ monthly financial statements

would have had a complete misunderstanding of the hospital’s true financial condition. Not

until April 2010, when an interim CFO was hired, was this practice ended.

We provided witnesses the opportunity, yet no one could adequately explain, nor could

we find any reasonable justification or explanation for this Net Patient Revenue Adjustment

(NPR Adjustment). Some witnesses said the adjustment was necessitated by a change in

accounting methodology. They said when JHS was reporting revenue on a “cash basis” they

used the adjustment. The same witnesses said the adjustment was discontinued when JHS

switched the accounting method to an “accrual basis.” This explanation is even included in the

February 2009 monthly financial statement.30 However, even for folks who do not understand

the different accounting methods, one knows there is a problem when you find the Net Patient

Revenue Adjustment (NPR Adjustment) was applied both before and after the changeover. That

is exactly what we found. Including the Net Patient Revenue Adjustment served to portray a

reduction in the Total deduction from revenue,31 thereby creating a false impression that there

was a greater amount of revenue the hospital would collect (Net patient service revenue). Thus,

instead of giving a realistic estimate, the adjustment actually created a fictitious “net income

figure,” one that could be adjusted by JHS financial management to be whatever they wanted it

to be. We do not know which is of more concern; that such adjustment was applied without a

good reason; or that such unexplained adjustment was applied and no one in JHS management,

on the PHT or county management appears to have questioned it.

30 Public Health Trust Jackson Health System Combined Financial Statements, February 28, 2009, pg. 1
31 See Note “d” of Exhibit 2, attached hereto.



23

C. The New Patient Accounting System

In light of our inability to come up with “hard numbers” which all parties could agree

upon, we were unable to do the in-depth analysis of JHS financials we had hoped to include in

this report. We feel it is essential, however, to at least attempt to address the more than 500%

increase in the deficit in FY 08-09. One explanation provided by management at JHS was that

the spike in the deficit was caused in large part by a new Patient Accounting System (PAS).

This new PAS was launched in late 2008. Although there were some problems with the

implementation, it was a vast improvement over the prior system. The new accounting system

captured additional patient charges previously missed.

Connected thereto, this new PAS was also said to be responsible, in large part, for an

increase in accounts receivables (money owed to JHS for which payment had not been received).

For our purposes, however, this increase in accounts receivables was a mirage, an image without

any substance. These additional accounts receivables did not translate into any appreciable

collectible revenue and they represented no real appreciable asset to JHS.

D. JHS’s Miscalculation of Contractual Adjustments

What became clear to us is JHS management, during the course of the year, had no idea

what caused the significant increase in its deficit. It appears they thought it was a combination of

a poor collection rate and bad debt. Instead, and as pointed out by the auditor, a huge error was

created by JHS administration when it used an inaccurate reimbursement rate in calculating its

projected revenues. “Projected revenues” represent the amount of money JHS expected it would

be paid for the medical services it billed. To understand how outrageous this error was, we must

share some basic hospital billing information.

For FY 08-09, almost 70% of the JHS’s patient revenue was derived from third-party

contractual provider agreements (Medicare, Medicaid, and insurance companies).32 Provider

agreements dictate the maximum amount the third-party payer will reimburse the hospital for

medical services. Accordingly, the amounts paid by Medicaid, Medicare, and other third-party

(insurance) payers are usually significantly less than the total costs reflected in the hospital bill.

For instance, with a surgical procedure that actually is billed at the full cost of $1,900.00, Blue-

32 Financial statement and schedules with Report of Independent Certified Public Accounts years ending September
30, 2009 and 2008 - pages 45 & 46



24

Cross/Blue Shield may have an agreement with the hospital that it will only pay $475.00 for

those services. Nevertheless, JHS’ calculations may have resulted in a projected revenue amount

of $1,000. This makes no sense. The amounts and percentages of reimbursement will vary from

contract to contract, but the hospital knows the contract terms for all third party payers and the

discounts each payer receives for medical billings. Therefore, JHS should have calculated and

applied the proper rate of reimbursement. The fact that management used an inaccurate

reimbursement rate that was higher than what was in their contractual agreements is

inexcusable.33 Applying an incorrect methodology caused the Net Patient Revenues to be

adjusted, which then resulted in a downward adjustment of the accounts receivables of

approximately $182 million. This also contributed approximately $182 million to the increased

deficit.

Worse than that, we learned that the specific discounts and maximum payment amounts

of all third-party payers could be programmed into the “new patient accounting (billing) system”

which went into effect in late 2008. Using the above example again, if JHS’s contractual

agreement with Blue-Cross/Blue Shield for a $1,900 medical bill would result in a maximum

payment of $475, the computer (Patient Accounting Billing System) could have been

programmed to represent this amount. Then, each time a medical procedure was performed and

a bill sent, the computer would specifically indicate that the total amount of money JMH should

expect to receive as projected revenue on that bill was $475, there would be no guess work. The

actual contract amounts would already be in the computer and JHS management could always

get an exact real number for its projected revenues on every patient account. Instead of using

the new Patient Account System to do the calculations, management decided to apply their own

formula. That formula totally failed to take into consideration that JHS would not get more than

$475 for the specific medical service used in our example above. More importantly, JHS

definitely would not be receiving $1,000. Inexplicably, management chose not to rely on the

capabilities of the new system but instead relied on historical data that was wrong and in direct

conflict with contractual agreements of which the hospital was aware. Even if they had just

33 Using the example above, JHS’s inaccurate rate may have resulted in the hospital expecting that it was going to
receive $1,000.00 on a $1,900 bill, when in fact, the maximum amount it could receive would only be $475.



25

checked their calculations and data against that of the automated billing system they would have

recognized a huge discrepancy and hopefully sought to discover the nature of that discrepancy.

We must conclude that the information generated by this new billing system was either

not utilized properly, not analyzed properly, or was simply misunderstood. This error is directly

attributable to the failure of those involved in finance to recognize the problems, alert those in

positions of authority and develop appropriate strategies to correct the problems. The warning

signs were there for management to see, and the red flags were waving. The basic fact that there

was a decrease of available cash on hand should have set off bells and whistles, causing an

inquiry. At a minimum, this should have caused some inquiry by management. We find it very

disconcerting that an issue of this magnitude was not identified properly.

E. The Warnings Were In the Monthly Financial Statements

Management should have known there was a problem because JHS issued monthly

financial statements that were distributed to hospital management and members of the PHT.

Every month JHS issues a document entitled Public Health Trust Jackson Health System

Combined Financial Statements. Each monthly financial statement packet comprises

approximately twenty-five (25) pages of all types of financial data regarding JHS. To

demonstrate the exhaustive and extensive nature of the financial information included with each

of these packets, we have attached hereto as “Exhibit 3,” a representative copy of the type of

Index included with each financial statement packet.

The index for each monthly financial statement packet is pretty much identical. Each

monthly “financial statements” packet begins with a report from the Chief Financial Officer

(CFO) that gives “highlights” for the month. Each monthly packet also included graphs, charts

and financial data tracking revenue, expenses and changes to net assets. Some pages included in

the packet listed information for that specific month.34 Other pages listed the same data, but over

a different time period, i.e., year-to-date or a “six month trended.”35

Over time, the impending financial problems were revealed in these monthly CFO

reports. Apparently County officials and the Trustees of the PHT, which includes

34 See Note “b” of Exhibit 3, attached hereto.

35 Ibid, Notes “a” & “c”.



26

commissioners, did not realize what they were looking at or, if they did, they did not analyze the

data properly. For Fiscal Year 2008-2009, the CFO’s reports so plainly spelled out what was

happening that we found it relatively easy to connect the dots. We made a chart of what we

found to be key indicators of the mounting problem. Most of the numbers in our chart came

directly from the CFO’s report. All someone needed to do was look.36

In addition to the “numbers,” the “narratives” contained in the financial reports also

revealed that a financial problem was brewing. For FY 08-09, the monthly CFO reports

reflected the following warning signs:

 Monthly increases in the amount of money owed to the hospital (net accounts
receivables) and monthly decreases in the money coming in to the hospital (cash
& investments);

 Decreases in the amount of JHS’ cash on-hand caused JHS to slow the pace and
amount of payments it was making to its vendors. This created an increase in the
Accounts Payable (the money the hospital owed to others);

 Decreases in “cash & investments. (An advancement of funds from the County to
JHS avoided what would have otherwise been a decrease of $30.8 million in
“cash & investments.”)

 JHS’ policy was to try to keep enough “cash on hand” for 35 days of operation.
The available cash on-hand dropped to 24.0 days, 11.0 days below the target.

Anyone reviewing the monthly financial reports, reading the language from the CFO’s

monthly highlights above or tracking the numbers contained in the reports should have realized

there was a serious problem. The cash on hand was getting dangerously low, and though the

projected amount of money owed to the hospital was going up, the amount of money being paid

to the hospital was not. The failure of the PHT to note this trend and address it in a timely

manner may speak to a need to change the eligibility requirements for those serving on the

Public Health Trust.

F. More Stringent Eligibility Requirements Needed for PHT Members

Presently, the eligibility requirements for one wishing to serve on the PHT are the

applicant must: 1) be a U.S. Citizen; 2) be a Miami-Dade County resident (although the BCC can

waive this requirement), and 3) be of an outstanding reputation of integrity, responsibility and

36 See Exhibit 1 attached hereto.



27

commitment to serving the community.37 There is no minimal educational requirement, nor is

there a requirement that one serving on the PHT have any expertise or background in finance,

business or management. In fact, no particular expertise is required for any of the positions on

the PHT. Nevertheless, the PHT must be sufficiently specialized to “get the job done.” The

PHT is currently made up of volunteers who are “of an outstanding reputation of integrity,

responsibility, and commitment to serving the community.”38 We want to express our gratitude

on behalf of our community to those who have served in this thankless job, despite all the

described frustrations for their collective years of selfless service. At the same time however, as

we recommend a complete shift in the PHT it must necessitate a change in membership. We

think the failure to have more stringent eligibility requirements in the ordinance is a serious

shortcoming, and one that may have contributed to the PHT’s failure to catch this problem in

time. In that regard:

We recommend that the BCC amend the county ordinance to require that a majority of the
Trustees have experience or a background in finance, accounting, business, management or
labor.

We further recommend that the BCC amend the county ordinance to require that some of the
members of the PHT have backgrounds specifically in hospital finance, hospital management or
experience with running a hospital.

On a related note, the county ordinance also determines the composition of the

Nominating Council for the PHT. The Nominating Council conducts interviews of the

applicants and makes recommendations to the BCC of persons the Council believes are qualified

for appointment to the PHT. The Commissioners themselves make up the majority of the

members on the Nominating Council. According to the NAPH Report, the BCC at times has

ignored the Nominating Council’s slate of candidates entirely.39 The Commission’s dominance

on the PHT’s Nominating Council creates at least the impression that all the PHT Board

members are hand-picked by the Commission. Therefore, we adopt herein two

recommendations from the NAPH Report.

37 Miami-Dade Municipal Code, Chapter 25A-3 (b)

38 Id.

39 “Overview of ‘Report for Jackson Health System: Key Findings and Recommendations Regarding Structure and
Governance’,” p. 3.



28

We recommend that the PHT obtain a commitment from the Commission not to appoint to the
Board of Trustees anyone not on the slate of candidates presented by the Nominating Council.

We recommend that the BCC increase the autonomy of the PHT by expanding the PHT
representation on the Nominating Council.

Alternatively, we recommend that the BCC grant to the PHT total authority to select and appoint
members to the PHT.

G. An Immediately Available Golden Opportunity

As of the issuance of this report there are five vacancies coming up on the Board of the

Public Health Trust. This is a golden opportunity for the nominating commission and ultimately

the BCC to take an enormous stride toward ameliorating the problems at JHS. We recognize that

the existing ordinance makes no mention of the criteria mentioned in the recommendations set

forth above. However, we believe it would be a simple matter for the BCC to inform the

Nominating Commission that the Commissioners would like for the PHT to specifically screen

applicants or seek applicants who meet the more stringent eligibility requirements above. This

Grand Jury believes this would be a huge step forward to improving the abilities, knowledge and

capabilities of the PHT as a whole. Therefore,

We recommend and, in fact, we implore, the PHT and the BCC to work together and utilize this
opportunity to enhance the talents and capabilities of the entire PHT by nominating and appointing
(respectively) new PHT members with the backgrounds and experience levels identified in the
aforementioned recommendations. If there is truly a desire to change and improve JHS, this is an
immediate way to do it.

VI. THE AUDIT REPORTS

At the close of each fiscal year, a team of independent outside auditors conducts an

examination of the finances of JHS. Their responsibility is to tell JHS how it performed

financially over a defined period of time based on certain audit (testing) procedures.40 In

addition to an audited statement, the auditor produces a report titled “Audit Results.” Within this

report is a “Management Letter,” and other assorted documents as part of the overall evaluation

of the financial statements produced by JHS’s financial management team. Not surprisingly,

time and again, and in various ways throughout the various documents generated, the

40 These nationally accepted testing procedures are designed so that anyone reviewing financial statements is able to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatements.



29

independent outside auditors were critical of the performance of the JHS financial team and the

internal practices it followed.

In the 2009 Audit Results, the auditors found a “certain deficiency” that they considered

a “material weakness” in internal control, which affected the JHS financial statements. Internal

control, in this context, is the process designed to ensure the accuracy and reliability of financial

reporting in compliance with both generally accepted accounting standards and applicable laws

and regulations. The audit cited the overvaluation of the amount of money owed to JHS as a

consequence of this “material weakness.” In other words, this criticism specifically relates to

JHS’ “projected revenues” calculation error referred to in Section V. D. above.

JHS management’s error in calculating its projected revenues had such a gigantic impact

in creating a false financial picture for the hospital that this error was cited in several sections of

the “2009 Audit Results”. In fact, the auditors challenged the reasonableness of the estimation

techniques and the assumptions JHS management used in calculating its projected revenues.41

Further, the auditors found that during Fiscal Year 2009, the JHS’s patient accounts receivables

(projected revenues) were significantly overstated in its monthly financial statements. This

overstatement resulted in a “material” misstatement being presented in each of JHS’ monthly

financial statements.

Moreover, the auditors found that JHS management’s internal controls were also

deficient and constituted a material weakness.”42 The “checks and balances” (internal controls)

JHS management had in place were insufficient to “allow management or employees, in the

normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct [material]

misstatements on a timely basis.”43 Specifically, management’s controls relating to the patient

accounts receivable valuation process did not identify the overstatement of patient accounts

receivables in a timely manner.44 After hearing much expert financial testimony, we agree with

41 This criticism and finding is what ultimately led to management’s adjustment of the $182 million in accounts
receivables, and for management to change its methodology going forward.

42 The 2009 Audit Results, March 9, 2010, prepared for the Public Health Trust of Miami-Dade County, Florida,
Appendix B, p. 2.

43 Ibid.

44 Ibid, p. 1.



30

the auditors. Management’s process for formulating sensitive accounting estimates was flawed

and the assumptions used in calculating estimates lacked the necessary analytical foundations.

Again, this resulted in a totally misleading and unreliable picture of JHS’ true financial

condition.

In comparing year-over-year data from FY 07-08 to FY 08-09, the auditors noted that the

“Unrestricted fund net assets”45 declined 123%, “Working capital”46 declined 135%, and the

“Days cash on hand”47 declined 43%. Had JHS management, the PHT and other county officials

made themselves aware of these ascertainable indicators as they developed during the year, the

dramatic deterioration and worsening of the financial condition of “our” public health system

would not have come as a surprise.

We found that the lack of internal control outlined in the 2009 Management letter was a

primary cause of the required adjustment and increase of the deficit/loss from the original $46.8

million loss (arrived at by the JHS financial management team), to the $244 million figure

(arrived at with the independent auditor). It is clear to us that the JHS financial management

team either had no concept of the hospital’s actual financial circumstances, or chose to ignore or

hide them, until the independent auditor made it impossible to continue to do so.

JHS management should have recognized the problems. The PHT as well as county

officials who regularly attend the PHT meetings, should have been able to read the proverbial

handwriting on the monthly reports. The PHT, as we have pointed out previously in this report,

is the next layer of oversight after management. It has the duty and obligation of protecting our

public hospital. The PHT’s specific job is to make sure something like this does not happen. A

critical point must be made again. The PHT is comprised of exemplary citizens who donate their

45 The part of net assets of a not-for-profit organization that is neither permanently restricted nor temporally
restricted by donor-imposed stipulations.

46 Current assets minus current liabilities. Working capital measures how much in liquid assets a company has
available to build its business. The number can be positive or negative, depending on how much debt the company
is carrying. In general, companies that have a lot of working capital will be more successful since they can expand
and improve their operations. Companies with negative working capital may lack the funds necessary for growth.
Also called current assets or current capital.

47 DAYS CASH ON HAND is calculated: Cash/([operating expense - depreciation expense]/365).



31

time to the very laudable cause of protecting this hospital. That is all well and good, but as

discussed above, there must be a requirement that some members of the PHT have the requisite

and specific financial background to fulfill the PHT’s duty of financial oversight. This is yet

another example of how this governance system has failed. Whatever governance system is

ultimately chosen for JHS, even if it is to simply remain the same, it must include true oversight

with PHT members who have backgrounds and experience in hospital finance and accounting.

VII. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The warning bells were rung. Again and again. Year after year. The warnings were, for

the most part, ignored.

We have listened to many lay blame and seen many point fingers. It is the PHT’s fault.

It is the BCC’s fault. The PHT is autonomous. The BCC holds too many strings and we can not

really control our own destiny.

One conclusion is resoundingly clear. The current governance system has not worked, is

not working and must change. This is not because of any individual who holds any particular

position. It is because the current system is unwieldy. It is because the current system lends

itself to finger pointing and blame, without a clear line of actual responsibility. And, most

importantly, because it simply has not worked.

We, the Grand Jury, are not experts in the hospital arena. We are a group of 21 citizens

of Miami-Dade County who are worried and frightened for the future of our hospital. We do not

pretend to have sufficient expertise to select one governance system over another. If we did so,

we would be correctly subject to the criticism of, “who are you to tell a hospital what to do?”

Much can be gleaned from the response to a crisis. As to the response to this crisis, we

are breathing a gigantic sigh of relief. Each and every relevant party has responded in ways that

are to be commended, applauded and extolled. It is obvious to us that out of crisis has come a

desire to get it right. We are grateful to those who have immersed themselves in this fight for

survival and thank you for your steadfast resolve as we move forward.

We have taken the time to investigate this crisis and as a result, we know just how

massively complicated the problems are at JHS. We point this out to underscore that others out

there who offer solutions who are not truly experts, should not do so. The way to come to the



32

correct system of governance for JHS is for a group of true experts to come together immediately

and decide the best model for operating this safety net hospital. This group should have no

outsiders, but be comprised of local people, dedicated to the county in which we live, and who

have an intimate, direct and personal understanding of how to run a successful hospital. They

should make this decision, from a vantage point of their dedication to us as a community and

with a foundation of knowledge beyond the ken of any other.

SPECIFICALLY, WE RECOMMEND

That the County Management Watch continue, with the goal of stabilizing JHS

That each of the relevant parties continue to work together toward stabilization

That while the stabilization process continues, a group as described above be appointed to study
and recommend what would be the best governance system for JHS.

That this group be comprised of long standing, exemplary members of our community who in
addition have consummate skills, knowledge and expertise specifically in the areas of hospital
finance, hospital management and hospital governance systems; specifically a current or former
CEO of a successful local hospital or hospital system, a current or former CFO of a successful
local hospital or hospital system and an academician/expert in the area of healthcare

And that a future Grand Jury, one year from now, conduct the next phase of this investigation,
that is to continue the Grand Jury Watch to look at the progress that has been made to guarantee
that a financially sustainable future for JHS is obtained.

LIST OF OTHER RECOMMENDATIONS

Some of the recommendations presented in the body of this Report and set forth here in

summary fashion were initially included with an extensive list of recommendations from the

NAPH Report. Many of those earlier recommendations go hand-in-hand with our findings. As

such, we have reiterated or modified some of those prior recommendations. They can all be

identified by the presence of an asterisk at the end of each specific recommendation.

1. We recommend that the BCC fully delegate to the PHT the County’s authority to approve
the PHT personnel policies, and eliminate Commission authority to participate in the
PHT’s labor negotiations and eliminate the County’s approval right over later
contracts.*



33

2. We recommend that the BCC give greater budget autonomy to the PHT so that the PHT
can gain enhanced control over developing and implementing the PHT’s short, medium,
and long-term financial strategy.*

3. We recommend that the County include in its budget a specific line item that covers the
total annual costs of the unfunded mandates.

4. We recommend that the Commission not impose new mandates or services obligations
that are not adequately funded by the County.*

5. We recommend that the BCC re-evaluate and adjust on an annual basis the MOE
contribution to JHS.

6. We recommend that the BCC accept the recommendation from the PHT to place on the
ballot the option for voters to decide whether they want to impose the new half-penny
surtax to help save our safety net hospital.

7. We recommend that the BCC amend the county ordinance to require that a majority of
the Trustees must have experience or a background in finance, accounting, business,
management or labor.

8. We further recommend that the BCC amend the county ordinance to require that some of
the members of the PHT have backgrounds specifically in hospital finance, hospital
management or experience with running a hospital.

9. We recommend that the PHT obtain a commitment from the Commission not to appoint to
the Board of Trustees anyone not on the slate of candidates presented by the Nominating
Council.*

10. We recommend that the BCC increase the autonomy of the PHT by expanding the PHT
representation on the Nominating Council.*

11. Alternatively, we recommend that the BCC grant to the PHT total authority to select and
appoint members to the PHT.*

12. We recommend and, in fact, we implore the PHT and the BCC to work together and
utilize this opportunity to enhance the talents and capabilities of the entire PHT by
nominating and appointing (respectively) new PHT members with the backgrounds and
experience levels identified in the aforementioned recommendations. If there is truly a
desire to change and improve JHS, this is an immediate way to do it.



34

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Nine months ago twenty-one randomly selected individuals were brought together to form the
Miami-Dade Grand Jury, Fall Term 2009. These jurors, initially separated by age, ethnicity and cultural
diversity, were able to unify as a group to form a motivated team. The experience resulted in a greater
knowledge and lifelong respect and appreciation for our judicial system.

It was an honor to serve on the Miami-Dade County Grand Jury and we encourage our fellow
citizens to participate in this important civic duty when our local government calls them to serve. We are
also grateful for having the opportunity to be an influential part of the judicial process. We would like to
take this opportunity to express our thanks to the following, who have all managed innumerable duties
with a cheerful and friendly attitude:

 Honorable Judge Gisela Cardonne Ely, who not only stressed the importance of serving on a
grand jury, but also the significance of being involved in the community.

 State Attorney Katherine Fernandez Rundle, for her advice, commitment and years of service to
the Miami-Dade County community and its judicial system.

 Chief Assistant State Attorney Don Horn, for his professionalism, dedication and support. His
knowledge and guidance not only educated us but made our service a truly rewarding experience.
Our deepest thanks for making our job easier.

 Susan Dechovitz, Assistant State Attorney, for her professionalism and enthusiasm, dedication
and support on all these months of hard work.

 Paul Silverman, Assistant State Attorney, for his wonderful work, research and enthusiasm for
our investigation, making sure the Jury had all the “pieces put together.”

 Rose Anne Dare, who took care of all administrative details for each and everyone of us. Her
professionalism and skills made our task easier to perform.

 Nelido Gil, our Bailiff, who every day greeted us with a smile, and made our days as jurors run as
smoothly as possible. His ability to keep us in good spirits was definitely appreciated by all.

 Our court reporters, for their professionalism and commitment.

 To those witnesses and experts who took their time to come before us and answered all of our
questions and concerns, we also thank you.

Our task was difficult and our journey through the judicial system was at times disturbing,
frustrating and surprising. It was an experience we will never forget.

It has truly been a privilege and honor to serve our community.

Respectfully submitted,

Osvaldo Riveron, Foreperson
Miami-Dade County Grand Jury
Fall Term 2009

ATTEST:

Jacynta House
Clerk

Date: August 5, 2010



35

INDICTMENT
NAME OF DEFENDANT CHARGE RETURNED

(A) JANSYS LAZARO HERRERA and
(B) JORGE MIGUEL PANTALEON First Degree Murder

Burglary With Assault or Battery Therein While Armed
Robbery Using Deadly Weapon or Firearm True Bill

(A) VENISE METAYER and
(B) STEVE CARLOS ARMAND Murder First Degree (A&B)

Kidnapping With a Weapon (A&B)
Burglary With Assault or Battery Therein While Armed (A)
Burglary With Assault or Battery Therein While Armed (B)
Grand Theft Third Degree (A&B) True Bill

JASON TOMAS FERNANDEZ Sexual Battery Victim Under 12 Yrs
Lewd Assault on a Child Under 16/ Intercourse
Lewd Assault on a Child Under 16/ Intercourse True Bill

KENDRICK CLARENCE SILVER and
ONIEL PEDLEY First Degree Murder

Robbery/Firearm Attempt
Burglary/Armed/Attempt
Robbery/Armed/Conspiracy
Burglary/Armed/Conspiracy True Bill

DAVID MORALES Sexual Battery Victim Under 12 Yrs
Sexual Battery Victim Under 12 Yrs True Bill

WILLIAM HENRY BROWN, also known as
“LITTLE BILL” First Degree Murder

Murder/Premeditated/Attempt/ D Weapon
Firearm/Weapon/Ammunition/Posn by Convicted Felon

or Delinquent True Bill
JASON COLON and
CHRISTIAN G. VILLAFANE First Degree Murder

Kidnapping With a Weapon
Petit Theft ID/$100+/-$300 True Bill

ERNESTO ALFONSO and
NESDY M. GARCIA First Degree Murder

Robbery Using Deadly Weapon or Firearm
Robbery/Armed/Conspiracy
Accessory After the Fact/Capital Offense
Accessory After the Fact True Bill

MICHELLE SPENCE-JONES Grand Theft Second Degree True Bill

MICHELLE SPENCE-JONES Bribery/Offering/Accepting True Bill

WILLIAM J. TIBE and
SHAMAR OMAR EDWARDS First Degree Murder

Murder Second Degree / Felony
Burglary of an Unoccupied Conveyance
Grand Theft Third Degree True Bill



36

INDICTMENT
NAME OF DEFENDANT CHARGE RETURNED

ALRIC CHRISTOPHER BERRY
also known as “Q” First Degree Murder

Attempted Felony Murder with a Deadly Weapon or
Aggravated Battery

Firearm/Weapon/Ammunition Posn By Convicted Felon
or Delinquent

Illegal Drugs / Conspire to Traffic/Armed
Illegal Drugs / Trafficking Armed True Bill

JEORGE A. SMITH First Degree Murder
Carrying a Concealed Firearm True Bill

(A) ERROR ALVIN LATSON and
(B) LIUGANS JOSEPH WILSON First Degree Murder (A&B)

Robbery Using Deadly Weapon or Firearm (A&B)
Resisting an Officer Without Violence to His/Her

Person (A only)
Resisting an Officer Without Violence to His/Her

Person (A only)
Driving While License Suspended / Knowingly (B only) True Bill

CURTIS PERRY First Degree Murder
Firearm/Weapon/Ammunition Posn by Convicted Felon

or Delinquent
First Degree Murder / Conspiracy True Bill

ANTHONY EROMOSE BANMAH First Degree Murder
First Degree Murder
Robbery Using Deadly Weapon or Firearm
Firearm/Weapon/Ammunition Possession By Convicted Felon

or Delinquent True Bill

JONATHON NODAL First Degree Murder
First Degree Murder True Bill











 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hospital Governance Taskforce 
 

Final Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 12, 2011 
 
  

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
 

Vice Chairperson 
Susan Leah Dechovitz 

 
 

Members 
Manuel P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Edward J. Feller 
Robert B. Johnson 

Brian E. Keeley 
M. Narendra Kini 

Marisel Losa 
Steven E. Marcus 

Ana Mederos 
Linda S. Quick 

Steven D. Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 

Donna E. Shalala 
Steven Sonenreich 

 
 
 



This page intentionally blank 



 

May 12, 2011 
 
 
The Honorable Joe A. Martinez, Chairman and 
  Members, Board of County Commissioners 
Stephen P. Clark Center 
111 N.W. First Street 
Miami, FL  33128 
 
Dear Chairman and Members: 
 
It is with great satisfaction that we submit the Hospital Governance Taskforce 
Final Report with recommendations on alternative models for operating 
Jackson Health System to ensure it has the governing and financial structure 
necessary to fulfill its crucial mission. We all agree that Jackson Health System 
is a vital community resource, and its mission is in jeopardy. We urge that an 
aggressive timetable be set to implement the recommendations of this 
Taskforce and that it be done with a sense of urgency. 
 
The Taskforce’s first meeting was on March 28, 2011, and the last meeting was 
on May 12, 2011, at which time final recommendations and this report were 
approved. We are proud to complete our recommendations and final report 
well within the 90 days authorized by Resolution No. R-30-11. 
 
In our deliberations, we considered and support the recently established 
Financial Recovery Board. As you, Chairman Martinez, noted in your May 2, 
2011 memorandum, the Financial Recovery Board represents “Phase I of a 
recovery plan,” and the Taskforce’s recommendations will be considered for 
Phase II. We urge that the Financial Recovery Board’s term be shortened, to 
coincide with the completion of the implementation of the new governance 
structure. We also urge immediate establishment and funding of an 
implementation committee to prepare for and become the new governing body 
and to ensure continuity in governance and community services. 
 
We thank the Board of County Commissioners for this opportunity to make 
recommendations on such a critically important subject for the health of this 
community. We also extend our special thanks to Commissioner Rebeca Sosa 
for sponsoring the resolution creating this Taskforce. In particular, we thank 
our fellow Taskforce members, the Office of the Commission Auditor, the 
Clerk of the Board, and the County Attorney’s Office for their valuable 
contributions to this Taskforce and this community. 
 
 
c: Juan C. Zapata, Chairman and Members, Hospital Governance Taskforce 
 Harvey Ruvin, Clerk of Courts 
 Alina T. Hudak, County Manager 
 R. A. Cuevas, County Attorney 
 Charles Anderson, Commission Auditor 
 Christopher Agrippa, Transitional Division Chief, Clerk of the Board 

Division 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 

Chairman 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
Vice Chairperson 

Susan Leah Dechovitz 
 
 
 

Members 
Manuel P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Edward J. Feller 
Robert B. Johnson 

Brian E. Keeley 
M. Narendra Kini 

Marisel Losa 
Steven E. Marcus 

Ana Mederos 
Linda S. Quick 

Steven D. Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 

Donna E. Shalala 
Steven D. Sonenreich 

 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/au
ditor/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-4573 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 



 

 

 





 

 

 
 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

i 

Table of Contents 

 

Transmittal Letter 

Table of Contents ............................................................................................................................. i 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................... iii 

I. Introduction .............................................................................................................................1 

II. Considerations re: Surtax, Sunshine, Sovereign Immunity, Public Records ..........................4 

III. Presentations & Interviews .....................................................................................................5 

IV. Recommendations ...................................................................................................................6 

V. Comments .............................................................................................................................11 

 
Appendices 
A. Resolution No. R-30-11 
B. Meeting Agendas 
C. Meeting Minutes 
D. List of Trust Decisions Subject to the Commission’s Approval (Prior or Subsequent) or the 

Commission’s Override1 
E. Legal Issues Attendant to Current Financial Exigencies at PHT2 
F. Legal Opinion Regarding Steward’s Proposal for Acquisition of Jackson Health System3 
G. Sunshine Laws, Public Records, Sovereign Immunity and Public Benefit Corporation4 
H. Legal Opinion regarding Resolution R-392-11 Creating a Financial Recovery Board5 
I. Background Information Sheets for Healthcare Systems6 
J. Governance Options Spreadsheet7 
K. South Florida Acute Care Hospitals: Federal, State and Local Funding Sources 

Spreadsheet8 
L. Dissenting View of a Taskforce Member 

                                                 
1 Attachment from Valda Christian, Assistant County Attorney, email of Mon 4/4/2011 3:25 PM 
2 R. A. Cuevas, Jr., County Attorney, memorandum of February 25, 2010 
3 R. A. Cuevas, Jr. County Attorney, memorandum of March 9, 2011 
4 Karon M. Coleman, Assistant County Attorney, memorandum of May 6, 2011 
5 R. A. Cuevas, Jr., County Attorney, memorandum of May 5, 2011 
6 Data compiled by the Office of the Commission Auditor 
7 Data compiled by the Office of the Commission Auditor 
8 Florida Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) Medicaid-related Financial Data, FYE2009 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

ii 

This page intentionally blank 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

iii 

Executive Summary 
 
This report from the Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce (Taskforce) presents 
recommendations resulting from its considerations of alternative governance models available 
for Miami-Dade County’s Jackson Health System. These recommendations represent the general 
consensus opinion of the Taskforce. 
 
The Taskforce makes eighteen recommendations, including that the recommendations of the 
Taskforce be viewed in its entirety rather than selectively and that an aggressive timetable be set 
for implementing the recommendations. The Taskforce also recommends emphasis on Jackson 
Health System as an integrated healthcare system, rather than a hospital, and that Jackson Health 
System have an organization and governance structure that provides independence, flexibility, and 
nimbleness for the organization. Jackson Health System must have a governance model that 
provides clear lines of accountability to the County government and to the public. Greater 
accountability is required for the fulfillment of the mission within a sound financial framework, 
given budgetary restraints, reduced federal and state funding and competitive pressures. The 
Taskforce recommends that a new governance model, with a diverse board, must be established to 
remain focused on Jackson Health System’s mission and operational and financial performance. 
 
It is the general consensus of the Taskforce that the best governance model for Jackson Health 
System is for the County to establish a new not for profit corporation to manage and operate 
Jackson Health System under contract, reserving to the County only certain enumerated powers 
described in this report or otherwise provided by law. 
 
An implementation committee, with the qualifications, composition and autonomy of the 
proposed not for profit corporation board, should be formed under the County Code and funded 
to perform the work necessary for the implementation of the new governance model. The 
formation of this implementation committee should be immediate and can operate concurrently 
with the Financial Recovery Board (FRB). It is our intent that the FRB sunset as soon as possible 
and that the implementation committee will then become the board for governance of Jackson 
Health System, assuming all the authorities and responsibilities of governance. 
 
Concurrently with creation of this new not for profit corporation, the Taskforce recommends 
creating a Public Health Advisory Committee to ensure accountability on the use of unique 
public funds (½ penny surtax funds; ad valorem, maintenance of effort, etc.)9; and to ensure that 
the safety net mission is being met. It will offer recommendations to the Mayor and Board of 
County Commissioners on improving access, quality and coordination of countywide public 
health. 
 
The Taskforce recommends the not for profit corporation have a nine member board of directors, 
initially appointed by the Mayor and the Board of County Commissioners, serving staggered 
three-year terms with a three term limit. The Mayor’s appointments would be subject to 
ratification by the Board of County Commissioners. For subsequent appointments, the not for 

                                                 
9 There may be changes necessary to applicable law including but not limited to the Code of Miami-Dade County 
and State statutes to make the 1/2 penny surtax funds and ad valorem funds available to a not for profit corporation 
or other entity; a voter referendum may be necessary as well. See Appendices F & G. 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

iv 

profit corporation board will nominate and elect its own membership. Additionally, the Board 
shall have the power to appoint non-voting ex officio members.  
 
The Taskforce recommends the initial board of directors be comprised of at least one physician, 
one lawyer, two CFOs/CPAs, and one insurance executive preferably with actuarial experience. 
The remainder shall be made up of members with extensive backgrounds and expertise in such 
fields as healthcare executive management, general business, nursing, labor relations, and/or 
community relations/community affairs.  
 
Furthermore, the Taskforce recommends that the governing board reflect and embrace a rigorous 
conflict of interest policy which includes a heightened standard, eliminating both the perception 
of as well as any actual conflict of interest for board members. Board members shall have no 
conflicts of interest for one year before or after serving personally, or as stakeholders in the 
outcome of their decisions. The governing body’s sole interest should be the future of Jackson 
Health System.  
 
The immediate family10 of a member of the board of Jackson Health System, and organizations 
in which an immediate family member is employed, has control of, or has a material interest in, 
shall not be engaged to do business with or provide services to Jackson Health System. An 
immediate family member of a member of the board shall not be employed in a management 
capacity as a director or above at Jackson Health System. Additionally, the immediate family of 
the member of the board shall not be employed as senior management, have control of, or have a 
material interest in an organization that competes with Jackson Health System. 
 
Board member training shall include ethics training. 
 
This heightened standard applies to both the initial and future boards. 
 
The full list of Taskforce recommendations is included in the body of this report. 

                                                 
10 The term “immediate family” means the spouse, parents, step-parents, brothers and sisters, step-brothers and step-
sisters, children and step-children of a governing board member. 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

1 

I. Introduction 
 

A. Mission.  The Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce (Taskforce) was 
created by Board of County Commissioners (BCC) Resolution No. R-30-11, adopted 
January 20, 2011, which, in part, cited concerns that the Miami-Dade County “Public 
Health Trust is in the midst of an economic crisis that appears to be due in large part to 
its governing structure; and …the Miami-Dade County Grand Jury in its report dated 
August 5th, 2010 specifically determined that the Public Health Trust’s ‘governance 
must be changed.’” In Resolution No. R-30-11, the BCC directed the Taskforce to: 

 
Study possible models for the governance of the Public Health Trust, including but 
not limited to (a) operation of the Public Health Trust by a private, not-for-profit 
501(c)(3) organization with a board of doctors, nurses, community leaders, and 
health care professionals, as was done, for example, with Tampa General Hospital; 
(b) operation of the Public Health Trust by an independent tax district, as was done 
for the North and South Broward Hospital districts; (c) other models, perhaps 
blending these models, as the Taskforce may decide; (d) and other 
recommendations regarding the governance and financing of the Public Health 
Trust, as the Taskforce may decide. In its deliberations and recommendations, the 
Taskforce shall at all times keep in mind the importance of protecting the interests 
of the taxpayers of our community. The Taskforce shall complete its work and file 
an executive summary of its recommendations with the Clerk of the Board no later 
than 60 days from the first meeting of the Taskforce and will file a final report no 
later than 90 days from the first meeting of the Taskforce. The Taskforce will cease 
to exist 100 days from the first meeting of the Taskforce.  

 
The resulting timeline, based on the Taskforce’s initial meeting on March 28, 2011, 
required the Taskforce to file an executive summary no later than May 27, 2011 and a 
final report no later than June 26, 2011. Also, the Taskforce is to cease to exist on July 
6, 2011. 

 
A copy of Resolution No. R-30-11 is attached as Appendix A of this report. 

 
B. Membership.  The Taskforce consisted of twenty members appointed by individuals or 

organizations designated in Resolution No. R-30-11. At its first meeting on March 28, 
2011, the Taskforce selected Mr. Juan C. Zapata as Chairman and Ms. Susan Dechovitz 
as Vice Chairperson. The membership list of the Taskforce is listed in Table 1. 

 
  



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

2 

Table 1. 
Hospital Governance Taskforce Membership List 
Member Affiliation Chosen By Name 
Chief Executive Officer of Baptist 
Healthcare System, Inc. or a member of 
its executive management team 

Chief Executive Officer  Brian E. Keeley, President/CEO 
Baptist Health South Florida, Inc. 
 

Chief Executive Officer of Miami-
Children’s Hospital or a member of its 
executive management team 

Chief Executive Officer  Dr. M. Narendra Kini, President/CEO 
Miami-Children’s Hospital 
 

Chief Executive Officer of HCA Kendall 
Regional Medical Center or a member of 
its executive management team 

Chief Executive Officer  Lee Chaykin , CEO 
Kendall Regional Medical Center 
 

Chief Executive Officer of either Hialeah, 
Northshore Medical Center and Palmetto 
General Hospital  or a member of its 
executive management team 

CEO of Tenet Healthsystems 
Medical, Inc.  

Ana Mederos, CEO 
Palmetto General Hospital 
 

Chief Executive Officer Mt. Sinai Medical 
Center or a member of its executive 
management team 

Chief Executive Officer  Steven D. Sonenreich, President/CEO 
Mount Sinai Medical Center 
 

Chief Executive Officer Mercy Hospital or 
a member of its executive management 
team 

Chief Executive Officer  Dr. Manuel P. Anton, III 
President/CEO, Mercy Hospital 
 

Administrator ,or appointee, of the Florida 
Department of Health-Miami-Dade 
County Health Department  

Administrator  Lillian Rivera, RN, MSN, Ph.D., 
Administrator, Miami-Dade County 
Health Department 
 

State Attorney of Miami-Dade County, or 
designee  

State Attorney  Susan Leah Dechovitz 
Assistant State Attorney 
Miami-Dade State Attorney’s Office 

Individual appointed by the Mayor  Mayor  Jose Cancela, Principal 
Hispanic USA, Inc. 

Individual appointed by the BCC  Board of County 
Commissioners  

Steven Pinkert, MD, JD, MBA 
Pinkert & Marsh, P.A. 

Individual appointed by the BCC  Board of County 
Commissioners  

Marisel Losa, President/CEO 
Health Council of South Florida 

Individual appointed by the BCC  Board of County 
Commissioners  

Donna E. Shalala, President 
University of Miami 

Individual appointed by the BCC  Board of County 
Commissioners  

Juan C. Zapata, Director 
Pazos, Robaina & Zapata Management 

Individual appointed by the BCC  Board of County 
Commissioners  

Edward J. Feller, MD 

Representative of unions at the Public 
Health Trust 

Board of County 
Commissioners  

Martha Baker, RN, President 
SEIU Healthcare Florida, Local 1991 

Physician who is a member of the Medical 
Executive Committee of Jackson 
Memorial Hospital 

Other members of the task force Dr. Michael Barron, President 
Medical Executive Committee of JMH 
 

Representative or designee from the 
National Association of Public Hospitals 
and Health Systems (NAPH) based in 
Washington, D.C. 

National Association of Public 
Hospitals  

Robert Johnson, Representative 
National Association of Public 
Hospitals & Health Systems 
 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

3 

Table 1. 
Hospital Governance Taskforce Membership List 
Member Affiliation Chosen By Name 
Representative of the Florida Nursing 
Association 

Florida Nursing Association  Dr. Sharon Pontious, Representative 
Florida Nurse’s Association 
 

Chief Executive Officer of the Health 
Foundation of South Florida or a member 
of its executive management team 

Chief Executive Officer  Dr. Steven E. Marcus, President/CEO 
Health Foundation of South Florida 
 

Chief Executive Officer of the South 
Florida Hospital & Healthcare 
Association or a member of its executive 
management team 

Chief Executive Officer  Linda S. Quick, President 
South Florida Hospital & Healthcare 
Association 
 

 
C. Background. 

 
Jackson Health System is an integrated healthcare delivery system licensed for 2,200 
beds, has a budget of $2 billion dollars, and is comprised of six hospitals across three 
campuses. It includes a health plan, primary care clinics, nursing homes, and 
responsibility for the care of inmates. It is the largest public system in the United States 
as reported by Becker Hospital Review in August 2010. Jackson Health System had 
historically been governed by the Public Health Trust, a dedicated team of citizen 
volunteers appointed by the Miami-Dade Board of County Commissioners.11  Jackson 
Health System ensures that all residents of Miami-Dade County receive a single high 
standard of care, regardless of their ability to pay. It is an academic teaching hospital 
with a long-standing relationship with the University of Miami and a more recent 
affiliation with Florida International University. 

 
As cited in Resolution No. R-30-11, the Final Report of the Miami-Dade County Grand 
Jury, Fall Term A.D. 2009, re Jackson Health System, filed August 5, 2010, the Grand 
Jury determined that the Public Health Trust/Jackson Health System’s “governance 
system must be changed” (p.3).12 Additionally, it made more than a dozen other 
recommendations, pp. 32-33, concerning Jackson Health System governance and 
oversight, including a recommendation for the creation of a group, such as this 
Taskforce, to study the best governance model for Jackson Health System. 
 
Another document, Recommendations Regarding Structure and Governance; Report 
for Jackson Health System, National Association of Public Hospitals and Health 
Systems, January 13, 2008, had been prepared two years prior to the Grand Jury 
report.13 This document had already provided the Jackson Health System with 

                                                 
11 Resolution No. R-392-11, adopted May 3, 2011 by the Board of County Commissioners, implemented an assistive 
measure, pursuant to Section 25(A)-9(C)5 of the Miami-Dade County Code, in the form of establishing a Financial 
Recovery Board to help resolve the financial sustainability conditions threatening the Public Health Trust 
12 Available online, http://www.miamisao.com/publications/grand_jury/2000s/gj2009f.pdf 
13 Available online, http://www.miamidade.gov/auditor/library/Recommendations_Regarding_Structure_ 
Governance_JHS-NAPH.pdf 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

4 

extensive information on potentially desirable governance alternatives, much of which 
remained applicable to the Taskforce’s deliberations. 
 

D. Process 
 
Early in its deliberations, the Taskforce considered the appropriateness of initiating a 
fact-finding investigation regarding Jackson Health System’s financial and operational 
difficulties. The Taskforce decided to focus on the charge of examining alternative 
governance models which would address issues noted in the previously issued reports, 
thereby making it feasible to accomplish the Taskforce’s mission within the timeframes 
specified in Resolution No. R-30-11. 
 
Taskforce deliberations and considerations included input from multiple sources, 
including: national organizations, interviews with selected healthcare system executives 
from many parts of the country, Jackson Health System executives, available reference 
materials from professional literature, background research by staff, and extensive input 
from the Taskforce members themselves. 

 
E. Governance Models – The Taskforce considered each of the following governance 

models. 
 

a. Direct Operational Control by the County. 
 

b. Direct Operational Control by a University. 
 
c. Public Health Trust with Increased Autonomy. 
 
d. Hospital Authority or Public Benefit Corporation. 

 
e. Taxing District. 

 
f. Not for Profit Organization formed by the County. 

 
g. Hybrid or Multiple Structures. 

 
h. For Profit Corporation Governance. 

 
II. Considerations re: Surtax, Sunshine, Sovereign Immunity, Public Records 
 

There was broad consensus in the Taskforce on the imperative of retaining sovereign 
immunity and obtaining appropriate exemptions from the Sunshine Law and Public 
Records requirements so as to enable the new entity to be more competitive in the 
healthcare marketplace. Nevertheless, the Taskforce recognized the challenges presented 
by applying government laws such as sovereign immunity to the new not for profit 
corporation. The relationship between Sunshine Law, Public Records Law, and sovereign 
immunity requirements is complex. Appendices F & G provide guidance on this subject. 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

5 

 
There was equally broad consensus in the Taskforce that maintaining eligibility for the 
existing ½ penny surtax [Dade County Health Care Improvement Surtax for Jackson 
Memorial Hospital adopted by referendum in 1991] and ad valorem/general fund support is 
essential. The Taskforce felt that continued eligibility for the surtax could be dealt with 
through separate legislative action or contract provisions, as necessary. 

 
III. Presentations and Interviews – Presentations to and interviews by the Taskforce are listed 

in Table 2. Additional details are available in the minutes of each meeting. 
 

Table 2 
Presentations and Interviews 
Meeting Presenter Subject 
March 28, 2011 Commissioner Rebeca Sosa, Board of 

County Commissioners 
Overview of Taskforce background and mission 

 Michael Murawski, Advocate, 
Commission on Ethics and Public 

Conflicts of interest and Code of Ethics 

 Karon Coleman and Valda Christian, 
Assistant County Attorneys 

Sunshine Law requirements, Taskforce responsibilities 
and available reference materials 

 John Copeland III, Chairman, Public 
Health Trust 

Public Health Trust overview 

 Eneida O. Roldan, MD, MPH, MBA, 
President & CEO, Jackson Health System 

Jackson Health System overview, problems and needs 

 Ted Shaw, FHFMA, CPA, Chief 
Transition Officer, Jackson Health System 

Key operating indicators and financial outlook 

 Pascal J. Goldschmidt, MD, Dean, 
University of Miami Miller School of 
Medicine 

Relationship between University of Miami Miller 
School of Medicine and Jackson Health System 

April 7, 2011 Larry S. Gage, President, National 
Association of Public Hospitals and Health 
Systems/Partner, Ropes & Gray LLP 

“Models for Organizational & Structural Reform" 
presentation 

 Jorge L. Arrizurieta, Member, Public 
Health Trust 

Public Health Trust overview and need for change in 
governance structure 

April 14, 2011 Duane J. Fitch, CPA, MBA, Senior 
Partner, The Sibery Group, LLC 

“Hospital Governance Taskforce (HGT) Presentation"; 
issues and observations relating to governance and the 
Public Health Trust 

 Tom Traylor, Vice President of State, 
Local, and Federal Programs, Boston 
Medical Center, Boston, MA 

Teleconference interview 

 Johnese Spisso, Chief Health Systems 
Officer, UW Medicine - Harborview 
Medical Center, Seattle, WA 

Teleconference interview 

April 21, 2011 Linda Quick, CEO, South Florida Hospital 
& Healthcare Association/Taskforce 
Member 

Comparison of Federal, State and Local Hospital 
Funding Sources 

 Elizabeth Reidy, General Counsel, Cook 
County Health & Hospitals System, 
Chicago, IL 

Teleconference interview 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

6 

Table 2 
Presentations and Interviews 
Meeting Presenter Subject 
 John Schunhoff, Chief Deputy Director, 

Los Angeles County Department of Health 
Services, Los Angeles, CA 

Teleconference interview 

 Gerard Grimaldi, Vice President, Health 
Policy & Government Relations, Truman 
Medical Centers, Kansas City, MO 

Teleconference interview 

April 28, 2011 Dr. John R. Combes, President and COO, 
Center for Healthcare Governance 

Hospital governance 

 Carlos Migoya, President and CEO Elect, 
Jackson Health System 

Introduction and discussion 

May 5, 2011 Karon M. Coleman, Assistant County 
Attorney 

Sunshine Laws, Public Records, Sovereign Immunity 
and Public Benefit Corporation 

 
IV. Recommendations 

 
Overview 
 
Jackson Health System is a vital community resource that faces tremendous challenges, 
including finances and its ability to compete in a rapidly evolving healthcare industry. 
Jackson Health System’s mission is in jeopardy under the status quo. Strong steps are needed 
to address these challenges and to ensure Jackson Health System’s future as an integrated 
healthcare system. 
 
The basic principles underlining the Taskforce recommendations recognize that the Jackson 
Health System must have a governance structure that provides independence, flexibility, and 
nimbleness. The new governance model must provide clear lines of accountability to the 
County government and the public and fulfill their mission within a sound financial 
framework, given budgetary restraints, reduced federal and state funding and competitive 
pressures. In this climate, a new governance model with a more diverse board must be 
established to remain focused on Jackson Health System’s mission and operational and 
financial performance. 
 
Furthermore, Taskforce recommendations should be viewed in their entirety rather than 
selectively; many recommendations are coupled with others.  
 
There was general consensus that the best way to address the concerns would be the creation 
of a new not for profit corporation to manage and operate the Jackson Health System. The 
creation of a not for profit corporation that retains the missions of a safety net health system 
and an academic teaching hospital has clear analogies in Florida (Tampa General) and in 
other states (Boston Medical Center, Grady Memorial, Truman Medical Centers, and others).  

 
Issues to consider for the successful implementation of a not for profit model include the 
degree to which the County can legally transfer all of the necessary financial and operating 
autonomy (including personnel, financial and procurement autonomy) to the new 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

7 

corporation. See Appendices F & G for reviews of the issues related to the continued 
availability of the ½ penny sales surtax and ad valorem/general fund support upon changing 
from a county public general hospital to any other type of entity. There may also be 
implications for sovereign immunity and open government laws (Sunshine Law and Public 
Records Act) when transitioning from a government-run health system to a not for profit run 
health system. See Appendix G regarding a discussion of Sunshine Law, Public Records Act 
and Sovereign Immunity.  

 
There was general consensus on creating a Public Health Advisory Committee to ensure 
accountability on the use of unique public funds (½ penny surtax funds, ad valorem/general 
fund support, etc.)14 and to ensure that the safety net mission is being met. It will offer 
recommendations to the Mayor and Board of County Commissioners on improving access, 
quality and coordination of countywide public health.  
 
For example, in formation of the Boston Medical Center, the same legislation that formed the 
Boston Medical Center also created the Boston Public Health Commission to continue the 
city’s public health responsibilities. The Public Health Commission’s “mission is to protect, 
promote, and preserve the health and well-being of all Boston residents, particularly the most 
vulnerable.”15 The Public Health Commission was encouraged to establish an advisory 
committee to act as an oversight entity to monitor the providing of health care in Boston, 
particularly to the city’s vulnerable populations. 
 
Mission 
 
1. Set forth a clearly stated mission statement & vision for the health system that reaffirms 

Jackson Health System’s roles as a safety net hospital, academic teaching hospital, and 
integrated healthcare system with multiple academic relationships. 
 

Board Composition 
 
2. Nine members, with five initial appointments made by the Mayor and four initial 

appointments made by the Board of County Commissioners. The members shall serve 
staggered three-year terms with a three term limit: three shall be appointed for three-year 
terms, three for two-year terms, and three for one-year terms, with duration of initial 
terms determined by lottery. For subsequent appointments, the not for profit corporation 
board will nominate and elect its own membership.  
 

3. The Taskforce recommends the initial board of directors be comprised of at least one 
physician, one lawyer, two CFOs/CPAs, and one insurance executive preferably with 
actuarial experience. The remainder shall be made up of members with extensive 
backgrounds and expertise in such fields as healthcare executive management, general 
business, nursing, labor relations, and/or community relations/community affairs.  

                                                 
14 There may be changes necessary to applicable law including but not limited to the Code of Miami-Dade County 
and State statutes to make the 1/2 penny surtax funds and ad valorem funds available to a not for profit corporation 
or other entity; a voter referendum may be necessary as well. See Appendices F & G. 
15 Extract from Boston Public Health Commission website, www.bphc.org/about/officedirector/Pages/Home.aspx 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

8 

 
4. We urge inclusion of diversity in the governing body. 

 
5. The new governing board shall have the power to appoint non-voting ex officio members 

at its sole discretion. 
 

  



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

9 

Ethics 
 
6. The governing board shall reflect and embrace a rigorous conflict of interest policy which 

includes a heightened standard, eliminating both the perception of as well as any actual 
conflict of interest for board members. Board members shall have no conflicts of interest 
for one year before or after serving, personally or as stakeholders, in the outcome of their 
decisions. The governing body’s sole interest should be the future of Jackson Health 
System.  
 
The immediate family16 of a member of the board of Jackson Health System, and 
organizations in which the immediate family is employed, has control of, or has a 
material interest in, shall not be engaged to do business with or provide services to 
Jackson Health System. The immediate family of a member of the board shall not be 
employed in a management capacity as a director or above at Jackson Health System. 
Additionally, the immediate family of the member of the board shall not be employed as 
senior management, have control of, or have a material interest in an organization that 
competes with Jackson Health System. 
 
Board member training shall include ethics training. 
 
This heightened standard applies to both the initial and future boards. 
 

Legal Structure and Governance 
 
7. Establish a new not for profit corporation to manage and operate Jackson Health System, 

reserving to the County only certain enumerated powers described herein or otherwise 
provided by law. 
 

8. Provide sovereign immunity. Every effort should be made to structure the not for profit 
corporation in such a way so as to preserve the applicability of the sovereign immunity 
statute, including pursuing legislative changes. For example, the governing body of 
Jackson Health System and the County should investigate the possibility of pursuing 
legislative changes similar to the changes approved for Shands Teaching Hospital and 
Clinics in the 2011 Florida legislative session, if legally appropriate.17 
 

9. Concurrently with creation of this new not for profit corporation, the Taskforce 
recommends creating a Public Health Advisory Committee to ensure accountability on 
the use of unique public funds (½ penny surtax funds; ad valorem/general fund support, 

                                                 
16 The term “immediate family” means the spouse, parents, step-parents, brothers and sisters, step-brothers and step-
sisters, children and step-children, of a governing board member. 
17 CS/CS/HB 395 amended Section 1004.41 of Florida Statutes, pertaining to Shands Teaching Hospital and Clinics, 
and provided sovereign immunity specifically for Shands. However, it should be noted that Shands Hospital is a 
creation of the state, pursuant to Section 1004.41 of Florida Statutes while Jackson Health System is a county 
created health system.  



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

10 

etc.)18; and to ensure that the safety net mission is being met. It will offer 
recommendations to the Mayor and Board of County Commissioners on improving 
access, quality and coordination of countywide public health.  
 
The Public Health Advisory Committee shall include members appointed by the Mayor 
and the Board of County Commissioners. One of the persons appointed shall be the 
Director of the Miami-Dade County Health Department or the Director’s designee. The 
other members shall have extensive expertise in healthcare issues and shall not be County 
or Jackson Health System employees. 

 
10. The Jackson Health System auditor shall be required to annually provide certification and 

explanation that all ad valorem/general fund support and surtax revenues that are received 
are used for the purposes for which they were  legally intended. 
 

11. Ensure Jackson Health System remains eligible for Disproportionate Share Hospital 
(DSH) funding. 

 
Authorities and Responsibilities Retained by the Board of County Commissioners 
 
12. Retain ownership and be responsible for the maintenance of the real property19 currently 

owned by the County and used by Jackson Health System. 
 

13. Retain the responsibility for approval of any sale, transfer, destruction, replacement, 
abandonment, or related disposition of currently County-owned real property as referred 
to in paragraph 12 above. 
 

14. To the extent possible, retain the responsibility for approval of any issuance of capital 
bonds under the authority of the County requested by Jackson Health System. 
 

Authorities and Responsibilities Reserved to Health System Governing Board 
 

15. All other authority and responsibility not specifically reserved to the County shall be 
exercised by the governing board including but not limited to:  
− Hire, fire, evaluate, and set compensation of the health system’s CEO; 
− Establish by-laws; 
− Make decisions regarding human resources, purchasing, growth or reduction 

decisions of medical services, contracts and payments to academic institutions, etc.; 
− Develop and establish policies; 
− Conduct long range strategic planning; 
− Approve pay and compensation policies for its executive team and policies for 

employed physicians and employees; 
                                                 
18 There may be changes necessary to applicable law including but not limited to the Code of Miami-Dade County 
and State statutes to make the 1/2 penny surtax funds and ad valorem funds available to a not for profit corporation 
or other entity; a voter referendum may be necessary as well. See Appendices F & G. 
19 Currently, the Public Health Trust has the responsibility to maintain the facilities, not the County.  See 25A-4(d) 
of Miami-Dade County Code.  



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

11 

− Meet all local, state and national standards governing hospitals and health systems; 
− Annually, provide to the Mayor and Board of County Commissioners audited 

financial reports and an annual report on the operations and services of Jackson 
Health System with particular emphasis on care, quality and services provided to 
indigent residents of Miami-Dade County; 

− Approve the health systems operating, capital equipment and facilities budgets; 
− Develop and enter into affiliation agreements with academic and other organization 

necessary to carry out the mission of the health system; and 
− Approve labor and collective bargaining agreements. 

 
Culture 
 
16. Quoting from a recent study by the Health Research & Educational Trust in partnership 

with the American Hospital Association, 
Creating a culture of performance excellence, accountability for results, and 
leadership execution are the keys to success….a culture of performance excellence 
and accountability for results was strongly exhibited during the interviews with the 
high performing health systems. This was best defined through cultural markers such 
as: focusing on continuous improvement, driving towards dramatic improvement or 
perfection versus incremental change, emphasizing patient-centeredness, adopting a 
philosophy that embraces internal and external transparency with regard to 
performance, and a having a clear set of defined values and expectations that form 
the basis for accountability of results. The other finding connected with the culture of 
performance excellence was a disciplined and persistent focus by leadership on 
execution and implementation to achieve the lofty goals. The culture of performance 
and excellence was strongly connected to leadership’s execution doctrine.20 

 
Adapting this study’s findings to Jackson Health System’s situation, the Taskforce 
recommendation is that the governing body shall focus on continuous improvement, 
driving towards dramatic improvement or perfection versus incremental change, 
emphasizing patient-centeredness, adopting a philosophy that embraces both internal and 
external transparency, which include such things as performance, efficiency, innovation, 
and a having a clear set of defined values and expectations that form the basis for 
accountability for results, innovation, strategic vision, sustaining the mission and values. 

 
Implementation 
 
17. We urge that an aggressive timetable be set to implement the recommendations of this 

Taskforce and that it be done with a sense of urgency. 
 

18. An implementation committee, with the qualifications, composition and autonomy of the 
proposed not for profit corporation board, should be formed under the County Code and 

                                                 
20 Yonek J., Hines S., and Joshi M. A Guide to Achieving High Performance in Multi-Hospital Health Systems. p. 1, 
Health Research & Educational Trust, Chicago, IL. March 2010. Available online: http://www.hret.org/quality/ 
projects/resources/highperformance.pdf  

 



Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report 
 

12 

funded to perform the work necessary for the implementation of the new governance 
model. The implementation committee will then become the board for governance of 
Jackson Health System. The formation of this implementation committee should be 
immediate and can operate concurrently with the FRB. It is our intent that the FRB sunset 
as soon as possible and that the implementation committee will then become the board 
for governance of Jackson Health System, assuming all the authorities and 
responsibilities of governance. 

 
V. Comments 
 

The Taskforce recommends that the Sunshine Law and Public Records Act (applicable to 
public hospitals/healthcare) be amended as necessary to enable a more sustainable business 
model.



Resolution No. R-30-11

Appendix A

A-1



Appendix A

A-2



R-30-11

Appendix A

A-3



Appendix A

A-4



Appendix A

A-5



Appendix A

A-6



Appendix A

A-7



This page intentionally blank 

Appendix A

A-8



  REVISED 3/25/11 

HGT related Information can be found at http://www.miamidade.gov/auditor/hospital_governance.asp 
 

Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Taskforce (HGT) 
 

Meeting of Monday, March 28, 2011 at 8:30 a.m. 
The Beacon Council  

80 SW 8th Street, Suite 2400 
Miami, Florida 

  

 
AGENDA 

 
 Moderator     Mr. Charles Anderson, Commission Auditor  
 
1. Self Introduction of Members 
 
2. Opening Statement    The Hon. Rebeca Sosa, Commissioner, District 6  
    
3. 

Commission on Ethics & Public Trust Mr. Robert Meyers, Executive Director 
Presentations  

County Attorney’s Office    Mr. Eugene Shy & Ms. Valda Christian, Asst.  
       County Attorneys  

Overview of the Public Health Trust (PHT)  Mr. John H Copeland, III, Chairperson, PHT 
Historical Overview & Presentation on  
Jackson Health System (JHS)   Dr. Eneida O. Roldan, President & Chief Executive  

       Officer, JHS & Mr. Ted Shaw, Chief Transition  
       Officer, JHS  

 
4. Relationship between UM and JHS   Dr. Pascal J. Goldschmidt, Dean, Medical School,  
       UM & Mr. Ted Shaw, Chief Transition Officer, JHS 

 
5. Organization and Structure  of Task Force     

- Selection of Chair and Vice Chair 
- Selection of additional HGT member (R-30-11, Sec. 4 #12) 
- Meeting Schedules 
- Decision: Who should write final  
               recommendations for BCC? 
 

6. Any Other Matters 
 
7. Closing Remarks    Newly Selected Chairperson 

 

Appendix B

B-1

http://www.miamidade.gov/auditor/hospital_governance.asp�


 
   
  REVISED 

Meeting of Thursday, April 7, 2011 at 3:00 p.m. 
  

HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE TASKFORCE (HGT) 
 

THE BEACON COUNCIL 
80 SW 8th Street, Suite 2400 

Miami, Florida 
 

 
AGENDA 

  
I. ROLL CALL 

 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - Meeting of March 28, 2011 
 
 

III. OPENING  REMARKS - Chairperson Juan C. Zapata 
- Announce New Designee – NAPH 
- Highlights from Sunshine Meeting held Tuesday, April 5, 2011 

 
 

IV. ACTION ITEM 
 

A. SELECTION OF NEW MEMBER - (a physician who is a member of 
the medical executive committee of Jackson Memorial Hospital) 

 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS 
 

A. Mr. Larry Gage, President, NAPH  
Question & Answer Session 
 

B. Ms. Karon Coleman, Assistant County Attorney  
Question & Answer Session 
 
 

VI. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

A. WHETHER THE HGT SHOULD SEND A LETTER TO 
GOVERNOR RICK SCOTT – Requesting the $35 million in federal 
stimulus money for Jackson Memorial Hospital 
 

B. RESIGNATION LETTER FROM DR. MARK  C. ROGERS, 
FORMER PHT MEMBER – (Added at the request of HGT Member Jose 
Cancela) 
 
 

VII. OTHER MATTERS 
 
A. FUTURE MEETING LOCATIONS 

 
 

VIII.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
Vice Chairperson 
Susan Dechovitz 

 
 
 

Members 
Manual P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Ed Feller 
Robert Johnson 
Brian E. Keeley 

M. Narendra Kini 
Marisel Losa 

Steven Marcus 
Ana Mederos 
Linda Quick 

Steven Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 
Donna Shalala 

Steven Sonenreich 
 
 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/audit
or/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-2524 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 
 

Appendix B

B-2

mailto:spalmer@miamidade.gov�


 
   
  REVISED 4/14/11 

Meeting of Thursday, April 14, 2011 at 3:00 p.m. 
  

HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE TASKFORCE (HGT) 
State Attorney’s Office 
1350 NW 12th Avenue 

4th Floor Conference Room 
Miami, Florida 

 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
  

I. ROLL CALL 
 
 

II. OPENING  REMARKS - Chairperson Juan C. Zapata 
 
 

III. PRESENTATION 
 

A.  The Sibery Group, LLC 
 Mr. Duane J. Fitch, CPA, MBA, Senior Partner 
 

IV. TELECONFERENCE  INTERVIEWS 
 
A. Boston Medical Center

Mr. Tom Traylor, Vice President of State, Local, and Federal   
Programs   
 

, Boston, Massachusetts 

B. UW Medicine - Harborview Medical Center

 

, Washington, Seattle 
Ms. Johnese Spisso, Chief Health Systems Officer 

 
V. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 
A. RESIGNATION LETTER FROM DR. MARK  C. ROGERS, 

FORMER PHT MEMBER – (Added at the request of HGT Member Jose 
Cancela) 
 

B. JUNIPER ADVISORY- FIRM OVERVIEW – (Added by HGT Chair 
Juan Zapata) 
 
 

VI. OTHER MATTERS 
 
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
Vice Chairperson 
Susan Dechovitz 

 
 
 

Members 
Manual P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Ed Feller 
Robert Johnson 
Brian E. Keeley 

M. Narendra Kini 
Marisel Losa 

Steven Marcus 
Ana Mederos 
Linda Quick 

Steven Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 
Donna Shalala 

Steven Sonenreich 
 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/audito
r/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-4573 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 
 

Appendix B

B-3

mailto:spalmer@miamidade.gov�


Meeting of Thursday, April 21, 2011 at 3:00 p.m. 
  

HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE TASKFORCE (HGT) 
The Beacon Council 

80 SW 8th Street, 24th Floor 
(The Chase Building - Brickell Area) 

Miami, Florida 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
  

I. ROLL CALL 
 
 

II. OPENING  REMARKS - Chairperson Juan C. Zapata 
 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Meeting of April 7, 2011 
 
 

IV. TELECONFERENCE INTERVIEWS (30 min. each) 
 
A. Cook County Health & Hospitals System

B. 

, Chicago, IL 
Ms. Elizabeth Reidy, General Counsel 
 
LA County Department of Health Services,
Mr. John Schunhoff, Chief Deputy Director 
 

 Los Angeles, CA 

C. Truman Medical Centers,
Mr. Gerard Grimaldi, Vice President, Health Policy & Government 
Relations 

 Kansas City, MO 

 
 

V. OVERVIEW (10 min.) 
 
A.  Comparison of Federal, State and Local Hospital Funding Sources 
  (At the request of HGT Member Linda Quick)  
 
 

VI. WORKING  ITEM (remainder of meeting) 
 

A. Discuss/Draft Preliminary Recommendations  
 
 

VII.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
 

Vice Chairperson 
Susan Dechovitz 

 
 

Members 
Manuel P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Ed Feller 
Robert Johnson 
Brian E. Keeley 

M. Narendra Kini 
Marisel Losa 

Steven Marcus 
Ana Mederos 
Linda Quick 

Steven Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 
Donna Shalala 

Steven Sonenreich 
 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/audit
or/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-4573 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 
 

Appendix B

B-4

mailto:spalmer@miamidade.gov�


Meeting of Thursday, April 28, 2011 at 3:00 p.m. 
  

HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE TASKFORCE (HGT) 
State Attorney’s Office 
1350 NW 12th Avenue 

4th Floor Conference Room 
Miami, Florida 

 
 

 
AGENDA 

  
 
 
 

I. ROLL CALL 
 
 

II. OPENING  REMARKS - Chairperson Juan C. Zapata 
 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Meeting of April 14, 2011 
 

 
IV. TELECONFERENCE PRESENTATION (30 min.) 

Dr. John R. Combes, President and COO 
Center for Healthcare Governance, Chicago, IL 

 
 

V. INTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSIONS (30 min.) 
Mr. Carlos Migoya, President Elect, Jackson Memorial Hospital  
 
 

VI. WORKING  ITEM (remainder of meeting) 
 

Discuss/Draft Preliminary Recommendations  
 
 

VII.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
 

Vice Chairperson 
Susan Dechovitz 

 
 

Members 
Manuel P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Ed Feller 
Robert Johnson 
Brian E. Keeley 

M. Narendra Kini 
Marisel Losa 

Steven Marcus 
Ana Mederos 
Linda Quick 

Steven Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 
Donna Shalala 

Steven Sonenreich 
 
 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/audit
or/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-4573 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 
 

Appendix B

B-5

mailto:spalmer@miamidade.gov�


Meeting of Thursday, May 5, 2011 at 3:00 p.m. 
  

HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE TASKFORCE (HGT) 
Miami-Dade County Health Department 

Center of Excellence 
8600 NW 17th Street 

Miami, FL  33126 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

  
 
 
 
 
 

I. ROLL CALL 
 
 

II. OPENING  REMARKS - Chairperson Juan C. Zapata 
 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Meeting of April 21, 2011 
 

 
IV. WORKING  ITEM  

 
Discuss/Draft Preliminary Recommendations  

 
 

V.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
 

Vice Chairperson 
Susan Dechovitz 

 
 

Members 
Manuel P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Ed Feller 
Robert Johnson 
Brian E. Keeley 

M. Narendra Kini 
Marisel Losa 

Steven Marcus 
Ana Mederos 
Linda Quick 

Steven Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 
Donna Shalala 

Steven Sonenreich 
 
 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/audit
or/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-4573 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 
 

Appendix B

B-6

mailto:spalmer@miamidade.gov�


Meeting of Thursday, May 12, 2011 at 3:00 p.m. 
  

HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE TASKFORCE (HGT) 
Miami-Dade County Health Department 

Center of Excellence 
8600 NW 17th Street 

Miami, FL  33126 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

  
 
 
 
 
 

I. ROLL CALL 
 
 

II. OPENING  REMARKS - Chairperson Juan C. Zapata 
 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Meeting of April 28, 2011 
 

 
IV. WORKING  ITEM  

 
Edit/Approve Final Report  

 
 

V. OTHER MATTERS 
 
 

VI. CLOSING REMARKS -  Chairperson  Juan C. Zapata 
 

 
VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

 

HGT 
Miami-Dade County  
Hospital Governance 

Taskforce 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
Juan C. Zapata 

 
 

Vice Chairperson 
Susan Dechovitz 

 
 

Members 
Manuel P. Anton, III 

Martha Baker 
Michael Barron 

Jose Cancela 
Lee Chaykin 

Edward J. Feller 
Robert Johnson 
Brian E. Keeley 

M. Narendra Kini 
Marisel Losa 

Steven Marcus 
Ana Mederos 
Linda Quick 

Steven Pinkert 
Sharon Pontious 
Lillian Rivera 
Donna Shalala 

Steven Sonenreich 
 
 
 

Website:  
http://www.miamidade.gov/audit
or/hospital_governance.asp 
 
 
 

Staff Contact: 
S. Donna Palmer, Coordinator 

Office of the Commission Auditor 
(305) 375-4573 

spalmer@miamidade.gov 
 

Appendix B

B-7

mailto:spalmer@miamidade.gov�


This page intentionally blank 

Appendix B

B-8



Appendix C

C-1



Appendix C

C-2



Appendix C

C-3



Appendix C

C-4



Appendix C

C-5



Appendix C

C-6



Appendix C

C-7



Appendix C

C-8



Appendix C

C-9



Appendix C

C-10



Appendix C

C-11



Appendix C

C-12



Appendix C

C-13



Appendix C

C-14



Appendix C

C-15



Appendix C

C-16



Appendix C

C-17



Appendix C

C-18



Appendix C

C-19



Appendix C

C-20



Appendix C

C-21



Appendix C

C-22



Appendix C

C-23



Appendix C

C-24



Appendix C

C-25



Appendix C

C-26



Appendix C

C-27



Appendix C

C-28



Appendix C

C-29



Appendix C

C-30



Appendix C

C-31



Appendix C

C-32



Appendix C

C-33



Appendix C

C-34



Appendix C

C-35



Appendix C

C-36



Appendix C

C-37



Appendix C

C-38



Appendix C

C-39



Appendix C

C-40



Appendix C

C-41



Appendix C

C-42



Appendix C

C-43



Appendix C

C-44



Appendix C

C-45



Appendix C

C-46



Appendix C

C-47



Appendix C

C-48



Appendix C

C-49



Appendix C

C-50



LIST OF TRUST DECISIONS SUBJECT TO THE COMMISSION’S APPROVAL (PRIOR OR SUBSEQUENT) OR   
   THE COMMISSION’S OVERRIDE 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

1.   BYLAWS--The Board of Trustees is empowered to make, adopt and amend the Bylaws of the Trust, but the 
Bylaws and amendments are not effective until approved by the Commission.  Sec. 25A-3(f). 

2.  COUNTY ORDINANCES—Broadly speaking, the Trust cannot take any action that is inconsistent with Ordinances 
of the County.  Sec. 25A-3(f). 

3.  CONTRACTS GENERALLY—The Trust cannot enter into or amend a contract that requires the expenditure of 
funds in excess of amounts appropriated in the contractual services category of the County budget, without the 
prior approval of the Commission.  Sec. 25A-4(c)(1). 

4.  UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI BASIC AFFILIATION AGREEMENT--The Trust cannot change the contractual relationship 
with the U.M., without the prior approval of the Commission.  Sec. 25A-4(c)(2). 

5.  HEALTHCARE DELIVERY POLICIES--The Trust cannot substantially change the healthcare delivery policies set by 
the Commission.  Sec. 25A-4(c)(3). 

6.  COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS—The Trust negotiates the Collective Bargaining Agreements with 
Unions, but the agreements cannot take effect until approved by Commission.  Sec. 25A-4(c)(4). 

7.  REAL ESTATE—The Trust cannot acquire real property, without the prior approval of the Commission and the 
title to such real property must be taken in the name of the County.  In addition, the Commission can declassify 
real property that had been made designated facilities of the Trust and, subject to the prior approval of the 
Commission, the Trust can accept gifts of real estate.  Secs. 25A-4(d), 25A-2, and 25A-4(h). 

8.  REAL ESTATE--Trust cannot sell, convey, mortgage, or encumber title to real estate.  Sec. 25A-4(d). 

9.  DEMOLITION OF FACILITIES—The Trust cannot destroy, replace or abandon real estate, without the prior 
approval of the Commission.  Sec. 25A-4(d). 

10.  NAMING  COUNTY BUILDINGS—The Trust cannot name buildings without Commission approval.  BCC Rule 
9.02. 

11.  PERSONNEL POLICIES--The Trust personnel policies are effective, unless overridden by the Commission.  Sec. 
25A-4(e).  

12.  DIRECTIVES--The Commission can require the Trust by resolution to take or not take certain action.  Sec. 25A-
4(j). 

13.  BUDGET, BORROWING AND BONDS—The Commission must approve the Trust’s budget prior to 
implementation and the Trust’s borrowing of money.  Also, the Trust cannot issue bonds but can request the 
Commission to do so.  Sec. 25A-5. 

14.  ENABLING STATUTE—The Commission has the power under Chapter 154, Part II, to amend Chapter 25A to 
limit the enumerated powers or to totally revoke the statutory trust enabled by Chapter 154, Part II.  Sec. 154.11, 
Fla. Stat.   

Appendix D

D-1



This page intentionally blank 

Appendix D

D-2



Appendix E

E-1



Appendix E

E-2



Appendix F

F-1



Appendix F

F-2



Appendix F

F-3



This page intentionally blank 

Appendix F

F-4



Appendix G

G-1



Appendix G

G-2



Appendix G

G-3



Appendix G

G-4



Appendix G

G-5



Appendix G

G-6



Appendix G

G-7



Appendix G

G-8



Appendix G

G-9



Appendix G

G-10



Appendix G

G-11



Appendix G

G-12



Appendix H

H-1



Appendix H

H-2



Appendix H

H-3



This page intentionally blank 

Appendix H

H-4



Background Information 
Boston Medical Center (BMC), Boston, MA 

 
Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
Ownership: Private nonprofit 
Governance change: 
− In July 1966, two Boston public hospitals (one acute; one long-term care that was closed in 90 days 

by the agreement) and a private, non- profit hospital (Boston University Medical Center Hospital 
that was on the campus of but not owned by Boston University) consolidated to form the new, non-
profit Boston Medical Center; change required state legislative changes. 

− Boston Public Health Commission, a seven-member board, created by the same legislation to 
provide for public health responsibilities. 

Governance: BMC Board of Trustees  
Operation: Private nonprofit 
Mission: 
− Academic medical center and the primary teaching affiliate for Boston University School of 

Medicine 
− Largest safety net hospital in New England and reaches into the community as a founding partner 

of Boston HealthNet, a network of 15 community health centers through Boston serving more than 
a quarter million people annually.( In 1997 provided $146 million in free care to vulnerable 
population)  

− Largest 24-hour Level I trauma center in New England 
− Boston Medical Center is a recognized leader in groundbreaking medical research. Boston Medical 

Center 
− More than $126 million in sponsored research funding in 2010, and oversees 581 research and 

service projects separate from research activities at Boston University School of Medicine 
− Mission to provide exceptional care, without exception 
Beds:  639 (per 2009 Annual Report & BMC website) 
Employees:  5,121 (per 2011 AHA Guide) 
Clinics:   Founding partner of 15 Community Health Centers 
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
Sunshine:  No  Sovereign Immunity:  No 
 
Hospital or Health System: Hospital 
− Founding partner of Boston HealthNet, a network of 15 community health centers through Boston 

serving more than a quarter million people annually. 
 
Board and Autonomy:  30 Trustees 
− 10 appointed by the mayor of Boston 
− 10 were appointed by the board of the nonprofit hospital in the merger 
− 6 ex officio members 
− 4 senior officials or physicians appointed by neighborhood health centers in Boston HealthNet 
 
Financial Relationship with County/City:  Limited; debt service on City of Boston owned property 
 
Budget Approval 
− Operating:  Trustees. Capital:  ? 

 

Appendix I

I-1



Background Information 
Boston Medical Center (BMC), Boston, MA 

 
Assets 
− Some BMC/some City of Boston 
− Includes physical plant 90 year lease from City of Boston (Boston Public Health Service 

Commission) 
 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes; primary academic teaching hospital for Boston University School of 
Medicine 
 
Independence:  ? 
 
Medical Staff 
− Staffing:  1,300 Physicians 
− Physicians’ compensation for indigent care:  ? 
− Physicians’ compensation for teaching:  ? 
 
Unions 
− 10 bargaining units, 4 unions 
− Labor contracts are not civil service 

 
Unfunded Care 
− How funded, percent funded, & limits:  ? 
− Contract with local government to fund indigent care:  ? 
− Federal and/or state funding:  For indigent care via various mechanisms 
 
Payor Mix 
− 50% Low-income – Medicaid/Health Safety Net Pool (compensated uninsured) 
− 30% Medicare 
− 20% Commercial, self-pay & others 

 
Revenues 
BMC fiscal year ending September 30, 2009 (per BMC 2009 Annual Report) 
− Medicare  ? 
− Medicaid   ? 
− Charity Care  ? 
− Net Patient Revenue $874 million 
− Grants & Contract Revenue $82 million 
− Other Revenue $37 million 
− Total Operating Revenue $993 million 
 
Expenses 
BMC fiscal year ending September 30, 2009 (per BMC 2009 Annual Report) 
− Salaries, Wages and Benefits $440 million 
− Total Operating Expenses $1,017 million 
 
Loss from Operations (per BMC 2009 Annual Report):  $25 million 

Appendix I

I-2



Background Information 
Cook County Health and Hospitals System (CCHHS), Chicago, IL 

 

 
 

Legal Structure, Governing, and Mission 
Ownership: Government (Cook County, IL) 
Governance: 11-member Cook County Health & Hospitals System (CCHHS) Board of 

Directors 
Governance Change: ? 
Operation: Government (CCHHS Board of Directors) 
Mission Provide a comprehensive program of quality health care with respect and 

dignity, to the residents of Cook County, regardless of their ability to pay. 
Beds: 895 
Employees: 6,319 full time employees 
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
− Sunshine: Yes Sovereign Immunity: No (see note below) 
Note:  CCHHS is included in Cook County self-insurance program.  Individuals/patients could 
sue the health system for malpractice.  However, the County Code requires the County to defend 
and indemnify patient care personnel, public health practitioners (including physicians), the 
Nominating Committee and the CCHHS Board of Directors, with specified exceptions.  
 
Hospital or Health System:  Health System 
− John H. Stroger, Jr. Hospital (Flagship Institution).  Includes 464 beds, 400 residents and 

fellows, 300 attending physicians; anchored by 228 medical/surgical beds, with dedicated 
units for obstetrics, pediatrics intensive care, neonatal intensive care, and burns; 40% of the 
hospital’s space is used for outpatient care, specialty diagnosis and treatment. 

− Provident Hospital 
− Oak Forest Hospital 
− 16 Ambulatory and Community Health Network Clinics 
− Cook County Department of Public Health 
− Cermak Health Services (correctional health care) 
− Rothstein CORE Center 

Note:  Each of the systems is lead by a Chief Operating Officer (COO).  
 
Board and Autonomy 
− 11-member CCHHS Board of Directors with appointed Directors limited to no more than 

two consecutive five-year terms 
− Accountable to: Cook County Board of County Commissioners 
− Nomination & selection:  Cook County Board of Commissioners created a Nominating 

Committee of distinguished professionals, which selected 20 individuals from which the 
Chairman of the Board selected 11 for final consideration by the Board of County 
Commissioners. One of the 11 Directors shall be the Chairperson of the Health and Hospitals 
Committee of the County Board and shall serve as an ex officio member with voting rights. 

− County Commissioners approve annual operating & capital budget, real estate transactions 
above a certain limit ($100K), and other transactions above $1 million.  

− The CCHHS Board of Directors has authority to set salaries and compensation for executives 
and physicians. 

 

Appendix I

I-3



Background Information 
Cook County Health and Hospitals System (CCHHS), Chicago, IL 

 

 
 

Financial Relationship with County/City 
− 2009 CAFR shows CCHHS revenues  a proprietary fund of Cook County 
− Taxing Authority: No, CCHHS does not have authority to increase taxes, request for tax 

increases to support the health system are submitted to Cook County Board of 
Commissioners. 

− Percentage of Operating Funds from State/Local Government:  ? 
− Percentage of Operating Revenue received from City/County (Taxes): 39.6% ($452.9 

million) 
 

Budget Approval:  
− Operating Budget: Cook County Board of Commissioners 
− Capital Budget:  Cook County Board of Commissioners 
 
Assets Ownership:  Cook County owns the facilities/assets 
 
Teaching Hospital 
− John H. Stroger, Jr. Hospital (Flagship Institution):  Yes; has an academic affiliation with 

Rush Medical College for both undergraduate and graduate medical education, 
RFUMS(Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science) / The Chicago Medical 
School, and the Chicago College of Osteopathic Medicine for medical rotations. 

− Provident Hospital: No 
− Oak Forest Hospital:  No 
 
Independence 
− Labor Contracts (Authority to approve): Board of Commissioners (Cook County)  
− Executive Compensation (Authority to approve): Health System Governing Board 
 
Medical Staff/General Staff 
− General Staff/Full Time: 6,319 employees 
− Part Time: 676 employees 
 
Unions: 
− Hospitals and Health Care Employee Union 
− SEIU 73  
− Doctors Council 
− NNOC – (National Nursing Organization Council) 
Note:  These unions include more than 60% of the health system workers 
 
Unfunded Care:  
− How funded, percentage funded, & limits:  ? 
− Contract with local government to fund indigent care:  ? 
− Federal and/or state funding:  ? 
− Value of Uncompensated Care: $321.3 million (FY ended November 30, 2009) 
− Subsidies from Cook County:  $217 million (based on budget plans for 2011) 
 

Appendix I

I-4



Background Information 
Cook County Health and Hospitals System (CCHHS), Chicago, IL 

 

 
 

Payor Mix (FY 2009) 
− Medicare:  9 % 
− Medicaid: 32% 
− Other: 7% 
− Self-Pay: 52% 
 
Revenues 
− Medicare: $56.6 million (9%) 
− Medicaid: $201.4 million (32%) 
− Other: $44 million (7%) 
− Self Pay: $327.3 million (52%) 

 
Total Operating Revenues – $629,542,075 ($599.5 million from net patient revenue) 
 
Non Operating Revenues (from tax sources) - $452,968,729 
− Sources of Non-Operating Revenue:   

Property Taxes $138,561,251 
Sales Taxes  $285,027,113 
Cigarette Taxes $29,380,365 

− Percentage of revenues from City/County:  39 % 
Note:  Sales tax support scheduled to be rolled back to 1.25% on July 1, 2011 

Appendix I

I-5



Background Information 
Los Angeles County (LAC) Department of Health Services (DHS) 

 
 
Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
 
Ownership:  Los Angeles County, CA 
  
Governance:  Government, Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors 
 
Governance Change:  None, but LA County has a conducted or been the subject of a substantial 
number of studies of health system governance.  For example, a 2004-2005 Los Angeles County Civil 
Grand Jury report provided in-depth analysis on creating a hospital authority to replace DHS. 
 
DHS Executive Team: 
− Mitchell H. Katz, M.D., Director 
− John F. Schunhoff, Ph.D., Chief Deputy Director 
− Vivian C. Branchick, RN, MS, Chief Nursing Officer & Director of Nursing Affairs 
− Cheri Todoroff, MPH, Deputy Director, Planning & Program Oversight  
− Nina Park, M.D, Interim Chief Medical Officer, Division of Ambulatory/Managed Care 
− Kevin Lynch, MS, Chief Information Officer 
− Gregory Polk, MPA, Administrative Deputy 

Mission: 
− Ensure access to high-quality, patient-centered, cost-effective health care to Los Angeles County 

residents through direct services at DHS facilities and through collaboration with community and 
university partners.  DHS has an annual budget of $4 billion and about 20,000 employees. 

− The Los Angeles County Department of Health Services (DHS) is the second largest public health 
system in the nation.  DHS serves the healthcare needs of nearly 10 million residents.  DHS 
provides acute and rehabilitative patient care, trains physicians and other health care clinicians, and 
conducts patient care-related research. 

− DHS also operates the Los Angeles County's Emergency Medical Services Agency and is 
responsible for planning, monitoring, and evaluating the local EMS system. L.A. County's EMS 
agency is the largest multi-jurisdictional EMS system in the country with more than 18,000 
certified EMS personnel employed by fire departments, law enforcement, ambulance companies, 
hospitals, and private organizations to provide lifesaving services 24/7. 

 
Beds:  In FY 2010-11, DHS has a total of 1,469 budgeted beds. 
 
Employees:  In FY 2010-11, DHS has 20,248 in budgeted positions in areas such as research, clinical 
care, human resources, information technology, finance, and more.  As of February 2011, the number 
of Full-Time Equivalents (FTEs) in DHS is 17,423. 
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity:  Dr. Schunhoff to address 
 
Hospital or Health System: Health System 
− Four hospitals:  LAC+USC Healthcare Network,  Harbor-UCLA Medical Center,  VallyCare Olive 

View-UCLA Medical Center, and Rancho Los Amigos National Rehabilitation Center. 
− Two multi-service ambulatory care centers - High Desert Health System and Martin Luther King, Jr. 
− Six comprehensive health centers, multiple health centers throughout the Los Angeles County, 

many in partnership with private, community-based providers, and numerous health clinics.

Appendix I

I-6



Background Information 
Los Angeles County (LAC) Department of Health Services (DHS) 

 
Board, Selection, and Autonomy:  Dr. Schunhoff to address 
 
Financial Relationship with County/City:   
− DHS is 100% owned/operated by the County of Los Angeles 
− Over $640 million was budgeted as General Fund operating subsidies for the Hospital Enterprise 

Funds in the adopted FY 2010-11 County budget. 
 

Budget Approval: Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors 
 
Assets:  County owns facilities. 
 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes. 
− University of Southern California School of Medicine 
− UCLA School of Medicine 
− Charles R. Drew University of Medicine and Science 

 
Independence:  Dr. Schunhoff to address 
− Labor Contracts and Compensation:  ? 
− Contracting Authority for Goods and Services:  ? 
 
Medical Staff:  Dr. Schunhoff to address 
− Staffing:  ? 
− Physicians’ compensation for indigent care:  ? 
− Physicians’ compensation for teaching:   ? 
 
Unions:  Dr. Schunhoff to address 
 
Unfunded Care:  DHS serves as the major provider of healthcare for the more than two million 
county residents without health insurance and provides the majority of all uncompensated medical care 
in the county. 
 

Federal * 38.9% 
State ** 22.2% 
County *** 38.9% 
     Total 100.0% 

 
Payor Mix 
 

 
 
Patient Mix 

 
Hospitals - 
Inpatient 

 
Hospitals - 
Outpatient 

Multi-service 
Ambulatory 
Care Centers 

Comprehensive 
& Community 
Health Centers 

Medi-Cal 43.1% 23.9% 20.5% 10.9% 
Uninsured 41.4% 49.0% 62.6% 73.7% 
Medicare 8.2% 8.8% 6.0% 2.9% 
Other Third Party 6.3% 10.5% 7.2% 3.9% 
Other Payor 1.0% 7.8% 3.7% 8.6% 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Appendix I

I-7



Background Information 
Los Angeles County (LAC) Department of Health Services (DHS) 

 
 
Revenues 
 
FY 2011 Budget: 
− The adopted FY 2010-11 budget included $640 million as an “Operating Subsidy – General Fund” 

for the Hospital Enterprise Funds. 
− At the time the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors adopted the Department of Health 

Services' (DHS) FY 2010-11 Final Budget on September 28, 2010, the budget included an 
unsolved deficit of $253.3 million. 

− Based on the latest DHS Fiscal Outlook update presented to the Board of Supervisors on March 29, 
2011, the current FY 2010-11 estimated shortfall is now $68.8 million. 

− The majority of the funding solutions come from various elements of the new Waiver. 
− DHS continues to work with the County Chief Executive Office to resolve the remaining deficit for 

FY 2010-11. 
 
LA County Reports on Health System Governance 
− LA County has conducted or been the subject of a substantial number of studies of health system 

governance.  For example, a 2004-2005 Los Angeles County Civil Grand Jury report provided in-
depth analysis of creating a hospital authority. 

− The below list of reports was extracted from the DHS Office of Planning and Analysis webpage.  It 
is available online by following the “DHS Governance Reports” link on the webpage, 
http://www.ladhs.org/wps/portal/Planning. 

 
  

Office of Planning and Analysis - DHS Governance Reports    

• Los Angeles County Civil Grand Jury 2004-2005 Final Report: Health Authority Subcommittee 
findings pp. 43-165  

• LAC Chief Administrative Office Health Authority Blue Print: Additional Information -- 6/28/05  
• LAC Chief Administrative Office Health Authority Blue Print: Preliminary Report -- 4/18/05  
• Hospital Association of Southern California: Health Care Authority Brief -- 6/6/03  
• USC: Analysis of Alternate Governance for LAC Department of Health Services -- May 2003  
• LAC Ad Hoc Hearing Body on Governance: Final Report -- 2/5/02  
• LAC Chief Administrative Office: Action Plan for Conversion to Alternative Governance Models -- 

2/1/02  
• LAC Chief Administrative Office: Governance of the Department of Health Service -- 8/29/01  
• LAC Health Crisis Manager: Governance of the Department of Health Services -- 12/12/95  

Other Public Health Governance Reports  

• Hennepin County Medical Center Governance Transition Committee Reports  
• National Association of Public Hospital Safety Net Hospitals: Governance - Issue Brief -- Sept. 

2003  
• American College of Healthcare Executives: Governance Change for Public Hospitals--1999  

 

    

 

Appendix I

I-8



Grady Memorial Health System (GMHS), Atlanta, GA 

Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
Ownership: Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority 
− The Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority (FDHA) was created to oversee the operations of Grady 

Health System. 
− Consists of 10 members. The Fulton County Board of Commissioners appoints seven members and 

the DeKalb County Board of Commissioners appoints three members.1 
− Term: Staggered terms of four years 
Governance: Private nonprofit corporation (Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation) 
Operation:  Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation Board of Directors 
− In January 2008, a coalition of state and community leaders agreed to create the Grady Memorial 

Hospital Corporation, a nonprofit corporation charged with administering the hospital; members of 
a new seventeen-member board were announced in March 2008. 

− In response to the board's fund-raising campaign to raise $100 million for the hospital, the Robert 
W. Woodruff Foundation pledged $200 million over four years, and the medical insurance 
company Kaiser Permanente pledged $5 million. 

Governance change: 
− Originally owned by the two Georgia counties: Fulton and DeKalb. 
− In January 2008, a coalition of state and community leaders agreed to create the Grady Memorial 

Hospital Corporation, a nonprofit corporation charged with administering the hospital, and in 
March members of a new seventeen-member board were announced. 

− In response to the board's fund-raising campaign to raise $100 million for the hospital, the Robert 
W. Woodruff Foundation pledged $200 million over four years, and the medical insurance 
company Kaiser Permanente pledged $5 million. 

− Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation (GMHC) is a nonprofit corporation established to oversee 
the operations of Grady Health System under a 40 year lease. 

Mission: 
− Grady improves the health of the community by providing quality, comprehensive healthcare in a 

compassionate, culturally competent, ethical and fiscally responsible manner. 
− Grady maintains its commitment to the underserved of Fulton and DeKalb counties, while also 

providing care for residents of metro Atlanta and Georgia. Grady leads through its clinical 
excellence, innovative research and progressive medical education and training. 

− Excellence — Grady Health System strives for the highest quality in all that we do. The art and 
science of health require a commitment to lifelong learning and professionalism. 

− Customer Service — Grady Health System is motivated by a sincere concern for the well-being of 
all people and we will strive to serve everyone with dignity, respect and compassion. 

− Ethics — Grady Health System will maintain the highest ethical standards through its actions and 
decision. 

− Teamwork — Grady Health System cultivates an environment of communication, respect, trust and 
collaboration. 

− Commitment — Grady Health System is motivated by pride and dedication, determined to achieve 
goals of the organization and willing to give our best efforts at all times. 

 
Beds: 953 
Employees: 4,850 (excluding Physicians) 
Physicians: 1,100 (including residents) 
Neighborhood Health Centers: 8 
                                                            
1 Source: Fulton‐Dekalb Hospital Authority website, http://www.gradyhealth.org/fdha.html 

Appendix I

I-9



Grady Memorial Health System (GMHS), Atlanta, GA 

 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
Sunshine: Yes Sovereign Immunity: No 
 
Hospital or Health System: Healthcare system 
− Grady Health System is one of the largest public health systems in the United States. Grady 

consists of the 953-bed Grady Memorial Hospital, eight neighborhood health centers, Crestview 
Health & Rehabilitation Center - and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta at Hughes Spalding, which 
is operated as a Children's affiliate. 

 
Board  Selection and Autonomy 
− Consists of 17 members.  
− Staggered terms of one to three years. 
− Selection from a pool of candidates from nomination committee and serving Board Members. 

 
Financial Relationship with County/City 
GMHS is on 40-year leasehold interest from Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority. 
− GMHS is a Private Nonprofit. 
− Percentage of operating funds from County:  
− FY 2009  FY 2010 
− $56.8. Million  $52.9 million 
−  
Budget Approval 
− Independent of the County. 

 
Assets:    
− Owned by the county.  Sales or subleasing requires approval from County. 
− GMHS capital assets are on 40-year leasehold from Fulton County 

 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes 
− Grady is an internationally recognized teaching hospital staffed exclusively by doctors from Emory 

University and Morehouse schools of medicine. 
 

Independence: 
−  No labor unions. 
− Contracting Authority for Goods and Services:  GMHS Board of Directors 

 
Medical Staff 
− Physicians are staff of Emory University and Morehouse schools of medicine. 
− Nurses are GMHS employees. 
− Physicians’ compensation for indigent care.(Handled  by the Group Billings) 
− GMHS has yearly contractual amount it pays to the medical schools that enables the physicians to 

provides services to GMHS Patients whether insure or not. 
− Physicians’ compensation for teaching is handled by the medical schools 
− GMHS contracts with the medical schools that covers yearly pay(an agreed contractual amount) 

 
Unions:  No 

Appendix I

I-10



Grady Memorial Health System (GMHS), Atlanta, GA 

 
Unfunded Care 
− How funded, percent funded, & limits: 
− Contract with local government to fund indigent care:  The two counties, Fulton and DeKalb, 

provide some funding; in 2010:  Fulton $68 million & DeKalb $18 million. 
− Federal- Disproportionate share hospital funds DSH Fund 
− State funding:  No. 
 
Payor Mix FY 2009 FY 2010 
− Medicare 16.6% 17.2% 
− Medicaid 33.0% 32.4% 
− Insurance 16.8% ? 
− Uninsured 33.6% 34.4% 

 
Revenues FY 2009 FY 2010 
− Net Non Operating revenue $17.8 million 10.9 million 
− Net Patient service Revenue-  $270.2 million $293.6 million 
−    Total Operating Revenues - $387.6 million $420.5 million 
−    Indigent Care Trust Fund Rev. $54.2 million $60.1 million 
−    Grant & Other revenue- $63.2 million $68.8 million 
−    County Support $56.8 million $52.9 million 

 
Expenses FY 2009 FY 2010 
− Salary and Wages $297.4 million ? 
− Contractual Payments $3.4 million $4.1 million 
− Total Operating Expenses $473.8 million $478.4 million 
 
Loss from Operations FY 2009 
− Loss  $11.5 million 

Appendix I

I-11



Background Information 
Harborview Medical Center (HMC), Seattle, WA 

 

 

Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
Ownership: King County, WA 
Governance: Harborview Board of Trustees; HMC is a separate legal entity having its own 

corporate powers1 
Operation: University of Washington (contracted) 
Mission: 
− One of two academic medical centers in UW Medicine health-care system 
− The only Level I adult and pediatric trauma and burn center serving Washington, Alaska, Montana 

and Idaho 
− Offers highly specialized services, such as trauma and burn care, as well as neurosurgery, eye care, 

vascular, rehabilitation, sleep medicine and spine care 
− Primary mission is to provide and teach exemplary patient care and demonstrate an unwavering 

commitment to those patients and programs for the priority population groups identified by King 
County (including: incarcerated persons, mentally ill, STDs, trauma, and others).  It also is the 
Disaster Control Hospital for Seattle and King County. 

Beds:  413 
Employees:  4,432 (UW employees) 
Clinics: 
− Center of Neurosciences  
− Center of Trauma  
− Center of Burn care  
− Center of Reconstruction and rehabilitation  
− Orthopaedics  
− Global health  
− Sleep medicine  
− Sports and spine care  
− Vision and eye care  
− Vascular surgery  
− Center of Mental health, substance abuse and chronic medical disease  
− Center of AIDS/sexually transmitted diseases  
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
Sunshine:  Yes Sovereign Immunity:  Not for staff (which are UW) 
 
Hospital or Health System: Hospital 
− Part of UW Medicine health-care system, which also includes UW Medical Center, the UW School 

of Medicine, UW Neighborhood Clinics, Northwest Hospital & Medical Center and Airlift 
Northwest, an emergency air transport service that serves the region. 

 
Board and Autonomy 
− 13 Trustees appointed by elected County Executive and confirmed by Council 
− 4-year terms (maximum of 3 terms) 
− “Trustees determine major institutional policies and retain control of programs and fiscal 

matters...accountable to the public and King County for all financial aspects of HMC’s operations 
                                                            
1 Note 1 to King County, Washington, Financial Statements, December 31, 2009 

Appendix I

I-12



Background Information 
Harborview Medical Center (HMC), Seattle, WA 

 

 

and agree to maintain a fiscal policy that keeps the operating program and expenditures of HMC 
within the limits of operating income.” 1 

− “County cannot impose its will on HMC.” 1 
 
Financial Relationship with County/City 
− HMC pays annual rent to King County for facilities 
− 2009 CAFR shows HMC revenues to King County of $6.1 million 
− Per King County Prosecuting Attorney’s Office, HMC does have taxing authority but was not 

being exercised; King County does not pay for indigent care 
− Percentage of operating funds from County: ? 
 
Budget Approval 
− Operating:  Trustees. Capital:  County approval for bonds 

 
Assets:  County owns facilities. 
 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes; one of two academic medical centers in UW Medicine health-care system. 
UW manages HMC under contract. 
 
Independence: 
− Labor Contracts and Compensation:  Staff are UW employees. 
− Contracting Authority for Goods and Services:  HMC Board of Trustees 
− See “Boards and Autonomy” section on previous page. 
 
Medical Staff 
− Staff:  Are UW employees 
− Physicians’ compensation for indigent care:  ? 
− Physicians’ compensation for teaching:  ? 
 
Unions 
− Hospitals and Health Care Employee Union 
− SEIU 1199 Northwest 

 
Unfunded Care 
− How funded, percent funded, & limits:   
− Contract with local government to fund indigent care:  
− Federal and/or state funding:   
 
Payor Mix ($ in millions) 
Categories Amounts Percentage 
Inpatient Revenue $1,015 70.8% 
Outpatient Revenue $418 29.2% 
    Medicare     $236     16.5% 
    Medicaid     $209     14.6% 
    Charity Care      $155     10.8% 
    Other     $203     14.2% 

Appendix I

I-13



Background Information 
Harborview Medical Center (HMC), Seattle, WA 

 

 

Total Patient Services Revenue     $1,433 100% 
 
Revenues 
HMC fiscal year ending June 30, 2010 
− Medicare – $236 million 
− Medicaid – $209 million 
− Charity Care – $155 million 
− Inpatient Revenue – $1.015 million 
− Outpatient Revenue – $418 million 
− Total Patient Services Revenue – $1.432 million 
− Total Operating Revenue – $767 million 
 
FY 2011 King County Budget 
− HMC - Sexual Assault Survivor Services: $127,627 
− HMC - Building Repair & Remodel: $10,221,299 (Capital) 
− Jail Health Services: $24,722,964 (GF; not listed as revenue to HMC) 
− Jail Health Services (Mental Health & Drug Dependency):  $3,250,372 

Appendix I

I-14



Background Information 
Health Care District of Palm Beach County (HCDPB), West Palm Beach, FL 

 

 

Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
Ownership: Health care district 
Governance change: The Palm Beach County Health Care District (HCDPB) was created by Chapter 

87-450, Laws of Florida, as amended, and approved by voter referendum in 
1988 as a county-wide health care district to provide comprehensive planning, 
funding, and coordination of health care delivery for indigent and medically 
needy residents of Palm Beach County.  The referendum provided authority for 
ad valorem millage rate of up to 3 mils; in 2010, the millage rate was 1.1451. 

Governance: Health Care District Board of Commissioners 
Operation: Health care district 
Mission: Ensure access to a comprehensive health care system and the delivery of quality 

services for the residents of Palm Beach County. 
− Saving lives in the “Golden Hour” through the integrated Trauma System  
− Covering the uninsured with programs such as Vita Health and Maternity 

Care  
− Keeping children healthy by staffing registered nurses in the public schools  
− Offering skilled nursing care at the Edward J. Healey Rehabilitation and 

Nursing Center  
− Providing acute care in underserved areas through Lakeside Medical Center 

on the southern shores of Lake Okeechobee 
Beds:  70 
Employees:  1,000 total 
Clinics:   None directly operated by HCDPB 
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
Sunshine:  Yes Sovereign Immunity:  Yes, but only at District owned facilities 
 
Hospital or Health System: Health System 
− Integrated Trauma System 

o Two Level II trauma centers (Tenet owned and operated, St. Mary's Medical Center & Delray 
Medical Center).  These are paid to maintain staff and service levels required to maintain 
“trauma” designation, and then also reimbursed for “eligible” trauma patients.   

o Air ambulances 
− Uninsured with programs, such as Vita Health and Maternity Care  These operate like health plans, 

reimbursing hospitals and doctors for services rendered to “eligible” patients. 
− Registered nurses in public schools 
− Skilled nursing care at the Edward J. Healey Rehabilitation and Nursing Center 
− Acute care in underserved areas through Lakeside Medical Center on the southern shores of Lake 

Okeechobee 
 

Board and Autonomy:  HCDPB Board of Commissioners (7) 
− 3 members of the Board are appointed by the County’s Board of County Commissioners 
− 3 members of the Board are appointed by the Governor of the State of Florida 
− 1 member is the Director of the State’s Department of Health for Palm Beach County 
− Maximum of two consecutive 4-year terms 
  

Appendix I

I-15



Background Information 
Health Care District of Palm Beach County (HCDPB), West Palm Beach, FL 

 

 

Financial Relationship with County/City:  Independent taxing district. 
 
Budget Approval 
− Operating:  HCDPB Board of Commissioners Capital:  HCDPB Board of Commissioners 
− Referendum that established HCDPB in 1988 authorized levying up to 3 mils in ad valorem taxes. 
 
Assets 
− Land and construction in progress: $35 million 
− Depreciable capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation: $71.73 million 
 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes 
 
Independence:  Yes 
 
Medical Staff 
− Staffing:  about 80 
− Physicians’ compensation for indigent care:  Yes 
− Physicians’ compensation for teaching:  Yes 
 
Unions : No. 

 
Unfunded Care 
− How funded, percent funded, & limits:  HCDPB is the agency that funds indigent care. 
− Contract with local government to fund indigent care:  HCDPB is the agency that funds indigent 

care. 
− Federal and/or state funding:  Yes 
 
Payor Mix 
 
Governmental Funds Enterprise (Proprietary) Funds 
68% Ad Valorem Taxes 38.5% Charges for Services-Lakeside Medical Center 
32% Other, which consists of the following: 28.9% Charges for Services-Healthy Palm Beaches 

5.7% Grants 17.3% Operating Grants 
4.4% Investments/Other 10.0% Charges for Services-Healey Center 

21.9% Charges for Services 5.3% Interest and Other 
 

  

Appendix I

I-16



Background Information 
Health Care District of Palm Beach County (HCDPB), West Palm Beach, FL 

 

 

Revenues 
HCDPB fiscal year ending September 30, 2010 (per HCDPB 2010 CAFR) 
 
 Governmental Funds Proprietary 

(Enterprise) Funds 
Total Revenues 

Ad Valorem Taxes $155,579,316   
Intergovernmental $9,130,674   
Charges for services $3,438,200   
Capital Grant $915,000   
Investment and Other 
Income 

$7,794,477   

Total Governmental 
Revenues 

  $176,857,667 

Net Patient Service 
Revenues 

 $55,701,061  

Other, Net  $2,822,338  
Total Proprietary 
(Operating) Revenues 

  $58,523,399 

Total Governmental and Proprietary Revenues $235,381,066 
 
Expenses 
HCDPB fiscal year ending September 30, 2010 (per HCDPB 2010 CAFR) 
− Total Governmental Expenses: $150 million 
− Total Proprietary (Operating) Expenses: $82 million 
 
Loss from Operations (per HCDPB 2010 CAFR, the operating loss is from the proprietary funds): 
− $24 million 

Appendix I

I-17



Background Information 
Tampa General Hospital (TGH), Tampa, FL 

 
Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
Ownership:  Private non-profit (Florida Health Sciences Center, Inc., d.b.a. Tampa General) 
Governance:  TGH Board of Directors 
Governance Change: 
− From hospital authority to a new non-profit under terms of a lease (1997) 
− The Hillsborough County Hospital Authority is created and governed by Special Act of the 

legislature, Chapter 96-449, Laws of Florida, as amended. Until October 1, 1997, the Authority 
owned and operated Tampa General Hospital. On October 1, 1997, Florida Health Sciences 
Center, Inc., assumed responsibility for owning and operating Tampa General Hospital pursuant 
to a Lease Agreement entered into with the Authority. Since the Authority no longer operates the 
hospital, its mission has evolved into a monitoring role in connection with the Lease and a 
commitment to the provision of health services to indigent citizens of Hillsborough County.1 

Operation:  Private non-profit 
Mission:  TGH is the area’s only level I trauma center and one of just four burn centers in Florida. 
With five medical helicopters we are able to transport critically injured or ill patients from 23 
surrounding counties to receive the advanced care they need. The hospital is home to one of the 
leading organ transplant centers in the country, having performed more than 6,000 adult solid organ 
transplants, including the state’s first successful heart transplant in 1985. TGH is a state-certified 
comprehensive stroke center, and its 32-bed Neuroscience Intensive Care Unit is the largest on the 
west coast of Florida. Other outstanding centers include cardiovascular, orthopedics, high risk and 
normal obstetrics, urology, ENT, endocrinology, and the Children's Medical Center, which features a 
nine-bed pediatric intensive care unit and one of just three outpatient pediatric dialysis units in the 
state. As the region's leading safety net hospital, Tampa General is committed to providing area 
residents with excellent and compassionate health care ranging from the simplest to the most complex 
medical services.2 
Beds:  1,004 total beds (945 acute care and 59 rehabilitation care beds) 
Employees: 6,700 
Clinics:  ? 
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
Sunshine:  Yes Sovereign Immunity:  ? 
 
Hospital or Health System: Hospital 
 
Board and Autonomy:  15 member, volunteer Board of Directors 
 
Financial Relationship with County/City:  TGH receives patients funded by the Hillsborough 
County ½ cent sales tax.  That tax was authorized by the Legislature at the same time Miami-Dade’s 
was,  However, at the county level it was implemented through extraordinary vote of the then County 
Commission, and used to create the HC Health Care Plan.  TGH is one, but not the only hospital in the 
Plan’s provider network.   

 
  

                                                            
1 Extract from Hospital Authority Non‐Binding Request for Information (RFI) For Funding Opportunities Related to Health 
Related Services for Indigent Residents, dated February 2, 2007 

2 Extract from TGH website, http://www.tgh.org/index.htm 

Appendix I

I-18



Background Information 
Tampa General Hospital (TGH), Tampa, FL 

 
Budget Approval 
− Operating:  TGH Board of Directors 
− Capital:  ? 
 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes, academic. TGH is affiliated with the University of South Florida College Of 
Medicine and serves as the primary teaching hospital for the university. 
 
Independence:  The Authority does not operate, manage or oversee the operations of TGH, and has 
had no claims since leasing the hospital facilities to FHSC.3 
 
Medical Staff 
− Staffing:  1200 Community and university affiliated physicians 

  285 Resident physicians 
− Physicians’ compensation for indigent care:  ? 
− Physicians’ compensation for teaching:   ? 
 
Unions:  Not unionized 

 
Unfunded Care (2009 Annual Report) 
− How funded, percent funded, & limits:  Medicaid 14%, HCHCP 3%, Charity 7% 
− Indigent care: $917 million  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Payor Mix (2009 Annual Report) 
− Managed care: 39.5% 
− Medicare: 27.3% 
− Medicaid & Hillsborough County Health Plan: 18.0% 
− All other: 15.2% 
 
Revenues (2009 Annual Report) – TGH fiscal year ending September 30, 2009 
− Medicare  $545 million 
− Medicaid and Hillsborough County Health Plan $128 million 
− Charity Care  $251 million 
− Total Revenue $993 million 
                                                            
3 Extract from Hospital Authority Request for Quotations For Not‐For‐Profit Individual and Organization Directors and 
Officers Liability Insurance Coverage for the Hillsborough County Hospital Authority 

CARE PROVIDED TO 
INDIGENT PATIENTS  2009  as a % 

of total 2008 as a % of 
total  2007  as a % of 

total 

Charges Foregone     

Medicaid  $545,186  14% $429,226 13%  $348,077  12% 

HCHCP  120,281  3% 101,789 3%  94,855  3% 

Charity  251,159  7% 230,786 7%  187,672  7% 

Total Indigent  $916,626  24% $761,801 24%  $630,604  22% 

Hospital Gross 
Charges  $3,789,550  $3,201,371 

 
$2,832,205  

Appendix I

I-19



Background Information 
Truman Medical Centers (TMC), Kansas City, MO 

 
Legal Structure, Governance, and Mission 
Ownership/Operation: Not-for-profit 501(c)(3) 
Governance: Board of Directors 
Governance change: 
− Incorporated as Kansas City General Hospital and Medical Center in 1962, one of the first public 

hospitals to restructure as not-for-profit 
− Renamed Truman Medical Center, Inc. in 1976 
Mission: Provide accessible, state of the art healthcare to Jackson County regardless of 

one’s ability to pay. 
Beds:   See attached “Truman Medical Centers Snapshot” (provided by TMC) 
Employees: 4,310 
 
Sunshine and Sovereign Immunity 
− Sunshine:  No 
− Sovereign Immunity:  No 
 
Hospital or Health System: Health System 
− Two adult acute care hospitals (TMC Hospital Hill and TMC Lakewood) 
− TMC Behavioral Health 
− Jackson County Health Department 
− Primary care practices throughout Eastern Jackson County  
 
Board and Autonomy 
− Up to 34 members on the Board of Directors 
− Nomination and selection process:  Board Development Committee nominates for full Board 

approval 
− TMC Board has autonomy from the City/County governments 

 
Financial Relationship with County/City 
− Approximately 8.5% of operating revenues come from the City of Kansas City and Jackson 

County 
− Jackson County:  FY 2009-10 adopted County budget included: 

Indigent Health Care Subsidy: $5,429,598 
Inmate Health Care:  (none listed) 
Debt Service:   $6,847,000 

− City of Kansas City:   $26,403,075 (FY 2009-10 adopted City budget)  
Note:  City of Kansas City has a “Health Levy” special revenue fund budgeted at 
$53,580,838 that primarily consists of $50 million from property taxes and $3 million from 
service charges 

 
Budget Approval 
− Operating:  TMC Board approves 
− Capital:  City/County sometimes, such as when TMC utilizes Jackson County bonds for capital 

needs 
 
Assets:  County owns land and some buildings; TMC owns equipment.  TMC can buy/sell/encumber 
real property and facilities. 

Appendix I

I-20



Background Information 
Truman Medical Centers (TMC), Kansas City, MO 

 
 
Bonds:  Can issue bonds, but TMC reports it can be challenging in this economic environment. 
 
Teaching Hospital:  Yes; primary teaching hospital for the University of Missouri-Kansas City 
School of Medicine. 
 
Independence:  Human resources and procurement are independent of government 
  
Medical Staff:  515; some physicians are employed by TMC, but the majority of physicians are 
affiliated with a multi-specialty group practice that provides medical care exclusively to TMC. 
 
Unions:  Yes.  TMC Board has authority to determine salaries and compensation for employees, 
executives and physicians employed directly. 
 
Contracting Authority:  Yes 
 
Unfunded Care:  City, County, and Disproportionate Share Hospital funding 
− Charity Care: $87,623,480 
− Bad Debt: $13,376,520 
 
Payor Mix 
 
Payor Source Acute Care 

Hospitals 
Hospita

Hill 
Lakewo Lakewood Care 

Center 
Jackson County Health 

Department 
Commercial 16% 14% 22% <1% 5% 
Medicaid 22% 26% 16% 71% 41% 
Medicaid MC 14% 11% 20% - - 
Medicare 16% 17% 12% <1% 7% 
Other 3% 3%  12%  
Self pay 29% 29% 30% 16% 10% 
Government - - - - 33% 
Managed Care - - - - 4% 
 
Patient Diversity 

 

Ethnicity Acute Care 
Hospitals Hospital Hi Lakewood Lakewood Care 

Center 
Jackson County Health 

Department 
African American 36% 32% 17% 16% 10% 
Asian 1% 4% 1% - 2% 
Caucasian 51% 59% 73% 3% 82% 
Hispanic 7% 3% 5% 6% 5% 
Other 5% 2% 4% - - 
American Indian - - - - 1% 

 

Appendix I

I-21



Appendix I

I-22



Appendix I

I-23



This page intentionally blank 

Appendix I

I-24



Hospital Governance Options

Teaching 
Hospital (Y/N)

Organized 
Labor union 

(Y/N)
John H Stroger Jr. Hospital Cook 
County

Chicago , IL
Y Y

Los Angeles County Dept of Health 
Services

Los Angeles County, 
CA Y Y

Jackson Health System
Miami Dade County, 
FL

Y Y

Memorial Health Care System (South 
Broward) & Broward Health (North 
Broward Hospital District)

Broward County, FL 1947 & 1951 Y ?

Parkland Health  & Hospital System Dallas, TX Y ?

University of Colorado Hospital Colorado 1991 6 Y N

Denver Health Medical Center Denver, CO 1996 2

Y N

Boston Medical Center Boston, MA 1996 1, 6 Y Y

Great Lakes Health System of Western 
New York

Buffalo, NY 2008 1 Unified Kaleida Health and 
the Eric County Medical 

Center into a new non‐profit 
(unification continues)

Y Y

Fresno County Valley Medical Center Fresno County, CA
1996 1 Y N

Oakwood Healthcare System Dearborn, MI 1991 6 Y Y

Shands Jacksonville Jacksonville, FL 1980 1 Y Y

Umass Memorial Health Care System Massachusetts 1998 1 Y Y

Middle Tennessee Medical Center Murfreesboro, TN 1996 5 N N

University of Arizona Healthcare Tucson, AZ 2010 1 Y ?

Grady Health System Atlanta, GA 2008 1,3 Y N

Truman Medical Centers Kansas City, MO 1960s 1 Y Y

Regional Medical Center at Memphis Memphis, TN 1981 1 Y N

Hillsborough County Hospital 
Authority / Tampa General Hospital

Tampa, FL
1997 1,4 Y N

Brackenridge Hospital and Children's 
Hospital

Austin, TX
1995 1,6 Y ?

Harborview Medical Center King County, WA Y Y

Sutter Medical Center of Santa Rosa, 
California

Santa Rosa, CA
1996 6 Y Y

Wishard Memorial Hospital Indianapolis, IN ? ?

Henry Ford Hospital Michigan, MI 1987 7
Shared Governance

Non‐profit hospital adopted 
"shared governance" model

Y ?

Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 1 Y Y

Amarillo Hospital District Amarillo, TX

Detroit Medical Center/Vanguard 
Health Systems

Detroit, MI
2010

Acquired by Vanguard Health 
Systems

Y Y

Caritas Christi/Steward Health Care 
System

Massachusetts
2010 1

Acquired by Steward Health 
Care System LLC

Y Y

Memorial Medical Center Las Cruces, NM ? ?

Oklahoma University Medical Center Oklahoma City, OK ? ?

Contract management by non‐
profit 3rd Party

Other Variables

Type of ChangeLocation Notes
Links to 

References

Established new 
(Independent) hospital 

authority

Taxing District

Consolidated with existing 
non‐profit

Conversion to new non‐profit

Governance Description

‐Distinct independent government 
entity;                                                           
‐Functionally dedicated board;               
‐Statutory authority identifies 
election/appointment process;               
‐Controls own budget, issues bonds;     
‐Has autonomy in civil service, 
purchasing and contracting

Separate Government Entity 
With Taxing Capacity

 Effective 
Date of  

Governance 
Model 

Example of HospitalsGovernance Models

‐Is current structure and has worked since 
the 1970's;                                                           
‐Should provide base of political support 
for advocacy initiatives;                                     
‐Full faith and credit of county gov't to 
underpin bonding;                                              
‐Sovereign immunity applies to those 
employed by JHS;                                               
‐Sole beneficiary of ad valorem property 
taxes earmarked for indigent care;                 
‐Exempt from taxes

‐Levels of autonomy for PHT vary based 
on leadership both at Trust and on 
Commission;                                                   
‐dependent upon gov't purchasing and 
personnel policies and procedures;           
‐Sunshine law provisions occasionally 
hamper internal communications;             
‐county can delegate programs/services 
and over‐ride PHT decisions

‐ Major decisions made by elected 
officials;                                                       
‐May designate operations to semi‐
autonomous board;                                   
‐ Have access to local gov't tax 
support;                                                       
‐ No separate legal structure

Direct Local Government 
Control/Operation

Characteristics

‐Sets own millage rates;                                    
‐Has both authority and responsibility for 
use of public funds;                                            
‐Still has some political ties based on way 
legislation is written and board is 
elected/appointed;                                            
‐Has sovereign immunity as unit of gov't;      
‐Develops and adopts own policies and 
procedures and labor agreements;                 
‐Tax exempt

‐Subject to Sunshine law;                             
funding levels vary based on economy 
and property values;                                     
‐Board members have high 
public/political profile;                                 
‐have to use own credit status to raise 
capital;                                                             
‐not eligible for philanthropy

For‐Profit Management  Managed as a private organization

‐No longer only hospital designated 
eligible for County funding for indigent 
care;                                                                 
‐Must create and maintain own credit 
rating;                                                              
‐No sovereign immunity;                              
‐Have to compete with other 
community based organizations for 
talented board leadership and local 
philanthropy;                                                  
‐ "Non‐related" revenue subject to 
taxation

‐Eligible recipient for philanthropy without 
using separate foundation;                               
‐Not required to have organized labor;          
‐Can develop and implement own policies 
and procedures for nomination and 
selection of board of directors, purchasing 
and contracts;                                                     
‐Exempt from income, property and sales 
taxes on all "related" revenue

‐Tax exempt under Sect. 501(c)(3) of 
IRS;                                                                
‐Local gov't may maintain some role 
in governance (eg seat on, or 
appointment to, board) and/or 
funding (pay for specified services to 
specified patients);                                    
‐Sale, transfer or long term lease of 
buildings/assets of gov't;                          
‐Third party controls operations 
including human resources, 
purchasing and contracts   

Nonprofit/Third Party 
Management

Appendix J

J-1



This page intentionally blank 

Appendix J

J-2



South Florida Acute Care Hospitals 
(Federal, State and Local Funding Sources)

Financial Analysis ~ Hospitals in South Florida ~ FY2009
Source:  AHCA Financial Data, FYE2009

Hospital County Beds Total Expenses
Medicaid 
Revenue

Medicaid 
Deductions

Medicaid HMO 
Revenue

Medicaid HMO 
Deductions Bad Debt Other Charity

Medicaid 
Shortfall PMATF Total

Other Gov't. 
Funds

Net 
Uncompensated 

Care

Taxes & 
Licenses 
Expense

Inpatient Services 
Revenue

Outpatient 
Services 
Revenue

Total Patient 
Services Revenue

Broward Health-Broward General Medical CenBroward 716 $399,777,301 $266,150,135 $206,572,325 $191,494,893 $146,654,079 $170,477,277 $216,647,512 $248,032,493 $4,294,012 $639,451,294 $71,683,906 $567,767,388 $0 $1,144,374,602 $594,852,434 $1,739,227,036
Broward Health-Coral Springs Medical Center Broward 200 $128,088,074 $44,775,133 $32,981,867 $38,197,866 $30,029,079 $59,320,206 $31,333,199 $44,797,177 $1,522,887 $136,973,469 $13,018,541 $123,954,928 $0 $322,190,710 $261,315,739 $583,506,449
Broward Health-Imperial Point Medical Center Broward 204 $92,840,031 $17,392,320 $13,320,949 $17,457,309 $13,187,005 $37,820,461 $14,556,142 $18,606,242 $1,044,567 $72,027,412 $8,703,089 $63,324,323 $0 $215,351,477 $194,109,233 $409,460,710
Broward Health-North Broward Medical CenterBroward 409 $184,208,777 $43,737,776 $36,054,756 $43,968,435 $34,754,655 $86,929,623 $77,820,692 $49,973,881 $2,120,591 $216,844,787 $31,152,713 $185,692,074 $0 $514,236,684 $261,181,753 $775,418,437
Cleveland Clinic Florida Weston Broward 150 $146,040,609 $6,887,777 $7,765,197 $6,068,950 $6,842,063 $13,303,444 $3,114,209 $11,718,945 $2,512,081 $30,648,679 $0 $30,648,679 $504,970 $398,929,626 $256,195,653 $655,125,279
Holy Cross Hospital Broward 571 $292,912,751 $44,131,585 $40,685,046 $23,927,801 $21,559,508 $32,782,676 $12,162,135 $49,080,894 $3,239,915 $97,265,620 $0 $97,265,620 $151,981 $912,015,323 $602,416,229 $1,514,431,552
Memorial Hospital Miramar Broward 178 $116,186,272 $56,164,393 $42,782,501 $20,276,421 $14,550,374 $33,107,418 $15,269,042 $41,300,586 $1,697,811 $91,374,857 $1,268,889 $90,105,968 $0 $285,739,857 $268,228,032 $553,967,889
Memorial Hospital Pembroke Broward 301 $108,585,529 $40,420,559 $34,723,325 $24,499,093 $19,611,793 $41,247,087 $47,865,488 $41,276,212 $1,331,039 $131,719,826 $3,083,538 $128,636,288 $0 $267,285,655 $272,524,838 $539,810,493
Memorial Hospital West Broward 304 $297,242,934 $107,649,986 $87,411,368 $43,546,785 $32,478,240 $59,820,066 $60,861,496 $87,386,834 $4,174,049 $212,242,445 $4,743,987 $207,498,458 $0 $770,072,940 $612,645,096 $1,382,718,036
Memorial Regional Hospital Broward 1014 $697,303,144 $356,605,670 $276,077,600 $151,474,864 $107,844,957 $162,862,602 $256,541,519 $251,900,344 $8,128,944 $679,433,409 $46,673,341 $632,760,068 $0 $1,658,347,286 $1,025,187,148 $2,683,534,434
North Shore Medical Center FMC Campus Broward 459 $53,990,779 $27,175,727 $23,175,552 $15,917,542 $14,405,563 $5,073,566 $8,802,290 $30,880,416 $726,932 $45,483,204 $0 $45,483,204 $296,066 $263,276,125 $83,947,207 $347,223,332
Northwest Medical Center Broward 215 $128,484,935 $51,622,041 $47,990,764 $27,106,725 $25,057,053 $22,322,186 $18,386,647 $59,960,590 $1,690,354 $102,359,777 $0 $102,359,777 $890,158 $548,652,866 $224,273,306 $772,926,172
Plantation General Hospital Broward 264 $119,453,613 $168,822,515 $137,175,717 $91,947,684 $86,235,030 $34,135,272 $14,524,632 $174,489,126 $1,561,499 $224,710,529 $0 $224,710,529 $518,740 $467,676,544 $169,055,069 $636,731,613
University Hospital & Medical Center Broward 317 $91,658,269 $18,636,754 $16,615,370 $21,063,368 $18,546,623 $19,790,486 $10,324,581 $28,284,151 $1,048,139 $59,447,357 $0 $59,447,357 $809,261 $357,261,255 $171,806,530 $529,067,785
Westside Regional Medical Center Broward 224 $145,309,379 $28,494,868 $25,951,670 $21,348,629 $18,539,828 $24,025,883 $12,016,752 $36,078,062 $2,145,256 $74,265,953 $0 $74,265,953 $668,972 $663,319,410 $197,533,151 $860,852,561

Total Acute $3,002,082,397 $1,278,667,239 $1,029,284,007 $738,296,365 $590,295,850 $803,018,253 $800,226,336 $1,173,765,954 $37,238,076 $2,814,248,619 $180,328,004 $2,633,920,615 $3,840,148 $8,788,730,360 $5,195,271,418 $13,984,001,778

Aventura Hospital and Medical Center Miami-Dade 407 $199,924,435 $70,575,301 $66,209,722 $42,461,009 $37,642,480 $31,102,540 $28,560,835 $85,683,244 $2,944,795 $148,291,414 $0 $148,291,414 $2,499,926 $959,794,848 $284,014,538 $1,243,809,386
Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. Miami-Dade 680 $725,970,825 $330,422,385 $266,603,341 $78,587,674 $67,905,584 $97,797,245 $122,290,683 $235,576,068 $10,927,756 $466,591,752 $0 $466,591,752 $314,587 $2,031,315,918 $970,006,179 $3,001,322,097
Bascom Palmer Eye Inst/Anne Bates Leach EyMiami-Dade 100 $81,532,460 $21,082,622 $17,006,357 $7,541,688 $4,323,030 $7,053,281 $13,333,215 $12,690,595 $769,079 $33,846,170 $0 $33,846,170 $0 $4,183,304 $265,971,418 $270,154,722
Coral Gables Hospital Miami-Dade 247 $71,537,971 $31,695,974 $27,564,658 $17,063,934 $15,369,984 $5,366,050 $6,396,735 $34,532,883 $973,613 $47,269,281 $0 $47,269,281 $1,316,960 $292,125,061 $123,048,114 $415,173,175
Doctors Hospital Miami-Dade 281 $160,508,157 $21,304,202 $19,515,192 $6,844,316 $6,126,847 $22,598,747 $6,035,783 $18,753,621 $1,903,249 $49,291,400 $0 $49,291,400 $15,740 $403,780,540 $252,112,663 $655,893,203
Hialeah Hospital Miami-Dade 378 $107,864,993 $148,656,137 $129,741,980 $30,513,768 $26,505,698 $17,227,613 $15,495,068 $129,397,190 $1,627,400 $163,747,271 $0 $163,747,271 $1,450,599 $567,176,508 $152,592,928 $719,769,436
Homestead Hospital Miami-Dade 142 $188,573,857 $110,648,137 $91,937,469 $70,137,151 $52,267,018 $78,745,135 $74,763,187 $97,776,128 $2,084,598 $253,369,048 $0 $253,369,048 $37,942 $449,510,079 $284,769,144 $734,279,223
Jackson Memorial Hospital Miami-Dade 2139 $1,625,681,833 $943,808,545 $529,203,251 $262,543,000 $126,020,640 $583,901,326 $1,073,847,090 $188,325,532 $15,065,601 $1,861,139,549 $350,277,832 $1,510,861,717 $0 $3,038,363,518 $1,162,002,054 $4,200,365,572
Kendall Regional Medical Center Miami-Dade 412 $191,858,307 $174,811,568 $153,027,526 $52,581,811 $44,979,055 $35,292,503 $44,961,553 $163,382,784 $2,809,636 $246,446,476 $0 $246,446,476 $2,109,453 $865,057,331 $394,980,936 $1,260,038,267
Larkin Community Hospital Miami-Dade 132 $46,816,961 $16,636,446 $14,106,718 $5,751,057 $3,593,144 $6,020,243 $561,497 $11,825,678 $655,962 $19,063,380 $0 $19,063,380 $531,621 $142,788,747 $35,638,549 $178,427,296
Mercy Hospital Miami-Dade 473 $234,672,696 $61,097,616 $56,319,256 $17,049,781 $15,939,508 $19,321,565 $12,445,322 $54,955,284 $2,965,239 $89,687,410 $0 $89,687,410 $33,574 $705,571,281 $354,276,800 $1,059,848,081
Metropolitan Hospital of Miami Miami-Dade 146 $46,288,089 $25,043,369 $20,159,081 $0 $0 $16,768,725 $99,625 $14,124,713 $600,620 $31,593,683 $0 $31,593,683 $547,466 $138,085,635 $54,015,624 $192,101,259
Miami Children's Hospital Miami-Dade 289 $340,523,656 $426,684,995 $320,968,472 $197,475,385 $150,474,804 $9,618,075 $7,232,337 $262,755,861 $4,539,407 $284,145,680 $0 $284,145,680 $4,539,407 $635,655,178 $382,812,439 $1,018,467,617
Mount Sinai Medical Center Miami-Dade 955 $397,617,953 $111,730,059 $91,269,602 $38,198,600 $29,588,019 $47,560,082 $34,611,498 $86,454,270 $4,490,018 $173,115,868 $0 $173,115,868 $60,973 $1,086,947,815 $645,857,994 $1,732,805,809
North Shore Medical Center Miami-Dade 816 $204,812,283 $166,451,296 $135,360,669 $97,729,018 $80,824,519 $17,470,126 $44,363,445 $170,087,485 $2,828,734 $234,749,790 $0 $234,749,790 $2,734,627 $809,135,978 $364,618,250 $1,173,754,228
Palm Springs General Hospital Miami-Dade 247 $61,119,424 $11,756,420 $9,716,561 $0 $0 $18,104,151 $0 $6,289,578 $949,988 $25,343,717 $0 $25,343,717 $515,252 $148,187,851 $61,485,086 $209,672,937
Palmetto General Hospital Miami-Dade 360 $215,790,253 $213,747,432 $185,600,500 $74,053,078 $63,001,735 $17,091,947 $30,883,066 $201,383,086 $3,176,351 $252,534,450 $0 $252,534,450 $2,413,474 $951,384,171 $363,856,505 $1,315,240,676
South Miami Hospital Miami-Dade 467 $393,692,061 $156,205,546 $124,886,036 $20,270,389 $18,229,070 $44,290,002 $42,831,569 $96,768,937 $5,891,230 $189,781,738 $0 $189,781,738 $241,525 $890,373,409 $608,718,669 $1,499,092,078
University of Miami Hospital Miami-Dade 560 $265,977,251 $95,266,975 $83,604,967 $48,931,889 $40,388,829 $24,082,731 $16,151,329 $92,036,405 $2,566,301 $134,836,766 $0 $134,836,766 $44,572 $994,225,875 $205,922,716 $1,200,148,591
University of Miami Hospital/Clinics Miami-Dade 40 $238,592,419 $38,690,052 $32,820,901 $14,278,675 $11,923,510 $7,991,767 $1,098,159 $29,483,875 $2,188,091 $40,761,892 $0 $40,761,892 $0 $90,763,420 $737,381,602 $828,145,022
Westchester General Hospital Miami-Dade 197 $59,787,906 $17,005,536 $13,754,777 $13,362,545 $6,884,087 $2,591,247 $6,305,408 $9,433,359 $861,219 $19,191,233 $0 $19,191,233 $738,855 $138,473,844 $23,557,582 $162,031,426

Total Acute $5,859,143,790 $3,193,320,613 $2,389,377,036 $1,095,374,768 $801,987,561 $1,109,995,101 $1,582,267,404 $2,001,716,578 $70,818,887 $4,764,797,970 $350,277,832 $4,414,520,138 $20,146,553 $15,342,900,311 $7,727,639,790 $23,070,540,101

Bethesda Healthcare System Palm Beach 401 $223,349,147 $189,069,432 $158,031,194 $44,430,241 $34,561,136 $49,297,011 $46,948,922 $150,738,408 $0 $246,984,341 $0 $246,984,341 $2,673,217 $772,120,498 $473,926,480 $1,246,046,978
Boca Raton Community Hospital Palm Beach 400 $332,151,151 $15,621,633 $17,684,584 $4,418,709 $3,752,109 $25,689,849 $4,518,806 $16,719,600 $3,376,742 $50,304,997 $0 $50,304,997 $196,098 $614,106,542 $797,021,504 $1,411,128,046
Columbia Hospital Palm Beach 250 $87,791,014 $35,310,722 $31,172,164 $24,194,631 $20,829,371 $25,892,580 $24,738,917 $40,804,539 $1,061,704 $92,497,740 $0 $92,497,740 $1,023,415 $313,365,492 $153,191,349 $466,556,841
Delray Medical Center, Inc. Palm Beach 493 $224,363,202 $63,122,815 $58,723,239 $17,522,293 $15,993,859 $16,630,452 $28,323,348 $61,921,591 $3,353,631 $110,229,022 $5,495,933 $104,733,089 $2,897,640 $1,098,329,238 $315,744,813 $1,414,074,051
Good Samaritan Medical Center Palm Beach 333 $108,760,037 $33,984,426 $29,527,271 $16,873,107 $14,775,956 $11,410,367 $16,000,759 $32,918,899 $1,383,869 $61,713,894 $0 $61,713,894 $1,798,041 $311,592,895 $174,273,928 $485,866,823
JFK Medical Center Palm Beach 460 $354,422,045 $180,823,249 $164,638,302 $55,894,321 $43,363,838 $50,040,043 $100,415,320 $169,230,862 $5,001,084 $324,687,309 $0 $324,687,309 $1,973,085 $1,566,768,614 $597,150,895 $2,163,919,509
Jupiter Medical Center Palm Beach 163 $157,196,823 $15,456,684 $12,224,521 $4,540,561 $4,092,313 $17,988,227 $4,156,991 $12,050,296 $1,965,186 $36,160,700 $0 $36,160,700 $470,971 $388,154,854 $348,625,963 $736,780,817
Lakeside Medical Center (Glades General HosPalm Beach 73 $36,803,379 $28,808,762 $23,538,178 $0 $0 $8,846,290 $3,564,576 $14,031,127 $78,644 $26,520,637 $8,450,000 $18,070,637 $7,780 $62,534,933 $48,988,583 $111,523,516
Palm Beach Gardens Medical Ctr. Palm Beach 199 $150,336,938 $21,419,658 $19,509,646 $10,348,635 $9,116,723 $10,613,574 $22,738,593 $22,280,909 $2,119,063 $57,752,139 $0 $57,752,139 $1,780,558 $587,095,244 $165,560,662 $752,655,906
Palms West Hospital Palm Beach 175 $121,321,707 $111,081,280 $96,202,462 $29,638,996 $24,657,223 $26,560,475 $23,427,534 $97,232,084 $1,631,603 $148,851,696 $0 $148,851,696 $1,040,207 $470,630,103 $251,932,650 $722,562,753
St. Mary's Medical Center Palm Beach 463 $216,586,513 $287,240,660 $230,279,632 $72,031,143 $59,401,505 $25,113,855 $99,976,470 $213,182,936 $3,067,029 $341,340,290 $4,853,450 $336,486,840 $2,992,926 $738,639,640 $278,553,260 $1,017,192,900
Wellington Regional Medical Center Palm Beach 143 $120,458,701 $58,005,521 $50,029,130 $17,925,295 $15,024,409 $23,037,907 $22,470,599 $48,330,730 $1,532,944 $95,372,180 $0 $95,372,180 $2,217,351 $335,320,186 $211,629,044 $546,949,230
West Boca Medical Center, Inc. Palm Beach 195 $109,147,083 $49,951,663 $43,399,971 $16,496,804 $13,235,138 $10,738,904 $6,267,613 $40,876,991 $1,870,941 $59,754,449 $0 $59,754,449 $1,768,602 $315,630,296 $144,618,605 $460,248,901

Total Acute $2,242,687,740 $1,089,896,505 $934,960,294 $314,314,736 $258,803,580 $301,859,534 $403,548,448 $920,318,972 $26,442,440 $1,652,169,394 $18,799,383 $1,633,370,011 $20,839,891 $7,574,288,535 $3,961,217,736 $11,535,506,271

Appendix K

K-1



South Florida Acute Care Hospitals 
(Federal, State and Local Funding Sources)

Financial Analysis ~ Hospitals in South Flori
Source:  AHCA Financial Data, FYE2009

Hospital County
Broward Health-Broward General Medical CenBroward
Broward Health-Coral Springs Medical Center Broward
Broward Health-Imperial Point Medical Center Broward
Broward Health-North Broward Medical CenterBroward
Cleveland Clinic Florida Weston Broward
Holy Cross Hospital Broward
Memorial Hospital Miramar Broward
Memorial Hospital Pembroke Broward
Memorial Hospital West Broward
Memorial Regional Hospital Broward
North Shore Medical Center FMC Campus Broward
Northwest Medical Center Broward
Plantation General Hospital Broward
University Hospital & Medical Center Broward
Westside Regional Medical Center Broward

Total Acute

Aventura Hospital and Medical Center Miami-Dade
Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. Miami-Dade
Bascom Palmer Eye Inst/Anne Bates Leach EyMiami-Dade
Coral Gables Hospital Miami-Dade
Doctors Hospital Miami-Dade
Hialeah Hospital Miami-Dade
Homestead Hospital Miami-Dade
Jackson Memorial Hospital Miami-Dade
Kendall Regional Medical Center Miami-Dade
Larkin Community Hospital Miami-Dade
Mercy Hospital Miami-Dade
Metropolitan Hospital of Miami Miami-Dade
Miami Children's Hospital Miami-Dade
Mount Sinai Medical Center Miami-Dade
North Shore Medical Center Miami-Dade
Palm Springs General Hospital Miami-Dade
Palmetto General Hospital Miami-Dade
South Miami Hospital Miami-Dade
University of Miami Hospital Miami-Dade
University of Miami Hospital/Clinics Miami-Dade
Westchester General Hospital Miami-Dade

Total Acute

Bethesda Healthcare System Palm Beach
Boca Raton Community Hospital Palm Beach
Columbia Hospital Palm Beach
Delray Medical Center, Inc. Palm Beach
Good Samaritan Medical Center Palm Beach
JFK Medical Center Palm Beach
Jupiter Medical Center Palm Beach
Lakeside Medical Center (Glades General HosPalm Beach
Palm Beach Gardens Medical Ctr. Palm Beach
Palms West Hospital Palm Beach
St. Mary's Medical Center Palm Beach
Wellington Regional Medical Center Palm Beach
West Boca Medical Center, Inc. Palm Beach

Total Acute

Other 
Operating 

Revenue
Non- operating 

Revenue Total Revenue Income Tax
Licensed 

Beds
Acute Pt. 

Days Salary Expense FTEs
Pt. Care Salary 

Expense
Pt. Care 

FTEs
$35,129,834 $82,681,476 $1,857,038,346 $0 716 160,234 $163,810,417 2,930.1 $120,687,726 1,991.5

$2,772,866 $14,058,365 $600,337,680 $0 200 48,991 $55,417,571 937.6 $42,044,714 654.6
$3,099,171 $9,663,347 $422,223,228 $0 204 38,149 $38,661,347 674.0 $28,115,236 458.6

$10,167,171 $39,185,720 $824,771,328 $0 409 78,499 $77,158,160 1,317.0 $54,194,978 861.7
$532,868 $270,638 $655,928,785 $0 150 45,853 $52,105,962 922.3 $38,430,895 671.1

$3,626,743 $89,478,763 $1,607,537,058 $0 571 92,964 $155,868,784 2,223.5 $68,873,263 1,095.5
$723,994 $1,932,563 $556,624,446 $0 178 35,893 $54,987,837 847.1 $38,636,318 569.0

$1,394,184 $3,903,388 $545,108,065 $0 301 29,525 $50,900,482 798.9 $36,234,105 546.4
$3,065,705 $7,737,960 $1,393,521,701 $0 304 94,289 $140,388,956 2,170.2 $98,151,103 1,460.2

$24,687,022 $69,541,459 $2,777,762,915 $0 1,014 213,940 $340,650,430 5,060.3 $222,419,154 3,319.0
$129,352 $1,920,042 $349,272,726 $0 459 25,031 $19,099,928 322.3 $14,866,207 245.4

$1,196,226 $1,577,107 $775,699,505 $1,333,969 215 48,789 $41,333,009 674.2 $30,760,906 469.7
$1,568,584 $227,745 $638,527,942 $0 264 51,200 $38,438,149 584.3 $28,590,993 430.9

$454,115 $19,401,617 $548,923,517 $0 317 43,666 $31,501,825 558.5 $20,800,344 345.2
$1,190,422 $24,074,719 $886,117,702 -$13,018,176 224 57,172 $44,963,226 722.5 $32,725,085 494.4

$89,738,257 $365,654,909 $14,439,394,944 -$11,684,207 5,526 1,064,195 $1,305,286,083 20,742.8 $875,531,027 13,613.2

$572,061 $3,606,105 $1,247,987,552 $0 407 97,244 $65,589,168 1,098.6 $52,852,959 836.8
$7,920,397 $2,193,042 $3,011,435,536 $0 680 183,544 $240,339,300 4,047.0 $186,827,638 2,971.8
$3,012,491 $3,135 $273,170,348 $0 100 656 $32,855,719 568.0 $18,320,806 287.3

$339,499 $93,775 $415,606,449 $0 247 27,576 $24,673,766 430.3 $18,706,077 315.2
$841,299 -$239,708 $656,494,794 $0 281 38,920 $54,692,402 928.1 $40,561,305 654.7
$960,087 $3,960,664 $724,690,187 -$3,466,000 378 55,850 $40,908,342 703.7 $32,466,782 540.9

$1,308,122 $123,125 $735,710,470 $0 142 47,090 $64,054,360 1,069.3 $52,120,639 825.9
$27,150,516 $581,119,005 $4,808,635,093 $0 2,139 477,435 $750,205,650 11,025.8 $465,388,097 6,313.9

$2,623,219 $501,779 $1,263,163,265 $0 412 72,317 $62,770,753 1,089.4 $46,774,443 768.5
$861,192 $111,734 $179,400,222 $0 132 29,537 $22,306,645 490.9 $14,225,079 321.7

$6,578,249 $49,406,258 $1,115,832,588 $0 473 74,631 $87,834,283 1,515.5 $57,215,416 925.1
$608,755 $13,176 $192,723,190 $0 146 23,299 $21,439,607 490.9 $15,462,153 321.4

$23,840,647 $56,449,244 $1,098,757,508 $0 289 64,819 $176,759,733 2,538.6 $78,664,892 1,199.7
$21,542,315 $1,443,551 $1,755,791,675 $0 955 138,092 $140,114,965 2,824.7 $87,624,307 1,711.0

$2,371,398 $4,495,457 $1,180,621,083 -$1,521,000 816 98,081 $80,589,963 1,365.6 $62,623,401 1,019.2
$568,054 $3,495,821 $213,736,812 $0 247 36,956 $26,513,423 613.5 $17,628,615 402.2

$4,346,062 $1,213,287 $1,320,800,025 -$4,909,000 360 95,546 $78,141,155 1,339.3 $61,979,670 1,008.7
$3,754,622 $967,048 $1,503,813,748 $0 467 80,838 $131,614,970 2,235.8 $102,716,580 1,626.5
$5,721,015 $6,312,171 $1,212,181,777 $0 560 112,918 $80,277,930 1,452.5 $58,111,088 937.9
$2,652,824 $1,000 $830,798,846 $0 40 7,988 $56,941,360 960.6 $34,060,566 580.2
$1,074,900 $22,638 $163,128,964 $0 197 53,003 $28,839,899 663.3 $17,380,878 383.0

$118,647,724 $715,292,307 $23,904,480,132 -$9,896,000 9,468 1,816,340 $2,267,463,393 37,451.4 $1,521,711,391 23,951.6

$2,220,479 $12,219,698 $1,260,487,155 $0 401 96,887 $88,155,335 1,764.0 $68,927,208 1,285.1
$306,026 $16,508,340 $1,427,942,412 $0 400 85,657 $110,224,545 2,004.1 $75,328,186 1,271.3

$1,604,199 $2,936,267 $471,097,307 $5,515,498 250 42,332 $27,889,473 483.1 $17,388,536 292.6
$1,163,077 $6,969,915 $1,422,207,043 -$8,353,000 493 96,122 $79,306,213 1,342.2 $62,991,566 1,054.3

$803,640 $4,955,339 $491,625,802 $463,000 333 37,280 $37,752,440 679.5 $25,662,250 426.1
$8,823,154 $2,686,609 $2,175,429,272 -$1,800,405 460 117,000 $102,622,964 1,632.9 $79,570,212 1,222.9
$2,745,697 $21,112,352 $760,638,866 $0 163 47,206 $83,320,076 1,241.5 $48,487,367 673.7

$589,867 $8,778,578 $120,891,961 $0 73 9,795 $16,459,246 264.5 $8,960,481 150.3
$346,700 $1,898,395 $754,901,001 -$685,000 199 50,498 $44,061,927 718.7 $33,544,133 543.0

$2,048,769 $10,576,038 $735,187,560 -$4,060,596 175 47,329 $42,112,340 691.6 $31,592,392 493.0
$5,209,594 $7,102,488 $1,029,504,982 $13,551,000 463 102,921 $92,619,357 1,445.5 $73,854,821 1,070.6
$2,490,309 $1,995,567 $551,435,106 $628,000 143 42,246 $39,199,894 703.8 $29,048,602 491.9
$1,240,003 $168,802 $461,657,706 -$3,217,000 195 43,151 $43,830,038 692.9 $34,434,702 538.7

$29,591,514 $97,908,388 $11,663,006,173 $2,041,497 3,748 818,424 $807,553,848 13,664.3 $589,790,456 9,513.5

Appendix K

K-2



Appendix L 
 

L-1 
 

Dissenting View of a Taskforce Member 
 

Hospital Governance Task Force Dissenting Opinion 
 
The Hospital Governance Task Force (HGT) was a unique and valuable opportunity for a diverse 
group of community leaders to explore, discuss, and learn more about the governance and related 
issues impacting Jackson Health System.  The group included subject matter experts on hospital 
governance structures and also solicited the input on several major public healthcare systems on 
the strengths and weaknesses of their models.  Although brief (less than 20 hours total), the task 
force was able to learn much on the topic and Mr. Zapata should be commended for his 
leadership. 
 
Given the short duration of the task force and  the lack of any legal, financial, operational, 
strategic or other due diligence or modeling of alternative governance models as they would 
impact Jackson Health System, it would be inappropriate for the task force to author any specific 
recommendations to the County Commissioners at this point.  The governance discussion is 
inherently complex and therefore any change in the governance structure is a relatively long 
process to evaluate and implement. It is clearly not to be considered a solution for the immediate 
financial issues impacting Jackson.  As Mr. Larry Gage, a national known hospital governance 
expert, reported to the task force “effective governance is a tool, not a panacea.”  Therefore, 
Jackson needs to remain focused on the very real operational and other issues currently 
impacting its ability to achieve sustainability in the short term.   
 
Jackson is currently going through a major leadership transition with the hiring of a new Chief 
Executive Officer.  In addition, the County recently approved the formation of a financial 
recovery board to oversee Jackson which is in the process of being populated.  The financial 
recovery board is not a governance change, per se, as it is contemplated in ordinance 25A, but it 
does serve the purpose of reducing the size of the board and populating the board with subject 
matter experts in relevant areas of focus.  These changes have great potential and should be 
allowed to crystallize and mature prior to introducing a further complexity of a new governance 
structure. This will provide Jackson the best opportunity to achieve immediate sustainability 
which needs to be the paramount focus.   There can be no distractions from this vital objective 
although continued study of the optimal governance structure for Jackson is advisable.   
 
The National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems reported that “before 
considering a major reorganization, it is essential to evaluate the challenges and obstacles that 
face a given hospital or health system – and to determine which of these challenges can be 
improved through improved structure or governance.”  The following are some operational 
issues that need to be addressed regardless of the governance structure: 

 Develop and implement a contemporary overall strategic plan. 

 Secure cash resources to avoid permanent and irreversible consequences to core service 
levels and mission due to current cash crisis. 

 Develop and implement a primary care and outpatient services strategy. 

 Reduce length of stay to clinical optimal levels. 



Appendix L 
 

L-2 
 

 Provide budgeting and other financial reporting with integrity and credibility. 

 Maximize the leverage of the Jackson Health Plan. 

 Shift the labor cost curve through universal adoption of evidence based medicine 
guidelines; treating each patient in the most cost effective, clinically appropriate setting; 
improving patient throughput and other measures. 

 Optimize the relationship with the University of Miami. 

 Position Jackson for success in an ACO and/or capitated environment. 

 Enhance information technology solutions to achieve meaningful use standards. 

 Position Jackson to participate successfully in the HHS Patient Safety Initiative Funding 
Program. 

 
These are several of the mission critical objectives for Jackson to immediately pursue within the 
revised executive leadership team and newly enacted financial recovery board.  
 
There are certain attributes of any governance model that the task force believes are important 
for Jackson Health System.  Miami-Dade County will always be a vital component of the 
governance structure of Jackson, even if a new model is ultimately selected, as it has the inherent 
responsibility to provide healthcare services to the underserved population of the County.  Any 
newly created entity would undoubtedly seek financial support from the County, via the 
taxpayers, to support the valuable mission of Jackson.  Therefore, the governance conversations 
need to remain open, transparent and in the sunshine to continue to preserve these interests.  
 
The impact of a governance change on all sources of reimbursement, on the outstanding bond 
obligations, on the pension program, on sovereign immunity, and on other major components of 
the public healthcare model needs to be fully vetted to avoid any unintended consequences. It is 
irresponsible to provide specific recommendations on a governance model change, i.e. not-for-
profit, without a full understanding of how a change in governance may impact these factors. 
The taskforce has not studied these issues with any level of specificity and is not in a position to 
make such recommendations.  
 
As noted, any fundamental change in governance structure is a long term consideration as the 
financial recovery board should be allowed to address the immediate issues impacting Jackson.  
Continued exploration, including moving towards appropriate due diligence, should continue to 
be pursued to identify the optimal governance model for Jackson in the future.  
 
Conclusions 

 Jackson Health System is an important community resource and its mission is in 
jeopardy under the status quo. 

 Greater accountability is required for the fulfillment of the mission within a sound 
financial framework, given budgetary restraints, reduced federal and state funding and 
competitive pressures. 



Appendix L 
 

L-3 
 

 The evaluation of optimal governance models should continue in an effort to identify the 
most efficient and effective structure to allow Jackson Health System to fulfill its 
mission for decades to come.  Any recommendations should be data driven and fully 
vetted to ensure that this very important assignment is handled with the highest degree of 
professionalism and responsibility. 

 Legal and financial experts need to be engaged to perform the necessary due diligence.  
Any new structure should maintain Sovereign Immunity which goes hand in hand with 
the Sunshine Laws. The revenue streams should be enhanced, not decreased with any 
new structure. The eligibility for ad valorem and ½ cent sales tax should be fully studied 
to ensure continued availability to fund the mission of Jackson in any recommended 
model.  

 The taskforce never considered or evaluated the risk to federal funding such as 
Intergovernmental Transfers (IGT) and Certified Public Expenditures (CPE) that a new 
structure such as not-for profit could possibly jeopardize.  These federal monies are a 
real possibility and are being strategically pursued at JHS.  A public structure is 
necessary to qualify as a recipient for these funds currently.  

 The current effort has been very valuable but not sufficient to formulate any concrete 
solutions or recommendations.  

 Task force membership should be re-evaluated to remove any task force members with a 
conflict of interest. Several members are direct competitors of Jackson and others have 
competing interests.  

 A structure change to a private entity would most likely mandate a cessation in the 
Public Retirement System (FRS and PHT retirement) and the cost of doing so needs to 
be evaluated. The taskforce never explored or even recognized this risk which has the 
potential of significantly increasing the contribution from the employer. 

 The Miami-Dade County Commission is an integral component of the governance of 
Jackson Health System and will continue to be so under any governance model. The tax 
payers of Miami Dade provide significant funding to Jackson and their elected officials 
are very relevant to its governance process.  

 The immediate focus should be on developing a strategy for Jackson Health System to 
make it a more competitive alternative in the market place to serve everyone’s healthcare 
needs in Miami-Dade County. The new executive team and the new financial recovery 
board should be given an opportunity to succeed with great assistance from the County.  

 All current efforts regarding Jackson Health System should be directed towards averting 
a reduction in scope of services provided to County residents and to avoiding any 
deterioration to the great mission of Jackson. The operational issues denoted in this 
report should be the primary focus.  

 
Submitted by: 
Martha Baker, RN, President 
SEIU Healthcare Florida, Local 1991 



 
 
 
 
 

September 10, 2010 
 

VIA HAND DELIVERY  
& FACSIMILE 
 
To:      The Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
            Commissioner Dennis Moss, Chair 
            Commissioner Barbara Jordan 
            Commissioner Dorrin Rolle 
            Commissioner Audrey Edmonson 
            Commissioner Sally Heyman 
            Commissioner Bruno Barreiro 
            Commissioner Rebeca Sosa 
            Commissioner Carlos Gimenez 
            Commissioner Katy Sorenson 
            Commissioner Javier Souto 
            Commissioner Joe Martinez 
            Commissioner Jose “Pepe” Diaz 
            Commissioner Natacha Seijas 
 
From:  Martha Baker, RN, President, SEIU Local 1991 
 
Re:    Jackson Doctors, Nurses and Healthcare Professionals Respond to 

PHT Grand Jury Report (BCC Agenda Item 6B2) 
 
                                                                                                                                                
 
            Our healthcare union, which represents over 5,000 doctors, nurses and other 
healthcare professionals working at PHT/Jackson Health System, made the original 
request to have the Grand Jury investigate the operations of PHT/JHS.  We did so 
because as we labor each day to save lives, we also are professionals dedicated to saving 
the public’s health system. 
 
            We very much appreciate the efforts of the citizens who served on the Grand 
Jury.  They recognized the importance of JHS to our community. 
 
            There are many important factual findings brought out by the report.  These issues 
demand further investigation.  However, there were multiple political conclusions and 
opinions offered by the report.  If we are to have an honest discussion of the report it is 
critical that the community know the difference between political conclusions and factual 
findings.   



 2

 
Grand Jury Finds Evidence of Gross Operational 
Mismanagement Perpetrated by the PHT Administration 
and/or PHT Board. 

 
 
            The Grand Jury did an excellent job of framing the issues or as the report said, 
“incompentencies.”  Highlights of some of these findings include: 
 

 Accounts receivables were overestimated by management and the 
PHT Board did not detect such errors, leading to a $50MM deficit 
instead of a $50MM gain in the 2009 budget. 

 
 Management instituted a Net Patient Revenue Adjustment, and the 

PHT Board did not detect the error which lead to a falsely inflated 
revenue/AR. (pg 22) 

 
 JHS management miscalculated contractual adjustments.  As 

pointed out by the auditor, a huge error was created by JHS 
administration when it used an inaccurate reimbursement rate in 
calculating its projected revenue. (pg 23) The PHT Board never 
caught this error. 

 
 Management thought there was a $46MM budget deficit in 2009.  

PHT Board thought the same.  However, it took external auditors 
to disclose the real deficit of $244MM. 

 
 The Revenue Cycle is broken and JHS was unable for years to 

properly collect on its billings.  JHS paid millions to have Deloitte 
work at JHS with their primary assignment to fix the revenue 
cycle.  Deloitte proceeded to rescue the broken department by 
staffing with their own employees and moving the entire billing 
world off campus.  Then, when Deloitte left JHS 5 years later, the 
billing world collapsed again.  JHS internal employees had never 
fully learned to properly collect all monies owed.  JHS paid 
Deloitte greater than $80MM over five years. 

 
 The words of the report sum up certain managerial incompetence.  

"We were stunned by the lack of competence certain witnesses 
demonstrated during the course of their testimony about the 
finances of JHS…It appears to us that persons at JHS are working 
in positions for which they are not qualified…We have no 
confidence in the numbers presented in the internal financial 
reports….” (pg 20-21). 

 



 3

 As the report stated, “management should have known there was a 
problem because JHS issues monthly financial statements to 
management and members of the PHT. For fiscal year 08-09 the 
monthly CFO reports reflected the following warning signs: 
 
• increase in money owed 
• decrease in cash on hand 
• decrease in cash and investments 
• decrease in money coming in 

 
The failure of the PHT [Board] to note this trend and address it in a 
timely manner may speak to the need to change the eligibility 
requirement for those serving on the PHT…”(Pg 26) 

 
 “In the 2009 Audit Reports, the auditors found a certain deficiency 

that they considered a 'material weakness' in internal control, 
which affected the JHS financial statements.”  The auditors also 
reported “the checks and balances …were insufficient.”(pg 29) 

 
 

The Grand Jury Offered a Political Conclusion, not Based 
on the Facts in the Report, but Rather Based on Their 
Personal Desire to Blame the County Commission for the 
Crisis at Jackson. 

 
 
            One would hope that personal opinions would not be intertwined into a factual 
report.  Unfortunately, regardless of the facts the Grand Jury found, its ultimate 
conclusion in every case was to blame the woes on the governing structure of the PHT.  
In the end the report essentially blames the County Commission for the managerial 
incompetencies of certain Jackson administrators and the lack of proper oversight by the 
PHT Board members themselves. 
 

The Grand Jury makes a flawed recommendation to change the governance 
structure and actually give more autonomy to the very PHT Board that was unable (or 
perhaps unwilling) to catch management’s mistakes and "incompetencies."  The auditors 
talk about insufficient “checks and balances,” yet the Grand Jury recommends removing 
a critical check and balance, the BCC.  

 
Further, this report is being used by certain lobbyists to remove the ultimate check 

and balance, the voters of Dade County.  They are disingenuously advocating to take 
away the right of the electorate to remove from office those who are accountable for 
Jackson by creating an insulated private organization. 
 

There are many matters that may have lead to such gross incompetence at JHS.  
However, the Grand Jury only mainly focuses upon structure as the alleged culprit.  With 



 4

millions of dollars mishandled not a single administrator was held accountable.  No 
vendors or lobbyists were called into question.  No indictments were issued.  The report 
purposely avoided “naming names” – allowing public officials to evade responsibility. 

 
The PHT Board only received one central admonishment.  On pg 30 of the 

report it is written that, “The PHT’s specific job is to make sure something like this does 
not happen.”  The PHT Board clearly failed to do their job.  Yet the Grand Jury report 
suggests they get more autonomy in several arenas.   

 
 
The County Commission and County Structure has Created 
an Outstanding Police Department, Nationally Recognized 
Fire Rescue Service, and World Class Healthcare at 
Jackson.  Yet, now BCC is to be Blamed for the JHS Crisis. 
 
 

            How can the same BCC and County structure that manages our incredibly 
successful Police Department and Fire Rescue Department, become bumbling idiots with 
regard to PHT?  The Police Department has the right to use lethal force.  Fire Rescue 
becomes our front line during our most challenging crises.  Why is it that only PHT 
business operation are running afoul of the public trust? 
 
            It is odd that the so called broken structure at PHT/JHS seems to also produce 
superb medical results.  While some mangers and the PHT Board commit operational 
malpractice, the healthcare professionals at Jackson perform medical miracles every day.  
The employees should be commended for their continued deliverance of excellent 
healthcare when the systems around them are crumbling with incompetence. The 
employees not only gave 5 percent of their wages, but took voluntary demotions and 
froze wages and bonuses for 12 months adding up to a 7-12 percent contribution in 
reality.  The employees at Jackson donated over 100 million in concessions this year 
alone.  The union employees also have created an Efficiency Task Force that is saving 
JHS multiple millions. 
 
 

To make Jackson Stronger We must have an Honest 
Community Dialogue and not Engage in Political Games.  It 
is perverse that a Report that Allegedly Seeks to take the 
Politics out of Jackson, has done just the Opposite.  Instead 
of Sticking to the Facts and Looking for Solutions, the 
Report Bootstraps a Preordained Conclusion and Blames 
Everthing on the Commission and the Employees.  Simply 
put the Facts do not Support the Conclusion. 

 
 



 5

            Critical stakeholders never appeared before the Grand Jury.  Did any charity care 
patients testify?  Did independent experts on hospital administration testify?  Did 
renowned scholars on government and governance appear?  Were any independent 
studies commissioned?  We think not. 
 
            It is disconcerting also to note that many of the allegations and certain testimony 
presented was not verified or checked for accuracy.  For example, the report is 
completely false when it reports that the BCC overruled the PHT and unilaterally gave 
employee raises.  That never happened and the evidence proving otherwise is easily 
discoverable.  We would like the Grand Jury to follow up to see if that witness committed 
perjury or was just mistaken. 
 
 

It Is Time for the Stakeholders to come Together to Save Jackson 
 
 
            Instead of political gainsmenship, self-serving task forces and anointed 
committees of 41 throwing political rocks, it would be best for the community and the 
stakeholders to have an honest dialogue.  Can one imagine what healthcare would be like 
if our doctors and nurses approached a heart attack patient in the same manner that the 
Grand Jury approached its political conclusion?  We, as medical professionals, must 
every day labor to save our patients lives.  We now call upon the BCC to approach the 
Jackson crisis with the same professionalism and honesty. 
 
                                                            Sincerely, 
 
 
 
                                                            Martha Baker, RN, President 
 
CC:      The Honorable Katherine Fernandez Rundle 
            The Honorable Mayor Carlos Alvarez 
            County Manager George Burgess 
            PHT President Dr. Eneida Roldan 
 







 
 

Other Business 
 













lmejia
Text Box


	Agenda CRTF - Meeting May 30, 2012
	County Attorney's Reports
	Technical Amendments to Charter

	Issues of Study
	CRTF - Commission Salary Increase Proposal
	CRTF - Prohibition on Conflicting Outside Employment Proposal
	2010 Grand Jury Report
	Index
	I. Introduction
	II. Current Governance System
	III. Current System of Governance Must Change
	IV. Unheeded Warnings
	V. Financial Awakening
	VI. Audit Reports
	VII. Conclusions and Recommendations

	Acknowledgements
	Indictments

	Hospital Governance Taskforce Final Report
	Transmittal Letter
	Table of Contents
	Executive Summary
	I. Introduction
	A. Mission
	B. Membership
	Table 1 - Hospital Governance Taskforce Membership List

	C. Background
	D. Process
	E. Governance Models

	II. Considerations re: Surtax, Sunshine, Sovereign Immunity, Public Records
	III. Presentations and Interviews
	Table 2 - Presentations and Interviews

	IV. Recommendations
	Overview
	Mission
	Board Composition
	Ethics
	Legal Structure and Governance
	Authorities and Responsibilities Retained by the Board of County Commissioners
	Authorities and Responsibilities Reserved to Health System Governing Board
	Culture
	Implementation
	Comments

	Appn A - Resolution No. R-30-11
	Appn B - Meeting Agendas
	HGT Agenda 3-28-11
	HGT Agenda 4-7-11
	HGT Agenda 4-14-11
	HGT Agenda 4-21-11
	HGT Agenda 4-28-11
	HGT Agenda 5-5-11
	HGT Agenda 5-12-11

	Appn C - Meeting Minutes 
	3-28-11 HGT Meeting Minutes
	4-5-11 Sunshine Meeting Minutes
	4-7-11 HGT Meeting Minutes 
	4-11-11 Sunshine Meeting Minutes
	4-14-11 HGT Meeting Minutes
	4-21-11 HGT Meeting Minutes
	4-28-11 HGT Meeting Minutes
	5-5-11 HGT Meeting Minutes
	5-12-11 HGT Meeting Minutes

	Appn D - List of Trust Decisions Subject to the Commission's Approval (Prior or Subsequent) or the Commission's Override
	Appn E - Legal Issues Attendant to Current Financial Exigencies at PHT
	Appn F - Legal Opinion Regarding Steward's Proposal for Acquisition of Jackson Health System
	Appn G - Sunshine Laws, Public Records,Sovereign Immunity and Public Benefit Corporation
	Appn H - Legal Opinion Regarding Reso R-392-11 Creating a Financial Recovery Board
	Appn I - Background Information Sheets for Healthcare Systems
	Boston Medical Center
	Cook County Health & Hospitals System
	LA County Dept of Health Services
	Grady Memorial Health System
	Harborview Medical Center
	Health Care District of Palm Beach County
	Tampa General Hospital
	Truman Medical Centers

	Appn J - Governance Options Spreadsheet
	Appn K - South Florida Acute Care Hospitals-Federal, State and Local Funding Sources
	Appn L - Dissenting View of a Taskforce Member

	SEIU 1991 - Response to 2010 Grand Jury Report
	GSAF Letter Received on        May 14, 2012
	PBA Letter Received on      May 14, 2012

	Other Business
	Feedback Received through the website and email for the period between May 22 - 25, 2012




